Public Document Pack

Agenda
Contact Officer: Paul Bateman, Democratic Services Officer
Tel: 07895 213740
E-mail: paul.bateman@southandvale.gov.uk
Date: 25 January 2022
Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 2 FEBRUARY 2022 AT 6.00 PM
FIRST FLOOR MEETING SPACE, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK,
OX14 4SB
You can watch this meeting via this weblink:
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ
If you are attending in person you will need to bring a portable device, such as a
laptop or tablet to listen to and watch the meeting. You will also need to bring a
headset/headphones.

Members of the Committee:
David Bretherton (Chair)
Peter Dragonetti (ViceChair)
Ken Arlett
Tim Bearder
Victoria Haval

Elizabeth Gillespie
Lorraine Hillier
Axel Macdonald
Jo Robb

Ian Snowdon
Alan Thompson

Alexandrine Kantor
Mocky Khan
Jane Murphy
Caroline Newton

Sue Roberts
David Turner
Kellie Hinton

Substitutes
vacancy
Celia Wilson
Sam Casey-Rerhaye
Stefan Gawrysiak

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request. These include
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on
this agenda. Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.
Patrick Arran
Head of Legal and Democratic
1

1

Chair's announcements

To receive any announcements from the chair and general housekeeping matters.
2

Apologies for absence

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.
3

Minutes of the previous meetings (Pages 5 - 24)

To adopt and sign as a correct record the Planning Committee minutes of the meetings
held on Wednesday 24 November 2021 and Wednesday 15 December 2021.
4

Declarations of interest

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on
the agenda for this meeting.
5

Urgent business

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the
matters urgent and to receive any notification of any applications deferred or
withdrawn.
6

Proposals for site visits

7

Public participation

To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.

Development control applications
Planning applications - background papers and additional
information
All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application
number.
Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be
reported and summarised at the meeting.

Summary index of applications
2

Site Address

Proposal

8

Grove Farm,
Patemore Lane,
Pishill

The erection of 5 holiday pods,
maintenance building, manager’s flat
and associated landscaping and
parking (as amended to realign
maintenance building).

P21/S0047/FUL

25 - 44

9

Land off Pyrton
Lane,
Watlington

Outline application for the erection of
up to 100 residential dwellings
including vehicular access, public
open space, car parking,
landscaping and drainage.
As amended by drawings and
additional information received 20
September 2016, 27 October 2016,
24 August 2017, 13 June 2018, 22
July 2021, 17 November 2021, 7
December 2021 and 18 January
2022.

P16/S2576/O

45 - 78

10

14 Elm Close,
Wheatley

Erection of a detached, 2 bedroom
bungalow (as amended by energy
statement received 26 October and
parking plans received 01 November
2021 and amplified by email
received 8 December 2021).

P21/S3834/FUL

79 - 92

11

The
Reformation,
Horsepond
Road,
Gallowstree
Common

P21/S2332/FUL
Change of use and extension of
former public house to provide
veterinary surgery. Demolition of
outbuilding and erection of 1 x 3-bed
and 1 x 4-bed detached houses
(proposed dwellings reduced from
three to two and layout and designs
adjusted accordingly as shown on
amended plans received 27th
September 2021 and energy
statement received 5th October
2021 and first floor side window from
Plot 2 removed and external areas
around Plot 2 corrected and patio
reduced as shown on amended
plans received 2nd November 2021).

Application No

Page

93 124

3

4

Agenda Item 3

Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
HELD ON WEDNESDAY 24 NOVEMBER 2021 AT 6.00 PM
FIRST FLOOR MEETING SPACE, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK,
OX14 4SB
Present in the meeting room:
Councillors: Peter Dragonetti (Chair), Tim Bearder, Kate Gregory (substituting for David
Bretherton), Victoria Haval, Elizabeth Gillespie, Axel Macdonald, Jane Murphy
(substituting for Lorraine Hillier) Jo Robb, Ian Snowdon and Alan Thompson
Officers: Paul Bateman and Cathie Scotting

Remote attendance:
Councillors: Ken Arlett, Sam Casey-Rerhaye, David Bretherton (as local ward members)
Officers: Andy Heron, Susie Royse and Nicola Smith

30

Chair's announcements

Councillor Peter Dragonetti in the chair. The chair welcomed everyone to the meeting,
outlined the procedure to be followed and advised on emergency evacuation
arrangements.

31

Apologies for absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors David Bretherton and Lorraine
Hillier (Councillor Kate Gregory substituted for councillor David Bretherton and Councillor
Jane Murphy substituted for Councillor Lorraine Hillier).

32 Minutes of the previous meetings
The committee approved the minutes of the meetings held on Wednesday 11 August
2021 and Wednesday 1 September 2021 as correct records and agreed that the Chair
sign them as such.

33 Declarations of interest
None.

34 Urgent business
There was no urgent business.
Page 5
1

35

Proposals for site visits

There were no proposals for site visits.

36

Public participation

The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak had been circulated
to the committee some days prior to the meeting.

37

P20/S4693/FUL - Land to the West of Windmill Road, Thame

Councillor Jo Robb arrived at the meeting after the discussion on this application had
commenced, therefore had not heard the whole debate and did not participate in the vote.
Local ward councillors David Bretherton and Kate Gregory did not participate in the vote
on this application. Councillor Ken Arlett, attending virtually, did not vote on this
application.
The committee considered planning application P20/4693/FUL for the development of an
existing greenfield site for 31 new affordable homes to include 4 x 1B maisonettes, 18 x
2B4P houses and 9 x 3B5P houses. The homes are to remain affordable in perpetuity
under the community land trust mechanism and are to provide homes to people with a
local connection to Thame. The masterplan includes on-site parking and shared green
spaces for residents and the wider community. The proposed design also includes
proposed upgrades to local infrastructure where the Phoenix Trail meets Windmill Road on
Land to the West of Windmill Road, Thame.
The planning officer reported an incorrect statement in the report regarding Councillor Kate
Gregory; that councillor had not called in the application, the head of planning, under
delegated powers, had referred the application to the committee owing to the number of
concerns expressed by the public.
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.
The planning officer reported that the application was for 31 dwellings, with the express
purpose of providing affordable homes for people with a local connection. This type of
tenure had been identified through a 2019 housing trust survey. A legal agreement would
maintain this type of tenure, an approach which South Oxfordshire housing officers had
endorsed. The proposed development would be of low density, at 24 dwellings per
hectare, of high quality and with a good proportion of open space. An increased density
would have incorporated more flats, which was not considered appropriate by the
developer. The site was not located in the green belt.
Car parking was allocated in on-plot cases and off-plot spaces were not allocated. The
Oxfordshire County Council (OCC), the highway authority, was satisfied with these
arrangements. The design has been subject to a Stage 1 road safety audit, which also
made reference to the Phoenix Trail. The audit, coupled with the designer’s response, had
been approved by the OCC. The design of the dwellings would be contemporary, with
public and private amenity space and play areas. The philosophy implicit in the
development was to create a good sense of community. The proposal was in keeping with
policy DES 10, which sought to ensure that all new development minimised the carbon
and energy impacts of their design and construction, and that the design should improve
resilience to the anticipated effects of climate change. The developer’s energy statement
Page 6
2

demonstrated energy conservation in the design and choice of energy saving building
materials, as well as minimising the use of gas in space heating and domestic hot-water
heating, as examples.
The planning officer advised the committee that the bulk of concerns from the public had
been in respect of the Phoenix Trail and the potential effects of the development upon
usage by walkers and cyclists. The developer had made considerable efforts in working
with SUSTRANS to effect a suitable crossing. The scheme would have a single lane and
new signage. The design had passed the road safety audit and the OCC and SUSTRANS
had found it satisfactory. The planning officer displayed to the committee a detailed slide,
depicting the proposed crossing, its signage and road markings, and the interface between
motor traffic and other road-users, giving priority to pedestrians and cyclists.
Councillor Linda Emery, a representative of Thame Town Council, spoke in support of the
application. In response to a question from the committee regarding the model upon which
tenure would be offered, Councillor Emery responded that it was envisaged that properties
would be offered at 30% lower than the market value.
Mr. Robert Smith, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application.
Ms. Cathy Gaulter-Carter, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application.
Mr. Alex Towler, the architect, spoke in support of the application. Ms. Helen Flitton, a
member of the Thame Community Land Trust Board, was present with the architect to
answer technical questions. In response to a question from the committee regarding the
selection of appropriate sites, Ms. Flitton advised the committee that, to her knowledge,
the town council had called for suitable sites, but that no location within the built-up area of
Thame had resulted; subsequently this was the only suitable site which had been
identified.
Councillor Sam Casey-Rerhaye, Cycling Champion, spoke to the application.
Councillor David Bretherton, a local ward councillor, spoke in support of the application.
Councillor Kate Gregory, a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.
In response to a question from the committee, the planning officer advised the committee
that it was intended that the vehicular speed, where the road crossed the trail, would be
reduced to 20mph from 30mph. The OCC would have the final decision on this issue.
Responding to a question from the committee as to whether the proposed development
was contrary to the neighbourhood plan, the planning officer reported that application site
was not allocated in the made Thame Neighbourhood Plan and that council officers had
considered that this proposal met the requirements of policy H10 (‘exception sites and
entry level housing schemes’), as it responded to the local need in a way that was not
being met elsewhere, providing a mix of affordable rented properties and discount market
properties.
The committee noted the proposals for the Phoenix Trail crossing, and requested a further
condition be added to the recommendation requiring clarification of the pedestrian priority
at the crossing. It considered that this was an application for a much-needed familycentred affordable housing development in a sustainable location, which should be
supported.
Page 7
3

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on
being put to the vote.
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P20/S4693/FUL subject to the
following;
A) Completion of S106 a legal agreement to
i) secure the affordable housing and
ii) financial contributions and infrastructure as outlined in the report
B) The following conditions:
1. Commencement within three years
2. Approved plans
Pre commencement
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

Levels details of existing and proposed levels
Details of lighting, utilities and landscaping
Landscaping Scheme
Tree Protection
Sample materials
Energy Statement Verification
Refuse & Recycling Storage details required – prior to commencement above slab
level
10. Protect hedges during development operations
11. Open Space and Play Areas
12. Construction Environmental Management Plan
13. Biodiversity Enhancement Plan
14 : Biodiversity offsetting
15: Cycle Parking Facilities
16 : Construction Traffic Management Plan
17: Surface water drainage works
18 : Foul drainage works
Prior to occupation
19 : New estate roads
20 : Parking & Manoeuvring Areas
21 : Landscape Management Plan
22 : Tree pits design
23 : Surface Water Drainage
24 : Electric charging point – access for every house to an EVCP
25 : Air Quality mitigation measures
26 : Traffic Survey
Post completion
27: Traffic Survey (to establish if the crossing of the Phoenix Trail is effective, and
implementation of post completion mitigation measures if required)
Additional condition: Details of the Phoenix Trail crossing and priority for cyclists
Page 8
4

38

P20/S3905/FUL - Manana, Latchford Lane, Great Haseley

The committee considered planning application 20/S3905/FUL for the demolition of
existing bungalow and garage and erection of new chalet style house (as amended by
revised plans amended plans, arboricultural impact assessment, preliminary bat roost
assessment, energy statement, and water efficiency calculator received 17/05/2021 and
bat survey received 31/08/2021) at Manana, Latchford Lane, Great Haseley.
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.
The planning officer advised the committee that the report had incorrectly stated that the
local ward councillor, Councillor Caroline Newton, had called in the application. The Great
Haseley Parish Council had objected to the application and Councillor Newton had been
invited to speak, but had given apologies in advance, owing to a prior engagement. The
planning officer confirmed that the application was therefore referred to the committee due
to Great Haseley Parish Council’s objection, who raised concerns regarding the size of the
replacement dwelling.
The planning officer informed the committee that this was an application for the demolition
of a bungalow and the construction of a chalet style house, which would be 0.9m higher
than the existing dwelling. The site was within a semi-rural street-scene of predominantly
small detached, pitched-roof bungalows, in the built area of Great Haseley. An error at
paragraph 6.26 in the report was referred to; it stated that… ‘the amended plans have
removed the proposed basement which is no longer required’. In fact, a basement was still
contained in the proposal.
The planning officer reported that the overall mass and scale of the replacement dwelling
would be larger than that of the existing dwelling by virtue of its footprint and height.
Despite this, the proposed design was now considered to fit with the semi-rural character
of the area. Unlike the original design, the dwelling would be set-back behind the building
line, which would reduce any overbearing impact when viewed from the Latchford Lane
street-scene to the north-east. The dwelling now proposed a simple pitched roof form with
a height which was no higher than Watersmeet, which was situated to the north-west.
Additionally, the development would no longer extend as far into the rear garden, with the
rear depth extended only 2.7m beyond the existing line. The rear footprint would be setback 8.7m behind the south-western rear extension at Watersmeet. The planning officer
also reported that the replacement dwelling had been purposely sited to protect
neighbouring amenity; the south-eastern side elevation would be 1.2m distant from the
Birsay neighbouring boundary, and the south-western side elevation would 1.8m from the
Watersmeet neighbouring boundary. Birsay was judged to lose only a small amount of
light. In terms of any flood risk, a small area to the north-eastern area of the site had been
assessed as having a 0.1 percent annual risk of surface water flooding. The council’s
drainage officer has been consulted on this matter.
The committee noted condition 12, in respect of the withdrawal of permitted development
rights, and enquired whether this would cover a car port. The planning officer confirmed
that it would.
The chair stated that there were no public speakers in respect of the application, but noted
that statements had been received from Great Haseley Parish Council, who had objected
to the application, Mr. Toby Garfitt, a local resident, who had objected, and Mr. Mark
Page 9
5

Hobbs, the agent, in support of the application. All these statements had been shared with
the committee.
The committee considered that the development would enhance the character and
appearance of the site and the surrounding area, and that, overall, the benefits of the
development outweighed any potential harm. Therefore the application should receive
planning permission.
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on
being put to the vote.
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P20/S3905/FUL subject to the
following conditions;
1. Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission.
2. Approved plans.
3. Bat box.
4. Tree Protection (General).
5. Existing vehicular access.
6. Parking and manoeuvring areas retained.
7. Energy Statement Verification.
8. Electric Vehicle Charging Points.
9. Bat survey compliance.
10.Hours of operation – construction/demolition sites.
11. Materials.
12. Withdrawal of P.D. (Part 1 Class A, B, C, D and E).
13.CIL- informative.
14. Section 151 of the Highways Act 1980 – informative.
15. Section 137 of the Highways Act 1980 – informative.
16. Works within the highway – informative.

39

P21/S2551/FUL - Waterstone House, Burcot

The committee considered planning application P21/S2551/FUL for works of demolition,
extension, alteration and conversion of the existing storage building to form a selfcontained dwelling (19-08-2021 amended neighbour notification certificates following
notification on all frontages of access road and structural survey) at Waterstone House,
Burcot.
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.
The planning officer informed the committee that this was an application for the alteration
and conversion of an existing building to form a 1-bedroom dwelling. The proposal would
involve some demolition; a 3-metre-wide section of the western end of the building, and a
1-metre-wide section to the east. The site was within the green belt and designated as an
area of archaeological interest. The building formed the southern half of a former barn,
sharing a party wall to the north with the northern part of the barn, which was within the
rear garden of Withywindle. A structural survey had concluded that the barn was in a
reasonable structural condition for its age and past usage, and could be safely converted.
In respect of residential amenity and possible loss of light issues, the planning officer
reported that Withywindle was the nearest dwelling to the site, which was situated 21m. to
the north. Neighbouring properties were at a sufficient far distance not to suffer from any
Page 10
6

loss of light or privacy, particularly as the dwelling would be single storey. The council’s
drainage officer had reviewed the proposed plans and raised no objection, subject to
surface water drainage and foul drainage conditions.
Ms. Jo Jenkins, a local resident, of Withywindle, spoke objecting to the application.
Responding to a question from the committee regarding her reasons for objecting, Ms.
Jenkins expressed concern at possible damage to her party wall.
Mr. Jake Collinge, the agent, spoke in support of the application. In response to a question
from the committee regarding the proposal, for apparently 5 rear doors to the conversion,
Mr. Collinge replied that this was an intentional feature to replicate the existing stable
design and to facilitate an internal open plan treatment. The committee sought further
reassurance regarding the safe removal of the 7 ‘A’ frames, notwithstanding the structural
survey stating that this would be a safe conversion. Mr. Collinge replied that there would
be a cantilever arrangement along the party line, which would be a supporting feature.
Additionally, the cantilever would support both sides of the shared pitched roof. The
applicant was keen to re-use elements of the building in the interests of good
sustainability. The planning officer advised the committee that conversion was stated in
the description of the development. If the building was not capable of conversion, a new
planning consent would be required.
In response to a question from the committee in respect of the protection of bats, the
planning officer reported that the council’s ecologist had concluded that the site was not
habitable for bats, but as stated in paragraph 6.31 of the report, the countryside officer had
recommended, as precautionary measure, a bat protection informative, in case bats were
discovered during construction (proposed informative 11- ‘bats informative’).
Councillor Sam Casey-Rerhaye, the local ward councillor, spoke to the application.
The committee asked about the appropriateness of a wood burning stove in the back
garden, the planning officer replied that this was a building control matter. The committee
asked a question about access to the septic tank. The planning officer responded that this
was in the ownership of the applicant but was not a matter for planning control. The
committee also asked a question in respect of the apparent low level of amenity space.
The planning officer replied that 66 sq.m of amenity space exceeded the minimum
standard and accorded with local plan policy.
The committee had concerns about the safety of the conversion and its inappropriateness
within an area of large properties with spacious gardens, as well as, in its view, the small
amount of amenity space. It also considered that the proposal was not appropriate for the
green belt, cramped and likely to have a detrimental effect upon the amenity of
neighbouring properties.
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission failed on being put to the
vote.
A motion moved and seconded, to refuse planning permission was declared carried on
being put to the vote.
RESOLVED: to refuse planning permission for application P21/S2551/FUL subject to the
following reasons;

Page 11
7

1. Cramped form of development which would harm the spacious character and
appearance of the area

The meeting closed at 20:05

Chair

Date

Page 12
8

Agenda Item 3

Minutes
of a meeting of the

Planning Committee
held on Wednesday, 15 December
2021 at 6.00 pm in First Floor
Meeting Space, 135 Eastern Avenue,
Milton Park, OX14 4SB
Open to the public, including the press
Present in the meeting room:
Councillors: David Bretherton (Chair), Peter Dragonetti (Vice-Chair), Ken Arlett, Ian
Bearder, Victoria Haval, Elizabeth Gillespie, Lorraine Hillier, Axel Macdonald, Jo Robb,
Ian Snowdon and Alan Thompson
Officers: Paul Bateman and Paula Fox

Remote attendance:
Councillors: Sam Casey-Rerhaye, Caroline Newton and Andrea Powell
Officers: Emma Bowerman, Michael Flowers, Amanda Rendell, Susie Royse, Cathie
Scotting, Nicola Smith and Tom Wyatt

39 Chair's announcements
The chair welcomed everyone to the meeting, outlined the procedure to be followed in
a hybrid broadcast meeting and advised on emergency evacuation arrangements.

40 Minutes of previous meetings
RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the meetings held on Wednesday 22
September and Wednesday 13 October 2021 as a correct record and agree that the
Chair sign these as such.

41 Declarations of interest
There were no declarations of interest.

42 Urgent business
There was no urgent business.

43 Proposals for site visits
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 15 December 2021

Page 13

A motion, moved and seconded, to defer planning permission in respect of application
P21/S0047/FUL, Grove Farm, Patemore Lane, Pishill, to enable a site visit to take
place was declared carried on being put to the vote. The committee had concerns
regarding the effect upon neighbouring properties. The committee considered that a
site visit was necessary, in order to have a clearer understanding of the concerns of
local residents in the context of the site and its surroundings.
RESOLVED: to hold a site visit for application P21/S0047/FUL and defer the
consideration of the application until the visit had been completed.

44 Public participation
The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak was tabled at the
meeting. Statements which had been submitted had been sent to the committee some
days prior to the meeting.

45 P20/S3245/FUL - Harlesford Farm near Tetsworth
Councillor Ian Snowdon arrived after the commencement of the presentation and
discussion of this application and stood down from voting on the application.
The committee considered planning application P20/S3245/FUL for the construction
and operation of a solar photovoltaic farm and associated infrastructure, including
inverters, substation compound, security cameras, fencing, access tracks and
landscaping, as clarified by information received 26 October 2020, 11 November
2020, 1 February 2021 and 18 November 2021 and amended by drawings received
21 December 2020 and 9 February 2021 at Harlesford Farm, near Tetsworth.
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history
were detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the
meeting.
The planning officer reported that the application was for a solar farm on a 78 ha. site,
situated 850m. from the M40 motorway. The application proposed the construction
and operation of a solar photovoltaic farm and associated infrastructure. The panels
would generate up to 49.99 megawatts (MW), enough to power approximately 15,000
homes. Also, the site did not fall within any areas of special designation. There was a
separation of around 4.5km to the edge of the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural
Beauty (AONB). On reviewing the initial submission, the council’s landscape officer
had raised concerns that the proposals would have an unacceptable adverse effect on
the application site’s character and visual amenity, and that this would adversely affect
the wider landscape. Following these comments, the applicant had amended the
plans to reduce the landscape impact of the proposals.
The planning officer reported that the conservation officer had considered that the
proposed development would represent less than substantial harm to Harlesford
Farmhouse, a grade II the listed building and which was outside of the application site.
The committee were shown a slide of the indicative layout of the site, depicting the
public rights of way crossing the site. Of note was the Oxfordshire Way, a longdistance public right of way, which crossed the eastern edge of the site but which
would not be affected by the proposals. A slide was also displayed, indicating the preSouth Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 15 December 2021

Page 14

existing pylons and cables, along with low key overhead lines. A plan showing the
application site in zoned areas was displayed; the zones defined where certain
infrastructure would be located, with some flexibility in terms of the layout within each
zone. The planning officer reported that since the publication of the agenda, all the
panels in zone 14 had been removed, thereby reducing the overall impact of the
proposed development. It was intended that planting around the substation would
mitigate the development’s impact and there would also be a screen along the
Oxfordshire Way, to obscure the development from it. Additional planting would also
feature along the M40 motorway and the Haseley Brook. The amendments to the
original proposals also included the addition of a new hedgerow and tree planting
around the proposed substation, and hedgerow planting along the access track
leading to Stoke Talmage Road. The north east of the site would also have a new
hedgerow planted. The existing hedgerows on the site would effectively screen much
of the development. Owing to the site’s topography, only parts of the development
would be viewed at any one time.
The planning officer advised the committee of the value of considering the application
in the context of the surrounding area and the cumulative effect of any impact; a slide
was displayed showing the site, along with other similar proposals which had received
planning permission, or which were pending. On 13 October 2021 the committee had
given permission for the construction of a solar photovoltaic farm on land to the north
west of Stoke Talmage (planning application P20/S3244/FUL). At its closest point this
site was around 400m to the west of the application site.
The committee recalled that the UK Government had committed to meeting a legally
binding target of net-zero carbon emissions by 2050. The council had also declared a
climate emergency, with a target to be a carbon neutral district by 2030. The
proposed solar farm would help to meet national and local objectives for reducing
carbon emissions and reducing reliance on fossil fuels.
The committee noted that the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 did not identify
suitable areas or specific sites for renewable or low carbon energy projects.
Tetsworth Neighbourhood Development Plan also did not allocate any sites for this
type of development.
The planning officer concluded by stating that in considering this application, it was a
matter of the committee considering the application on its merits and balancing the
benefits of the proposal against the acknowledged small level of harm which would
result. The site would generate renewable energy, contribute towards reducing
carbon emissions, restore landscape structure, create habitat, and increase
biodiversity.
Mr. James Hartley-Bond, the architect, spoke in support of the application. A
statement by Mr. Hartley-Bond, had been sent to the committee by the democratic
services officer prior to the meeting.
Mrs. Sheila Stoakes, the applicant, spoke in support of the application.
Councillor Caroline Newton, the local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the
application.
The committee considered that all factors being considered, including the fact that this
was a temporary permission, which would return the land to agricultural use after 40
years by planning condition, and also that impact would be minimal and mitigated,
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 15 December 2021

Page 15

coupled with the benefit that the development would assist in meeting national and
local targets of limiting carbon emissions, it was considered to constitute acceptable
development.
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on
being put to the vote.
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P20/S3245/FUL, subject to
the following conditions;
Time limits and approved plans
1. Commencement within three years.
2. Development in accordance with approved plans.
3. Temporary permission for a period of 40 years.
Pre-commencement conditions
4. Submission of final details of layout, design, and scale of equipment to be
submitted for approval.
5. Details of hard and soft landscaping to be submitted for approval.
6. Landscape and Ecological Management Plan to be submitted for
approval.
7. Tree protection to be submitted for approval.
8. Construction Environmental Management Plan for Biodiversity to be
submitted for approval.
9. Biodiversity Enhancement Plan to be submitted for approval.
10. Scheme for provision and management of buffer zone to watercourse to
be submitted for approval.
11. Full archaeological field evaluation to be submitted for approval.
12. Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation to be submitted for
approval.
13. Programme of archaeological mitigation to be submitted for approval.
14. Construction Traffic Management Plan to be submitted for approval
(including wheel washing facilities).
15. Sustainable drainage scheme to be submitted for approval.
Compliance conditions
16. Development to be carried out in accordance with the council’s great
crested newt licencing scheme.
17. Great crested newt mitigation to be provided.
18. Development to be carried out in accordance with Flood Risk
Assessment.
19. No lighting to be installed.
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 15 December 2021

Page 16

20. Removal of panels if not used continuously for the production of energy
for a period of six months.
End of development condition
21. Decommissioning Method Statement to be submitted for approval and
decommissioning to be carried out within 6 months of the expiry of the
40-year planning permission and land returned to agricultural use.

46 P20/S4360/FUL - Land to south west of Cowley Substation, Nuneham
Courtenay
The committee considered planning application P20/S4360/FUL for the installation of
renewable led energy generating station comprising ground-mounted photovoltaic
solar arrays and battery-based electricity storage containers together with substation,
inverter/transformer stations, site accesses, internal access tracks, security measures,
access gates, other ancillary infrastructure, landscaping and biodiversity
enhancements on land to south west of Cowley Substation, Nuneham Courtenay.
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history
were detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the
meeting.
The planning officer reported that the report contained an error in listing Councillor
Elizabeth Gillespie as one of the local ward members, but this was not the case. The
planning officer also reported that this application was wholly located within the Oxford
Green Belt, and for this reason would require referral to the secretary of state in the
event of planning permission being granted. The planning officer advised the
committee of the revised recommendation, which was read out to the meeting. The
wording was “to grant planning permission subject to: (i) Referral to the Secretary of
State under the terms of the Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England)
Direction 2009; and (ii) Subject to the application not being called-in by the Secretary
of State for determination, grant planning permission subject to conditions”.
The planning officer reported that the site was located to the south of the Oxford
Science Park and to the north of Nuneham Courtenay village. The site comprised six
arable fields which were of agricultural quality, ranging from very high quality to
moderate quality. Most of the land surrounding the site was also in agricultural use.
The proposed development would involve taking arable land out of intensive
agricultural production and replanting the land with grassland for grazing sheep during
the operational phase. It was intended that the permission would last for a period of 35
years. The application had been updated on several occasions during the planning
application process, with additional information submitted in relation to heritage,
ecology, landscape and archaeology. The application plans were also revised, to
increase the buffers to the public footpaths and to remove panels from field 6 due to
its status as grade 2 agricultural land. Also, across the whole proposal, a large
proportion of land would be retained for agricultural purposes and would help preserve
the habitat of nesting skylarks. The area would benefit from a proposed skylark
mitigation area.
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 15 December 2021

Page 17

The planning officer also advised the committee that the proposal would employ
relatively new tracking technology, which was described by the applicant as highly
efficient, where the panels, aligned on a north-south row, would track the movement of
the sun throughout that course of the day. The environmental health officer had
confirmed that no discernible noise would emanate from this installation. It was
estimated that the proposed development would generate 45 megawatts of renewable
electricity, which was estimated to be sufficient power for 11,700 dwellings.
The committee was advised that the site was crossed by two public rights of way, one
of which formed part of the Oxford Green Belt Way. The committee were shown a
plan, which was an extract of the ordnance survey map, depicting the footpaths. The
county archaeologist had agreed that an area be identified as archaeological
mitigation to preserve the archaeological interest on the site, and had made
recommendations to the council regarding the proposed planning conditions. The
committee was also shown a number of slides depicting the site from several
directions, which demonstrated its topography and likely visual impact of the proposed
development.
The committee noted paragraphs 6.13. and 6.14 of the report regarding ‘Green Belt very special circumstances’. The planning officer reported that council officers had
attached significant weight to the fact that the development was inappropriate
development in the Green Belt. Further weight was attached to the harm caused by
the development to the openness of the landscape, owing to the presence of
structures on land that was currently agricultural and free from obstruction. Due to the
size and nature of the development, officers considered that the proposal was
inappropriate. National and local policy was clear, that for this application to be
successful, there must exist very special circumstances to justify the use of Green Belt
land for such a proposal. The committee also noted paragraphs 6.13 to 6.15, which
stated that in order to outweigh the harm to the openness of the Green Belt, there
must be very special circumstances for allowing the proposal. Paragraphs 6.71 to 6.73
concluded by listing the detailed justifications for such a departure, a principal reason
being that significant weight would be attributed to the need to provide additional
energy from renewable sources and the considerable wider environmental benefits
associated with increased production from renewable sources. Other reasons included
good screening, limited harm and duration, visual impact mitigated by planting and net
gain in biodiversity.
Councillor Stephen Dance, a representative of Baldons Parish Council, spoke
objecting to the application. A statement by Baldons Parish Council had been sent to
the committee by the democratic services officer prior to the meeting.
Ms. Debbie Dance, a representative of Oxford Preservation Trust, spoke objecting to
the application. A statement by the Oxford Preservation Trust had been sent to the
committee by the democratic services officer prior to the meeting.
Mr. Simon Wheeler, the agent, spoke in support of the application. In response to a
question from the committee regarding the apparent relative low electricity yield of this
site, compared with sites of a similar size, Mr. Wheeler replied that more land per
panel was required for these mobile panels, but this did allow for simultaneous grazing
of livestock.
Councillor Sam Casey-Rerhaye the local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the
application.
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 15 December 2021

Page 18

In response to a question from the committee in respect of the actions to be taken
when the permission had expired, the planning officer reported that a condition
specifically limited the length of the development to 35 years and the land would be
returned to agricultural use thereafter. Non–return of the land would constitute a
breach of planning conditions. It was important to note that the returned land would
not be classified as brownfield. Also, a decommissioning method statement would be
required from the developer, and this was the subject of recommended planning
condition 19.
A motion moved and seconded, to refuse planning permission failed on being put to
the vote.
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on
being put to the vote.
That planning permission for application P20/S4360/FUL is granted subject to the
following actions (i) and (ii) and conditions 1 to 19, as set down below:
(i) Referral to the Secretary of State under the terms of the Town and Country
Planning (Consultation) (England) Direction 2009; and
(ii) (ii) Subject to the application not being called-in by the Secretary of State for
determination, grant planning permission subject to conditions”.
1.
2.
3.

Time Limit for commencement
Approved Plans
Temporary permission

Pre-commencement
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.

Landscaping details
Landscape Management Plan
Vehicular access improvements
Construction Traffic Management Plan
Archaeological watching Brief
Implementation of Archaeological works
Construction Environmental Management Plan
Tree Protection
Visibility Splay Details

Prior to first use
13. Sustainable Drainage Scheme
Compliance
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.

Archaeology protection
Flood risk
Wildlife Protection measures
External lighting
Removal of unused panels

End of the temporary period
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 15 December 2021

Page 19

19. Decommissioning method statement

47 P16/S3852/FUL - Land to the south of Newnham Manor, Crowmarsh
Gifford
Councillors Elizabeth Gillespie and Alan Thompson left the meeting prior to the
discussion of this item and therefore took no part in the debate or vote on this planning
application.
The committee considered planning application P16/S3852/FUL for a hybrid planning
application for the erection of 100 new residential dwellings including new access road
off the A4074, public open space (full application) and the provision of school land
(outline application) at Newnham Manor, Crowmarsh Gifford (as amended by plans
submitted 26 November 2019, 18 December 2019, 14 January 2020 and 18 May 2020
and revised Arboricultural Assessment received 5 May 2020 and as amended by
plans and information received 30 April 2021) on land to the south of Newnham
Manor, Crowmarsh Gifford.
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history
were detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the
meeting. A statement from Crowmarsh Parish Council had been sent to the committee
by the democratic services officer prior to the meeting. The planning officer reported to
the committee that the parish council did not object to the application.
The planning officer confirmed that the application site was wholly within the Chilterns
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). The planning officer also reported that
since 16 January 2018, when the committee had previously resolved to approve the
application subject to conditions and completion of a s106 legal agreement, the
scheme had been amended to address highway concerns relating to the proposed
means of access and there had been several changes which were material to the
consideration of the application. These changes were detailed in the report to the
committee.
The planning officer also reported that the Oxfordshire County Council (OCC), the
highways authority, originally had concerns regarding the proposals as they affected
Port Way, particularly the interface with pedestrians. A new access to the site would
be created off the A4074 Port Way, which involved remodelling the Port Way itself and
included a staggered ‘traffic light-controlled’ toucan crossing away from the
development site/Cox’s Lane staggered junction. Details of the access arrangements
were listed in paragraph 3.4 of the report. The OCC had no objection.
The planning officer also reported that The Crowmarsh Parish Neighbourhood Plan
was now ‘made’ and would continue to form part of the development plan. The
neighbourhood plan recognised this site as preferred for development and
acknowledged the benefits of housing at the edge of the AONB, where land was
available for school use and for landscaping.
Councillor John Griffin of Crowmarsh Parish Council spoke in support of the
application.
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 15 December 2021

Page 20

Mr. Arron Twamley, the agent, spoke in support of the application.
A statement from the agent had been sent to the committee by the democratic
services officer prior to the meeting. In response to a question from the committee
regarding the possible installation of heat pumps, the agent replied that this possibility
would be investigated. Also in response to a question regarding the ownership of the
affordable rented units, the agent responded that they would be in the ownership and
management of a housing association.
Councillor Sue Cooper, a local ward councillor, spoke in support of the application.
Councillor Andrea Powell, a local ward councillor, spoke in support of the application.
The committee had concerns regarding the ability of Thames Water’s infrastructure to
service the development. The planning officer responded that proposed planning
conditions dealt with foul drainage, drainage infrastructure and planning. In
discussions with Thames Water, that agency had recognised that this catchment was
subject to high infiltration flows during certain groundwater conditions. It had advised
that the scale of the proposed development did not materially affect the sewer network
and no objections were raised. However, Thames Water had advised that care
needed to be taken when designing new networks, to ensure that they did not
surcharge and cause flooding. In the longer term, Thames Water were working with
partners on a strategy to reduce groundwater entering the sewer networks.
In response to a question from the committee regarding the accommodation of the
development’s school age children in local schools, the senior planning officer
reported that Crowmarsh Gifford Church of England Primary School should take the
increased numbers and a new school site on the western edge of Wallingford could
take any additional pupils and provide for any increase over time.
The committee was concerned about the loss of some trees as a result of the
development and asked the planning officer about ensuring the enforcement of good
biodiversity standards on the site. The planning officer responded that the impact of
the proposed development on local ecology has been assessed and had had regard
to council policies; it was considered that the proposals would not have any significant
impacts on important habitats or species. The proposed layout had the potential to
ensure that the site could deliver a net gain for biodiversity, notably through the
planting of native hedgerows and the creation of a wildflower meadow. The scheme
was landscape-led, with particular sensitivity to the AONB. Density was at the northern
edge of the site and lower density at the southern end, near to the AONB boundary.
In response to a query from the committee regarding this site’s contribution to South
Oxfordshire’s land supply to 31 March 2026, the senior planning officer reported that
based on a year by year and site by site trajectory of the expected housing supply in
the district, the council could demonstrate a 5.33 year’s supply of housing land. It was
confirmed that this development would make a small but valuable contribution to the
council’s housing land supply.
The committee were mindful of the need to ensure that the health of the new
population was adequately catered for. It was noted that the Oxfordshire Clinical
Commissioning Group (OCCG) had requested a contribution towards surgery
alterations or capital projects to support patient services. The planning officer reported
that the development would be liable for Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and for
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 15 December 2021

Page 21

this type of development the Council would not seek S106 contributions for health
services. In accordance with the Council’s CIL Spending Strategy, healthcare
infrastructure would be secured under the community infrastructure levy.
The committee noted the infrastructure improvement proposals and supported
measures to improve connectivity. It was noted that there was a proposal for the
provision of a footpath and cycleway through the site onto The Street via the Old
Stables residential development. The senior planning officer advised the committee
that a condition would be added to the proposed conditions to ensure that this
improvement was carried out in the event of permission being granted.
The committee was in support of the application for the following reasons; the
proposed development remained the locally preferred choice of site to meet the
housing needs of the area, as stated in the neighbourhood plan. Also, the application
made good provision for buses and cyclists and, overall, was a well-planned proposal.
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on
being put to the vote.
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P16/S3852/FUL, subject to
the following;
Delegate to the Head of Planning to grant planning permission subject to completion
of a Section 106 agreement to cover the matters set out in the report and the following
conditions:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.
21.
22.
23.
24.
25.
26.

Commencement of development – full permission.
Commencement of development – outline.
Submission of reserved matters application for the school land
Approved plans.
Sample materials (All).
Removal of permitted development rights for extensions.
Removal of permitted development rights for outbuildings.
No conversion of garage accommodation.
Submission of details of landscaping including hard surfacing and
treatment.
Landscape Management Plan.
Detailed tree protection.
Hours of operation for construction.
Construction Traffic onto A4074 only.
Wheel washing facilities.
Construction Traffic Management Plan.
Travel Plan.
Construction Method Statement.
Off-site Highway Works.
Noise-Acoustic Glazing.
External Lighting.
Electric Vehicle Charging Points.
Efficient Gas Boilers.
Ecological Mitigation.
Biodiversity Enhancement Plan (BEP).
Contamination phased risk assessment.
Contamination remediation strategy.

South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 15 December 2021

boundary

Page 22

27.
28.
29.
30.
31.
32.
33.
34.
35.
36.
37.
38.
39.

Foul drainage works (details required).
SUD’s compliance report.
Sustainable drainage scheme.
Adoptable foul drainage scheme.
Thames Water Infrastructure and phasing plan.
New vehicular access onto A4094 Port Way.
Vision Splay Dimensions at Access.
Vision Splay Dimensions at Internal junctions.
Estate Accesses, driveways and turning areas.
Cycle Parking Facilities.
Off-site highway works (implementation as approved)
Archaeological written scheme of investigation
Programme of archaeological evaluation and mitigation

Additional condition; provision of footpath and cycleway onto The Street via the Old
Stables.

48 P21/S0047/FUL - Grove Farm, Patemore Lane, Pishill
Consideration of this application was deferred to facilitate a site visit.

The meeting closed at 8.25 pm

South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 15 December 2021

Page 23

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
PARISH
WARD MEMBER(S)
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

OFFICER

P21/S0047/FUL
FULL APPLICATION
15.1.2021
WATLINGTON
Anna Badcock
Country Snugs LTD
Grove Farm, Patemore Lane, Pishill, RG9 6HH
The erection of 5 holiday pods, maintenance
building, managers flat and associated landscaping
and parking (as amended to realign maintenance
building).
Tom Wyatt

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
In line with the council’s scheme of delegation this application is referred to Planning
Committee due to the objection from Watlington Parish Council. The application was
also called in to Committee by the local ward member. The application was deferred
from the Planning Committee on 15th December 2021 to allow members of the
Committee to visit the site.

1.2

The application site, which is shown on the copy of the OS plan attached as
Appendix A, extends to an area of approximately 0.5 hectares. The applicant also
owns a larger area of associated pastoral farmland to the north and west of the site
extending to an approximate area of 4 hectares. The site is located within the
countryside around the small and scattered settlement of Pishill and forms part of the
Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB).

1.3

The application site comprises vacant agricultural buildings with a main access and
secondary access into the site from the adjoining public highway (B480 – Patemore
Lane). The proposal seeks planning permission for the demolition of all of the existing
buildings and the redevelopment of the site to provide tourist accommodation in the
form of five identical one bedroom pods on the valley floor to the west of the retained
access supported by a new car port and maintenance building with manager’s flat on
the parcel of land to the east of the access. Copies of the plans showing the
proposed development are attached as Appendix B whilst other documentation
associated with the application and all of the consultation responses can be viewed on
the council’s website, www.southoxon.gov.uk.

2.0
2.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Watlington Parish Council – Objects for the following reasons:
- The site is agricultural land within the Chilterns AONB
- Pishill is not in the council’s settlement hierarchy and is not a sustainable location for
development.
- Extensive views of the site from the Chilterns Way
- Development would appear incongruous in the context of the agricultural and wooded
landscape.
- Design and form not in keeping with the surroundings
- The site is prone to flooding
- Detrimental impact on biodiversity
- Light spillage from the pods’ glazing
- No local need for additional tourist accommodation

Page 25

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

- The proposal does not represent farm diversification
- There is no economic benefit to the local area
- Adverse noise pollution
- Insufficient parking
- Lack of renewable energy generation
- Lack of safe access for users of the public rights of way
- Car port too close to the adjacent woodland
- The proposed vehicular access is unsafe
- Adverse impact on air quality to the detriment of the neighbouring residents
2.2

Pishill with Stonor Parish Council – Objects for the following reasons:
- The proposal does not conserve the AONB
- The site is not sustainable and visitors will be car reliant
- Light pollution in a dark area
- Vehicular access is dangerous
- The site is prone to flooding
- Design and concept is not appropriate in this location

2.3

Swyncombe Parish Council – Objects due to the impact on the AONB and the site
being unsuitable for holiday pods. The proposal would also result in increased traffic
movements, noise and pollution, including light pollution.

2.4

Chilterns Conservation Board – The pods should cover a land area that aligns with
the existing buildings. There is an opportunity for chalk grassland enhancement on the
wider site. Any requirement for visibility splays could erode the frontage of the site. Any
external lighting will be detrimental to the AONB.
The site is highly representative of the prevailing landscape character here (Landscape
Character Area 9 Chiltern Ridges and Valley) within the recent Lepus Study for SODC
Landscape Character Assessment for the SOLP.

2.5

Countryside Officer (South and Vale) – No objections subject to biodiversity
enhancements being secured by condition. The habitats on site are not considered to
be a constraint to development and it is considered that potential impacts on species
can be readily mitigated. Development associated with the proposed car parking area
in the east of the site would not encroach upon the ancient woodland buffer more than
existing built development.

2.6

Drainage - (South and Vale) – No objections subject to conditions.

2.7

Forestry Officer (South and Vale) – No objections subject to landscaping and tree
protection conditions.

2.8

Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) – No objections subject to
conditions regarding visibility splays, turning and parking and closure of existing
access. The proposal is unlikely to have a significant adverse impact on the highway
network.

2.9

CPRE - (Rights of Way) – Concerns raised about the conflict between users of the
site’s vehicular access and the public right of way.

2.10 Chiltern Society – The proposal would be contrary to Section 85 of the Countryside
and Rights of Way Act 2000.

Page 26

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

2.11 South Oxfordshire District of CPRE – The site is not in a suitable location for the
development. The development will have a negative impact on the AONB and would be
highly visible from public rights of way. Harm to nocturnal wildlife and the dark skies of
the AONB.
2.12 Third Party Representations – 20 representations have been received raising
objections to the proposal on the following grounds:
- Harm to the landscape qualities of the AONB
- Impact on highway safety with observations regarding the speed of traffic including
cyclists
- There are a lack of local facilities
- Light and noise pollution
- Impact on the safety of users of the Chiltern Way
- Loss of farming potential and continued agricultural use of adjacent land is difficult
- The design of the development is not in keeping with the surroundings
- Concern about maintenance of the green roofs
- Impact on local wildlife
- Concern about potential impact on archaeological features
- Smoke from wood burners
- The site is prone to flooding
- The site is unsustainable for the proposed use
- No benefits to the local community
3.0
3.1

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
P20/S1195/FUL - Withdrawn (17/12/2020)
The erection of 6 holiday pods and associated landscaping and parking.
P19/S3293/PEM - Advice provided (03/12/2019)
Conversion of 3 barns to either market dwellings or holiday let and demolition of other
outbuildings as shown on submitted aerial view.

4.0
4.1

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
The site is within a sensitive area (AONB) but the scale of the development is not
such to require an Environmental Statement.

5.0
5.1

POLICY & GUIDANCE
Development Plan Policies
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies:
STRAT1 – The Overall Strategy
EMP10 – Development in Rural Areas
EMP11 – Tourism
EMP12 – Caravan and Camping Sites
TRANS2 – Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility
TRANS4 – Transport Assessments, Transport Statements and Travel Plans
TRANS5 – Consideration of Development Proposals
INF4 – Water Resources
ENV1 – Landscape and Countryside
ENV2 – Biodiversity – Designated Sites, Priority Habitats and Species
ENV3 – Biodiversity
ENV11 – Pollution – Impact from Existing and/or Previous Land Uses
ENV12 – Pollution – Impact of Development on Human Heath, the Natural Environment
EP3 – Waste Collection and Recycling
EP4 – Flood Risk
DES1 – Delivering High Quality Development

Page 27

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

DES2 – Enhancing Local Character
DES6 – Residential Amenity
DES7 – Efficient Use of Resources
DES8 – Promoting Sustainable Design
5.2

Watlington Neighbourhood Plan
P2 – Transport
P3 – Conserve and Enhance the Natural Environment
P7 - Employment

5.3

Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)
Chilterns AONB Management Plan
Chilterns Buildings Design Guide

5.4

National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance

5.5

Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.
Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

6.0
6.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The relevant planning considerations are the following:








Principle of the development
Impact on the character and appearance of the site and surrounding area
Impact on the amenity of neighbouring residents
Highway access and parking
Impact on Protected Species, Trees and Biodiversity
Energy efficiency
Drainage

The Principle of the Development
6.2

Policy EMP11 of the SOLP relates to the provision of tourist facilities, including visitor
accommodation. However, this Policy seeks to locate such facilities within the built up
areas of the district’s towns, and larger and smaller villages. Pishill is not such a
settlement. Nevertheless, the Policy also allows for small scale development outside of
these settlements in locations such as the application site ‘to support the visitor
economy, including farm diversification and equestrian development….provided that
proposals are in keeping with the scale and character of the locality…larger
developments will only be supported in exceptional circumstances’. This proposal is for
5 single bedroomed holiday pods and supporting development, which I do not consider
represents a ‘larger’ development in the context of Policy EMP11.

6.3

The Hotel Needs Assessment 2014 was undertaken as part of the evidence base for
the SOLP. At Para. 8.2.1, following national trends, it identifies potential opportunities
for visitor accommodation to enhance the visitor economy, and this includes the
conversion of redundant farm and rural buildings to holiday cottages and cottage

Page 28

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

complexes and the development of holiday lodges along with camping pod and
glamping sites. The assessment states that such development could provide a
significant benefit in terms of rural economic development and job creation.
6.4

Policy EMP10 of the SOLP is also of relevance to this proposal. The Policy supports
the creation and expansion of rural businesses and states:
The Council will:
i) support the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business and enterprise
in rural areas through conversion of existing buildings;
ii) promote the sustainable development and diversification of agricultural and other
land-based rural businesses;
iii) support sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments that benefit businesses,
communities and visitors in rural areas and which respect the character of the
countryside. This will include supporting the provision and expansion of tourist and
visitor facilities in appropriate locations where identified needs are not met by existing
facilities in rural service centres.

6.5

Policy EMP10 reflects government policy guidance contained within the NPPF. Para.
81 of the NPPF states:
Planning policies and decisions should help create the conditions in which businesses
can invest, expand and adapt. Significant weight should be placed on the need to
support economic growth and productivity, taking into account both local business
needs and wider opportunities for development.
Para. 84 of the NPPF states:
Planning policies and decisions should enable:
(a) the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business in rural areas, both
through conversion of existing buildings and well-designed new buildings;
(b) the development and diversification of agricultural and other land-based rural
businesses;
(c) sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments which respect the character of
the countryside; and
(d) the retention and development of accessible local services and community facilities,
such as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, open space, cultural buildings,
public houses and places of worship
Whilst Para. 85 states:
Planning policies and decisions should recognise that sites to meet local business and
community needs in rural areas may have to be found adjacent to or beyond existing
settlements, and in locations that are not well served by public transport. In these
circumstances it will be important to ensure that development is sensitive to its
surroundings, does not have an unacceptable impact on local roads and exploits any
opportunities to make a location more sustainable (for example by improving the scope
for access on foot, by cycling or by public transport). The use of previously developed
land, and sites that are physically well-related to existing settlements, should be
encouraged where suitable opportunities exist.

6.6

The application site is occupied by vacant and somewhat derelict agricultural buildings.
Agricultural buildings and land are excluded from the definition of previously developed
land set out in the NPPF. However, this does not conceal the fact that the buildings are
in situ and are no longer required for active farming. Subject to structural surveys the

Page 29

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

conversion of some of the buildings to other uses such as dwellings could be
acceptable in principle. However, in my view the redevelopment of the site would
present a more appropriate option, and it follows that there is an opportunity to
redevelop the vacant site that currently makes no contribution to the rural economy with
an active use that would provide such benefits if the impact on the character and
appearance and amenities of the area are acceptable.
6.7

Whilst the proposed holiday ‘pods’ are permanent structures and offer self-catering
accommodation, they are very small in size and would not be suitable for permanent
occupation. The pods would not be dissimilar to more standard mobile home or
glamping pod tourist accommodation typically found within rural areas in terms of the
scale and layout of the development. Policy EMP12 of the SOLP is permissive towards
the provision of caravan and camping sites within rural areas, and this policy also
recognises that permanent buildings will often be required to support such uses.

6.8

In conclusion I recognise that the proposed ‘pods’ represent permanent self-catering
units in the countryside and would not normally be permitted having regard to Policy
EMP10 of the SOLP. However, when taking the development plan policies as a whole
and the more permissive stance of the NPPF into account, I consider that the proposal
represents an opportunity to redevelop a vacant and despoiled site in the countryside
with a form of development that would aid the local visitor economy. Several objections
have opined that the development would not bring benefits to the local community.
However, a district wide approach needs to be taken, and the provision of visitor
accommodation in the area would benefit the economy generally in terms of businesses
servicing the accommodation and businesses benefitting from increased visitor
numbers such as local pubs, retail and visitor attractions.

6.9

A managers flat is also proposed on the site. This represents a permanent residential
unit on the site. The manager’s flat is clearly linked to the proposed rural business and
this functional link can be secured by condition. Policy H19 of the SOLP and Para. 80
of the NPPF allow for housing to support the functional requirements of rural business.
Given the nature of the proposed business I consider that a manager’s flat is justified
here. Usually for a new business linked residential accommodation should be provided
in a temporary structure such as a mobile home for a temporary period of time
(normally 3 years). However, in this case the proposed pods and other buildings on the
site are designed to be permanent, and the managers flat is proposed within the
maintenance building and not as a standalone detached dwelling, which could be more
easily divorced from the remainder of the development.
Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Site and Surrounding Area

6.10 The site lies within the AONB, and the NPPF (Para. 176) states that ‘great weight’
should be given to the conservation and enhancement of the landscape and scenic
beauty of these areas. This requirement is echoed within Policy ENV1 of the SOLP.
Whilst the site is within a deeply rural part of the AONB it is not isolated from other
development. The site has a long frontage with the adjacent public highway, and there
are individual dwellings positioned opposite the site and at regular points along the road
as it extends down the valley towards the main part of Pishill and Stonor beyond.
Furthermore, there are several vacant buildings on the site ranging from relatively
derelict pole barns to modern more substantial concrete framed buildings.
6.11 Having regard to the South Oxfordshire Landscape Character Assessment 2017 the
site lies within the ‘Chilterns Ridges and Valley’ Landscape Character Area, which
covers an area of land forming part of the Chilterns dip slope, from the Aston Rowant
nature reserve in the north, to the town of Henley-on-Thames to the south. This

Page 30

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

character area is bound by the top of the Chilterns escarpment to the west. Key
characteristics of this character area are an undulating landscape defined by strong
valleys, steep valleys sides supporting woodland, extensive areas of ancient woodland,
agricultural land including arable and pasture located on the lower valley sides and
bottoms. The pattern of settlement in the Chilterns is typically one of small hamlets and
farms scattered amongst extensive woods and commons. Most of the settlements are
located on the ridges or within the valleys and have a typically linear form.
6.12 The existing agricultural buildings on the site are visually prominent from the adjacent
public highway and are not attractive buildings within the landscape. However,
evidently they are viewed in context with the surrounding rural landscape and are not
incongruous in the local scene. Nevertheless, the buildings are now vacant with little
prospect of being used for agricultural purposes in the foreseeable future. As I have
explained above, I consider that there is scope to redevelop the site for an alternative
use to the benefit of the rural economy. In visual terms the proposed development
would represent a considerable reduction in built form within the site. The volume and
footprint of the existing buildings are approximately 2850m3 and 650m2 respectively,
whilst for the new development they would be approximately 1800m3 and 470m2
respectively. There would also be a reduction of approximately 20% in the extent of
hardstanding across the site. Furthermore, the pods have a height of 4 metres as does
the proposed car port whilst the maintenance building and managers flat would have a
height of approximately 3 metres. This compares favourably to the height of the larger
existing buildings on the site, the highest of which is approximately 6.5 metres high.
6.13 In light of the reduction in the amount of built form on the site the visual impact of the
proposed development would be reduced in terms of the visible massing of the
buildings. This reduction would be particularly apparent in views from the public
highway because the site sits at the valley floor approximately 2 metres below the level
of the road and is well screened from the road by boundary hedging. Indeed, the
highest part of the buildings would sit at less than 1 metre above the normal height of
the roadside hedge, and the visual impact of the pods would be further mitigated
through the proposed use of sedum roofs and timber walls, which would help to blend
the pods into the pasture and woodland background on the valley side to the north.
6.14 As well as being within a relatively unobtrusive position in the valley bottom the site is
only readily visible from a relatively short length (approximately 250m) of the public
highway from which the housing on the opposite side of the highway is also visually
prominent. Views from further along the highway are restricted by a combination of the
topography and woodland cover in the area, and in the public views from the highway
the development would be viewed in context with the existing built form to the south.
6.15 The pods would be arranged in a regular linear pattern along the valley floor and whilst
their footprint and overall visual presence would be considerably less than the existing
buildings on the site they would extend up the valley to the west further than the
existing agricultural buildings. However, based on historic aerial photographs of the
site the pods would extend no further westwards than the area of the site used for the
purposes of open agricultural storage, and they would not extend further westwards
than the adjacent dwelling to the south (The End House). At the present time the land
is occupied by unattractive buildings and is relatively devoid of any landscaping. Whilst
the pods would be laid out in a linear arrangement there would be considerable space
between the pods and the site plan shows a significant amount of new tree and hedge
planting between the pods and on the site generally that in my view would help to
reduce the visual impact of the development further and help to assimilate it into its
rural surroundings.

Page 31

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

6.16 The car ports and maintenance building are located at the south eastern edge of the
site where they would again replace unsightly agricultural buildings and would be
visually unobtrusive below the level of the adjacent highway. This part of the
development would also be well screened by the area of extensive woodland
(designated as ancient woodland) extending to the north of the site. The Chiltern Way
passes through the entrance of the site and into the woodland to the north of the site.
Whilst the site is readily visible from the Chiltern Way as it passes through the site and
towards the adjacent woodland this is only for a length of approximately 100 metres,
and thereafter the woodland and topography restrict views of the site. In these short
range views the development would be seen below the level of the road and against
the backdrop of the housing to the south. As such the development would not in my
opinion be visually intrusive.
6.17 The pods include relatively large glazed areas facing north towards the valley side and
woodland beyond. Although the low height and small size of the buildings and their
position at the bottom of the valley would limit light spill from the glazing there would still
be a potential negative impact on the dark skies in the locality. Policy ENV12 seeks to
avoid adverse light pollution and this is also a requirement of Policy DP8 of the
Chilterns AONB Management Plan (CMP) which seeks to keep skies dark at night. The
applicant has provided details of the proposed glazing, which includes the use of
electro chromic glass. This will reduce light pollution into the night sky to a very low
level. External lighting will also need to be strictly controlled and this can be done
through a suitably worded condition.
6.18 Having regard to the above matters, I consider that the visual impact of the
development within the Chilterns AONB would be very localised. Neither would the
development disrupt the landscape qualities of the area as identified within the
Landscape Character Assessment, and the proposal would respect the scattered linear
pattern of development in the locality.
6.19 The Chilterns Conservation Board has commented on the application that the planning
merits as assessed from the perspective of AONB policy are finely balanced but they
consider that there is a degree of harm. They have raised some concern about the
pods extending further westwards than the existing farm buildings. For the reasons
outlined above I consider this is acceptable. The CMP includes objectives relating to
increasing the enjoyment and understanding of the Chilterns, including through
attracting greater visitor numbers. The site provides direct access to the Chiltern Way
path as well as the wider network of public rights of way in the area and would provide
a good base for walking holidays. The CMP also seeks to increase the economic and
social wellbeing of local communities by supporting the development of the visitor
economy. Policy SP1 of the CMP states that ‘there is great potential to attract more
visitors, expand the short break market and raise the profile of the Chilterns’. This
proposal would help to meet the aims of this Policy.
6.20 However, the CMP (Policy DP1) also makes it clear in line with the S85 of the
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 and the NPPF that the key priority in
assessing development proposals is to ensure the conservation and enhancement of
the landscape and scenic beauty of the AONB. However, for the reasons outlined
above, I consider that the visual and landscape impacts of the proposal would not
conflict with this central priority.

Page 32

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

Impact on the Amenity of Neighbouring Residents
6.21 There are a small number of properties opposite the site to the south and further along
the road to the east. Policy DES6 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that development
proposals do not result in significant adverse impacts on the amenity of neighbouring
uses, when considering both individual and cumulative impacts, in relation to factors
such as loss of privacy, daylight or sunlight, dominance or visual intrusion, noise or
vibration or external lighting.
6.22 The proposed development is well separated from the existing dwelling by the public
highway and roadside planting. The development is low in height and the physical
presence of the buildings would not have an adverse impact on neighbouring amenity
in my view. Having regard to the relatively small number of pods and the likely traffic
generation as a result I do not consider that the additional traffic generation would
cause any undue disturbance, particularly in context with the general traffic using the
intervening highway. The use of the pods for holiday accommodation may generate
some noise from external activities during the day and evening but again having regard
to the small number of pods and that they only comprise a single bedroom I do not
consider that noise levels from the site would be excessive.
Highway Access and Parking
6.23 Policy TRANS5 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that development provides for a safe and
convenient access for all users to the highway network. The site is accessed off the
B480, and is subject to a 30mph limit in the vicinity of the site, although given the
straight alignment and gradient of the road it appears likely that many vehicles (and
cyclists) will exceed this speed. The proposal seeks to utilise the existing access and a
secondary access would be stopped up. The proposal would improve the existing
access by providing appropriate visibility splays to either side with a hedge replanted
behind the splays. In my view this represents a significant improvement to highway
safety for users of the access and the highway more generally that would offset the
minor increase in traffic movements to and from the site in comparison to a working
farmyard.
6.24 The proposal would provide for seven parking spaces, which should be sufficient given
the one bedroom size of the pods and the single managers flat. It is apparent that the
area is popular with cyclists and secure cycle parking would be provided within the
maintenance building, which would enhance the visitor experience to the site and
encourage more sustainable modes of travel during their stay.
6.25 The Highway Authority has raised no objections to the proposal noting the
improvements to the gradient and visibility at the access, and the provision of sufficient
parking.
Impact on Protected Species, Trees and Biodiversity
6.26 Policy ENV2 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that development does not result in harm or
loss to the ecological resource of the district including protected species and ancient
woodland. Policy ENV3 of the SOLP seeks to support proposals that would conserve,
restore and enhance biodiversity in the district. These requirements are also set out
within the NPPF and Chilterns AONB Management Plan. Policy ENV1 seeks to protect
important landscape features, including trees.
6.27 The application is supported by an Ecological Appraisal. The existing buildings show
no evidence of bat use and are not suitable for bat roosting. The wider site has limited

Page 33

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

ecological value at the present time, with the main value as a result of the existing
hedges and trees which are largely to be retained. The proposal includes new
wildflower planting along with new native trees and hedging, and this can all be secured
by condition. The development would encroach no further towards the ancient
woodland than the existing agricultural buildings to be demolished. The council’s
Countryside Officer has assessed the scheme and is satisfied that the proposal will
result in ecological enhancements compared to the existing baseline.
6.28 The site adjoins ancient woodland, which is not impacted by the development.
Otherwise there are very few trees within the site worthy of retention. The new trees
and hedges to be provided will substantially increase the vegetation cover within the
site. The Forestry Officer has raised no objections subject to conditions requiring tree
protection measures and new landscaping.
Energy Efficiency
6.29 Policy DES8 seeks to promote sustainable design and states that all new development
should seek to minimise the carbon and energy impacts of their design and
construction. An energy statement has been submitted with the application that
outlines a fabric first approach to energy efficiency whilst solar panels are also included
on the roofs of the car ports. The statement indicates a 143% reduction in carbon
emissions over the 2013 building regulations, which exceed the requirements of Policy
DES10 of the SOLP.
Drainage
6.30 Given the site’s location within the valley bottom the site is prone to surface water
flooding but is within Flood Zone 1. Policy EP4 seeks to ensure that development
addresses the effective management of flood risk, and does not increase flooding
elsewhere. In conjunction with the council’s drainage engineer the applicant has
developed a suitable drainage strategy for the site. This comprises cellular soakaways
and a low bund to control surface water drainage flows and a package treatment plant
and drainage field to the west of the proposed pods to dispose of foul drainage. As
noted by the Countryside Officer the drainage fields provide an opportunity to enhance
the biodiversity of the site primarily through facilitating a wet meadow wild flower mix.
7.0
7.1

Conclusion and Planning Balance
The application site is located within the countryside where new self-catering visitor
accommodation would generally not be supported having regard to Policy EMP11 of
the SOLP, however, having regard to the layout and scale of the proposed
development it would have a more similar function and character to more widespread
forms of tourist accommodation located within areas of the countryside, which are more
permissive under development plan policies (EMP12) than to traditional market
housing. The development would make a positive contribution to the visitor economy
through providing additional high quality accommodation, and supporting existing
businesses in the area, and would meet key objectives of the CMP in relation to
promoting rural tourism within the Chilterns.

7.2

The site is currently occupied by poor quality agricultural buildings with little prospect of
active re-use for farming purposes. The proposed development would remove the
existing unsightly buildings and result in a significant reduction in the footprint, volume
and height of built form within the site. The visual and landscape impact of the
development would be limited due to the modest scale of the development, the local
topography and screening afforded by existing woodland cover. Having regard to the
small number of units proposed, and the existing use of the site the impact on the

Page 34

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

amenity of existing residents in the vicinity is not considered significant. The proposal
also includes highway improvements to the site access that would be beneficial to
highway safety. Other significant benefits derived from the proposed development
include the enhancement of biodiversity within the site through additional hedgerow and
tree planting and areas of wild flowers. In weighing up the overall planning balance
officers consider that the benefits associated with the development outweigh the limited
and specific conflict with development plan policy in relation to Policy ENV11.
8.0
8.1

RECOMMENDATION
Grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Commencement of development within three years
Development in accordance with the approved plans
Schedule of the materials to be agreed
Levels as shown on the approved plans
Landscaping in accordance with the approved plans and landscape
management plan to be agreed including for the green roofs of the
development
6. Tree protection details in accordance with submitted details
7. External lighting to be agreed
8. Hard surfacing details to be agreed
9. Flood risk strategy to be agreed
10. Surface water drainage to be agreed
11. Foul drainage to be agreed
12. Contaminated land investigation
13. Contaminated land remediation
14. Development in accordance with the Ecological Appraisal
15. Means of access to be improved
16. Existing access to be stopped up
17. Provision and protection of vision splays
18. Parking and turning areas to be provided and maintained
19. Electric vehicle charging points to be provided
20. Development to be carried out in accordance with energy statement
21. Use of electro chromic glass
22. Managers flat to be used in association with the business
23. Use of the accommodation for holiday lets only
24. Removal of permitted development rights for extensions and alterations
and means of enclosure

Author: Tom Wyatt
Email: Planning@southoxon.gov.uk
Tel:

01235 422600

Page 35

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A

P21/S0047/FUL
Agenda Item 8

Page 37

Development Area Location Plan

Appendix B
0m 20m 40m 60m 80m 100m

1:2500 at A3
Page 38

EXIS
TING
HED
GE
RET
AINE
D

Proposed Cellular Soakaway SA4
Contributing highway catchment: 420m2
Dimensions: 6m x 5 m x 0.8m
Infiltration rate: 2.53x10-5m/s
Design storm: 1 in 100yr + 40%
To be located in permeable chalk strata

Proposed drainage field designed in
accordance with BS6297:2007+A1:2008
Infiltration area = 60m2
Trench width = 0.9m
Trench length =66.00m
Vp = 15s/mm (with additional sand filter layer
below the standard distribution layer)

NEW GRASS BUND CONSTRUCTED AS REQUIRED BY LLFA
ENGINEER. BUND 0.5M HIGH AND 3M WIDE AT BASE WITH
AN APPROX SLOPE OF 1in3. PURPOSE TO INTERCEPT
GREENFIELD RUN OFF FROM LAND TO WEST AND DIRECT
TOWARDS A NEW SOAKAWAY.

Proposed Package Treatment Plant
To serve a poulation of 12
To BS EN 12566

EXIS
TING
HED
GE
RET
AINE
D

HOGGIN FINISH TO TERRACE
AREAS TO ALLOW FOR DISABLED
ACCESS AND TO ALLOW FREE
DRAINAGE OF SURFACE WATER

Proposed Cellular Soakaway SA3
Contributing greenfield catchment: 22ha
Contributing highway catchment: 0.029ha
Dimensions: 10m x 13m x 0.8m
Infiltration rate: 2.53x10-5m/s
Design storm: 1 in 100yr + 40%
To be located in permeable chalk strata

EXISTING POST AND
WIRE FENCE
RETAINED

INDIVIDUAL SOAKAWAY CRATES TO
COLLECT WATER FROM ROCK POOL
OVERFLOW
HOGGIN FINISH TO TERRACE
AREAS TO ALLOW FOR DISABLED
ACCESS AND TO ALLOW FREE
DRAINAGE OF SURFACE WATER

soakaway

5

EXISTING POST AND
WIRE FENCE
RETAINED

soakaway

Stable
Stable

EXISTING POST AND
WIRE FENCE
RETAINED

HOGGIN FINISH TO TERRACE
AREAS TO ALLOW FOR DISABLED
ACCESS AND TO ALLOW FREE
DRAINAGE OF SURFACE WATER

soakaway

DRY STREAM BEDS TO CARRY RAINWATER
FROM ROOFS TO SMALL ROCKARY POND.
WATER FEATURE TO PROMOTE WILDLIFE
BIO-DIVERSITY

3

soakaway

EXISTING HEDGE
RETAINED

Gully

EXISTING TREES
RETAINED

OUTLINE OF EXISTING BUILDINGS
SHOWN DOTTED

soakaway

FIRE APPLIANCE TURNING AREA
UTILISING EXISTING IMPROVED
PADDOCK ENTRANCE

G12
ROAD GULLY A TO
CONNECT INTO NEW
SOAKWAY ON SITE

EXISTING GATE AND FIELD
ACCESS RETAINED

Proposed Cellular Soakaway SA2
Contributing highway catchment: 90m2
Dimensions: 2m x 5m x 0.8m
Infiltration rate: 2.53x10-5m/s
Design storm: 1 in 100yr + 40%
To be located in permeable chalk strata

2

soakaway

H8

FH

5

north

EXISTING HEDGE
RETAINED

1

MAINS CONNECTED
FIRE HYDRANT
EXISTING TREE
REMOVED

CODE CONTROLLED
SECURITY GATE

EXISTING TREE
REMOVED

1

2

3

4

5

10m

EXISTING TREE
REMOVED

EXISTING HEDGE
RETAINED

5

+ 165.86

Proposed Foul
Pumping Station

PERMEABLE HOGGIN
FOOTPATHS
O

1

+ 165.71

PERMEABLE PAVING TO
ENTRANCE

+ 164.42

soakaway

0

+ 164.30
6,00

BRICK WALL WITH
CODED GATE

+ 164.08 soakaway

7

45m

EXISTING
BUILDINGS

PROPOSED

VOLUME

AREA

VOLUME

AREA

2770.00 m3

621.75 m2

1818.50 m3

469.50 m2

EXISTING
HARDSTANDING

VOLUME

Gully

EXISTING TARMACED ENTRANCE RAMP
REMOVED AND RELANDSCAPED.
ENTRANCE CLOSED OFF

NEW HEDGE PLANTED TO PROVIDE
IMPROVED VISIBILITY SPLAY

ROAD GULLY B TO
CONNECT INTO NEW
SOAKWAY ON SITE

3

PROPOSED
AREA

VOLUME

1059.30 m2

5,99

8

BINS

+ 165.08

3

4

5

+ 165.06

MAINTENANCE
BUILDING

NEW HEDGE PLANTED TO PROVIDE
IMPROVED VISIBILITY SPLAY

AREA
WIDENED AND IMPROVED ENTRANCE
OFF HIGHWAY WITH NEW 45x2.5m
VISIBILITY SPLAYS EITHER SIDE AND A
REDUCED GRADIENT INTO THE SITE

820.00 m2

+ 166.81
3

1

45m

2

SOLAR PANELS INSTALLED ON SLATE ROOF
OF CAR PORT TO PRODUCE ELECTRICITY.
POWER INTRODUCED BACK INTO THE GRID
TO REDUCE CONSUMPTION ON SITE

2
+ 166.66

1

2

G6

P

+ 165.08

OUTLINE OF EXISTING
BUILDINGS SHOWN DOTTED

PROPOSED HARDSTANDING INCLUDES ALL PATHS, TERRACE AREAS,
ENTRANCE AND PARKING AREAS

1

R A
M

G4

EXISTING BUILDINGS INCLUDE ALL STRUCTURES 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 LOCATED
WITHIN SITE BOUNDARIES

O

+ 163.78

2.5m

SITE ANALYSIS

OUTLINE OF EXISTING
BUILDINGS SHOWN DOTTED
GATE PROVIDED IN PROPOSE
NEW HEDGE FOR DIRECT
REFUGE COLLECTION FROM
ROAD

10m

Outline of
building 1
Outline of
building 8
Outline of
building 2

Outline of
building 7

Outline of new building hidden
behind new hedging

Entrance to bin
storage area

Datum 163.00mts

Street Scene

Proposed new hedging planted to provide
new improved visibility splays from
existing access

Proposed new hedging planted to provide
new improved visibility splays from
existing access

NEW GRASS BUND CONSTRUCTED AS REQUIRED BY LLFA
ENGINEER. BUND 0.5M HIGH AND 3M WIDE AT BASE WITH
AN APPROX SLOPE OF 1in3. PURPOSE TO INTERCEPT
GREENFIELD RUN OFF FROM LAND TO WEST AND DIRECT
TOWARDS A NEW SOAKAWAY.

JONATHAN MARK DENNIS
A R C H I T E C T S

175.54
173.33
Tree

67 STAUNTON ROAD, HEADINGTON
OXFORD OX3 7TL

TP
TP

Outline of
building 1

t. 0 1 8 6 5 7 6 4 4 4 9
f. 0 1 8 6 5 7 6 4 4 4 9
e. jondennis@freedom255.com

Outline of
building 2
Project

Outline of
building 7

GROVE FARM
PATEMORE LANE
PISHILL

Drawing
Datum 163.00mts

INTERNAL SECTION THROUGH SITE

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

Page 39

Scale

1.200 @ A0

Job No

Date

365

21.01.2020
Dwg No

Drawn

JMD

D-1 G

Zinc coping to end of gables to provide a
clean defined break between sedum and
chesnut cladding

4,000

Scale

Chesnut cladding will tuen silver/grey
once weathered to help blend into
ancient forest opposite

SIDE ELEVATION
Copper chute from roof to cantilver out and
connect to chainlink downpipe to feed dry
stream bed. copper used for its natural
properties and aethetics

Electro Chromatic Glazing to
prevent light pollution at night.

Small slot window recessed back from
exterior cladding to minimise light
polution at night

Rooflights to have Electro
Chromatic Glazing to prevent light
pollution at night.

6,000

D-9 D

REAR ELEVATION

Drawing

FRONT ELEVATION

365

Sedum roof

Job No

black enamel insulated
flue to stove

outline of previous
earth shelter

Dwg No

jmd

5m

POD DETAILS

large gunmetal grey sliding
patio doors to minimise
framework and maximise
glass

4

21.01.2020

3

1.100 @ A3

2

Drawn

1

Date

O

Sedum roof

TYPICAL SECTION
kitchen

SIDE ELEVATION

Copper chute from roof to cantilver out and
connect to chainlink downpipe to feed dry
stream bed. copper used for its natural
properties and aethetics

FLOOR PLAN

Page 40

soakaway

Bridge

Dry stream beds to carry
rainwater from roofs to small
rockary pond.

CONSTRUCTION:

Pre-fabricated Timber SIPS panels constructed off site and sat
on 100mm reinforced EcoPlus concrete slab. Walls and roof
insulated with 300mm Thermafleece Supasoft Polyester
Insulation or similar to provide a min U-Value of 0.12. Sedum
vegetation layer laid over roof on 50mm substrate and
drainage layer all to specialist details

WINDOWS & DOORS:

High performance triple glazed composite aluminium windows
and doors with gunmetal grey pcc aluminium coated external
face. Typical U-Value 0.8. Glass to be Electro Chromatic

ROOFLIGHTS:

High performance triple glazed rooflights with automatic
opening to promote cross ventilation and Electro Chromatic
Glazing. Typical U-Value 0.6

HEATING:

Defra Approved Room Sealed Multi fuel stove with direct
external air supply installed. Max output 5Kw
Electric thermostatic radiators located in bathroom, bedroom
and living space providing heating when not in use.
Small domestic MVHR unit located in pod to provide natural
ventilation and condensation control

LIGHTING:

100% low energy LED lighting throughout the pod

JONATHAN MARK DENNIS
A R C H I T E C T S

Project

sitting

t. 0 1 8 6 5 7 6 4 4 4 9
f. 0 1 8 6 5 7 6 4 4 4 9
e. jondennis@jmdarchitects.co.uk

6,750

2,100

wc

bedroom

67 STAUNTON ROAD, HEADINGTON
OXFORD OX3 7TL

shw

GROVE FARM
PATEMORE LANE
PISHILL

3,825

concealed gutter system
to enhance clean lines of
buildings

O

1

2

3

4

5m

natural blue slates to car port
roof. PV panels installed on
south facing roof

169.17

168.88

168.55

+ 166.30

165.29 +
+ 165.50

Datum 163.00mts

SOUTH ELEVATION

natural blue slates to car port
roof. PV panels installed on
south facing roof
Outline of existing
building 3

oak frame structure sat
on brick plinth walls
169.17
168.55

Datum 163.00mts

EAST ELEVATION

oak frame structure sat
on brick plinth walls

natural blue slates
to car port roof.
168.55

168.88

169.17

Datum 163.00mts

NORTH ELEVATION
open gabled oak frame
structure sat on brick
plinth walls

Datum 163.00mts

WEST ELEVATION

JONATHAN MARK DENNIS
A R C H I T E C T S
67 STAUNTON ROAD, HEADINGTON
OXFORD OX3 7TL
t. 0 1 8 6 5 7 6 4 4 4 9
f. 0 1 8 6 5 7 6 4 4 4 9
e. jondennis@jmdarchitects.co.uk

Project

GROVE FARM
PATEMORE LANE
PISHILL

Drawing

Scale

Date

1.100 @ A3

CAR PORT DETAILS

Job No

365

Drawn

21.01.2020

jmd

Dwg No

D-8
D
Page 41

Scale

D-7 F
365

+ 166.81

1.100 @ A3

+ 167.57

Dwg No

5m

Job No

4

jmd

3

21.01.2020

2

Drawn

1

Date

O

1

SITE MANAGERS FLAT
5,998

CAR PORT DETAILS

+ 167.08

MAINTENANCE
BUILDING

BRICK WALL TO
MATCH BUILDING

1500mm HIGH NEWLY PLANTED
HEDGING ALL TO SPECIALIST
DETAILS AND PLANTING
SPECIFICATIONS

BINS

+ 165.08

+ 165.08

7.

Drawing

R A M P

NEW CODED GATE TO HAVE PEDESTRIAN
BUTTON TO ALLOW ACCESS FOR
PEDESTRIANS ONLY WHEN VEHICLE ACCESS
IS NOT REQUIRED
PERMEABLE PAVING TO
CAR PARK

+ 164.30

+ 165.10

+ 165.90

+ 165.50

+ 166.30

SEPTIC TANK
G4

PERMEABLE PAVING

5.

4.

1.

2.

3.

Proposed bwlow
ground Foul
Pumping Station

DISABLED PARKING

+ 166.32

+ 164.42
+ 165.50

+ 166.32
+ 166.17
+ 165.71

Page 42

+ 165.86

+ 166.34

+ 166.44
1800mm HIGH BRICK WALL WITH
NEW OAK FRAME STRUCTURE
INSTALLED BEHIND

+ 166.

JONATHAN MARK DENNIS
A R C H I T E C T S

Project

+ 164.08

t. 0 1 8 6 5 7 6 4 4 4 9
f. 0 1 8 6 5 7 6 4 4 4 9
e. jondennis@jmdarchitects.co.uk

6.

67 STAUNTON ROAD, HEADINGTON
OXFORD OX3 7TL

oak frame structure sat
on stone saddle stones

NEW GULLY POSITIO
OVER EXISTING

GROVE FARM
PATEMORE LANE
PISHILL

+ 163.78

+ 166.15

O

1

2

3

4

5m

MANAGER FLAT SHOWN
DOTTED ABOVE

STORE / PLANT

STORE / PLANT

BASEMENT PLAN
existing building
footprint = 82 sqm
Outline of existing
building 7
proposed building
footprint = 82 sqm
WC
KITCHEN

MANAGER
FLAT

BATH
PLANT

37sqm internal floor area

PLANT

CYCLE HIRE
STORE

BEDROOM

+ 165.08
+ 164.50
BINS

Datum
164.00mts
BASEMENT STORE

R A M P

GROUND FLOOR PLAN

TYPICAL SECTION

stained sawn faced featheredge
boading on masonry walls. external
brick plinth to base of building

stained timber doors and
window to match boarding

lead grey single ply roof
membrane to flat roof of new
building

Datum 164.00mts

NORTH ELEVATION

JONATHAN MARK DENNIS
A R C H I T E C T S

WEST ELEVATION

67 STAUNTON ROAD, HEADINGTON
OXFORD OX3 7TL

new planted hedge to match
existing and to screen building
from road

New building screened
by new hedge

t. 0 1 8 6 5 7 6 4 4 4 9
f. 0 1 8 6 5 7 6 4 4 4 9
e. jondennis@jmdarchitects.co.uk

New building to follow
profile of existing building 7
Project
167.91

GROVE FARM
PATEMORE LANE
PISHILL

165.08
Datum 164.00mts

SOUTH ELEVATION ( VIEWED FROM ROAD )

EAST ELEVATION

Drawing

MAINTENANCE
BUILDING & MANAGER
FLAT
Scale

Page 43

Job No

1.100 @ A2

Date

365

21.01.2020
Dwg No

Drawn

jmd

D-6 E

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
PARISH
WARD MEMBER
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

AMENDMENTS

OFFICER

P16/S2576/O
OUTLINE
15.8.2016
PYRTON
Anna Badcock
Providence Land Ltd
Land off Pyrton Lane, Watlington
Outline application for the erection of up to 100
residential dwellings including vehicular access,
public open space, car parking, landscaping and
drainage.
As amended by drawings and additional
information received 20 September 2016, 27
October 2016, 24 August 2017, 13 June 2018, 22
July 2021, 17 November 2021, 7 December 2021
and 18 January 2022.
Emma Bowerman

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
The application has been referred to the Planning Committee at the discretion of the
Development Manager.

1.2

The application site (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A) is a
13.9-hectare agricultural field located between Watlington and Pyrton. Pyrton Lane
runs to the north-east and north-west of the site and connects the B4009 (Shirburn
Road) with the B480 (Cuxham Road). To the north-east, other than a short stretch of
site frontage where the access is proposed, Pyrton Lane is separate from the site by
third party land. To the south-east, the site is contained by Watlington Recreation
Ground and a development at the junction of the B4009 and Pyrton Lane that is
currently under construction. To the south-west, the site adjoins Icknield Community
College (ICC) and some allotments.

1.3

The application site does not fall within any areas of special designation. There are,
however, several designations near to the application site, including:
 Shirburn Registered Park and Garden (RPG) and Shirburn Conservation Area
(CA) to the north-east. There are several Grade II Listed structures within the
RPG and Shirburn Castle is a Grade I Listed Building.
 Pyrton CA to the north-west with the Grade II* Listed Pyrton Manor and its
grounds. There are several other listed buildings within Pyrton.
 The Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) to the south-east,
beyond the B4009.

1.4

The site is within the Parish of Pyrton. The southern boundaries of the site adjoin
Watlington Parish. Both parishes have Neighbourhood Plans.

1.5

The application seeks outline permission for a residential development of up to 100
homes and associated open space and drainage. The application is submitted in
outline with all matters reserved. The matters of layout, scale, appearance,
landscaping and access will be considered later under a ‘reserved matters’ application
if outline planning permission is granted.

Page 45

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

1.6

There have been several planning applications for housing developments on other
sites around Watlington / Pyrton in recent years. Together, these development sites
will deliver, and provide land for, an “Edge Road” around Watlington. The application
site will provide the final link to re-align the B4009 to the west and north of Watlington
and therefore plays a critical part in the delivery of this infrastructure.

1.7

The application is accompanied by parameter plans (attached as Appendix B) which
show the distribution of uses across the site. As shown on the plan below, the
proposed development would be contained on the land to the south of the Edge Road:

1.8

The application would secure land for Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) to deliver
the road. Part of this land is indicated in black on the plan above and this includes a
school drop-off area, which was incorporated at the request of OCC. The orange land
will be offered to OCC to provide a playing field for ICC if this is necessary for the
expansion of the school. The land in green will be offered to Pyrton Parish Council
(PPC) to create a community resource and is referred to as the “Pyrton Buffer.”

1.9

The application was submitted to the council some five and a half years ago and at
this time, was considered by officers to be premature. This was based on both the
time frames involved in the adoption of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP)
2035 and because of the progress that had been made on the other sites.

1.10

Since 2016, the applicant has submitted several updated technical documents to
address technical matters. Discussions have also taken place with PPC, specifically
in relation to the transfer of the land on the outside of the Edge Road and how this will
be secured through the provisions of a legal agreement. During this time, the route of
the Edge Road through the site has also changed.

Page 46

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

2.0
2.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
The summary below refers to the most recent consultation unless otherwise indicated.
A full copy of all of the comments received, including those in respect of previous
iterations of the proposal, can be seen on the council’s website here

2.2

Parish Councils, local bodies and residents:
Pyrton Parish Council

(Full response
attached at Appendix
C)

Watlington Parish
Council

The Parish Council is now prepared to lay aside its
overall objection to development on the site, provided
that the following conditions are met:
 Housing restricted to 3.52 ha with a cap of 100
dwellings. No building on the Pyrton side of the
Edge Road to reserve the land as a “green gap” to
prevent the coalescence of Watlington and Pyrton
and allow the application, at least in part, to comply
with the PNP.
 OCC to be given the option to purchase the school
land to expand. If OCC do not need the land it will
be offered to Pyrton PC. Use of this land to be
restricted in perpetuity.
 The Pyrton Buffer to be passed to Pyrton PC and
planted in accordance with the landscaping plan.
 The retained land to facilitate the Edge Road
connection to be planted and passed over to Pyrton
PC after the construction of the Edge Road.
 A “Grampian condition” to be imposed restricting the
commencement of development until OCC have
planning permission for the remaining sections of the
Edge Road.
 All other matters in the Agent’s letter to be
incorporated into the legal agreement.
 Only one access to be provided from the Edge Road
into the housing development.
 Part of Pyrton Lane (adjacent to Pyrton Manor) to be
closed to vehicular traffic and public footpaths
improved / provided.
 Appropriate visual and environmental mitigation to be
provided in reserved matters submission to address
light and noise pollution.
No objection
 Commented that the amended scheme has delivered
a majority of what Pyrton and Watlington require
from the outline application.
 Applicants’ agreement to a Grampian Condition a
major concession.
 Watlington PC will continue to work with Pyrton PC
to ensure that both communities needs are met.
 Existing footpath should be upgraded to ensure the
housing developments to the north of Watlington are
not isolated.

Page 47

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

Shirburn Parish
Meeting

Objection
















Adverse impact on heritage assets as proposal
harms the setting of the open character of the
Registered Park and Garden and Conservation Area
in perpetuity.
Great weight should be given to the conservation of
heritage assets and harm should be wholly
exceptional.
Effects of light, noise and separation have not been
fully considered. Increased by cumulative impact
with other developments.
Harmful impact on views into and from the AONB.
Principle of development is not acceptable as Pyrton
not a suitable location for housing.
Encroachment on green gap which plays an
important role in preserving the separate identities of
Shirburn, Pyrton and Watlington.
Would set a dangerous precedent leading to sprawl,
unsustainable development and coalescence of rural
villages.
Insufficient infrastructure in Watlington (education,
health, recreation and travel).
Only reason the proposal is supported by SODC and
Watlington PC is for the financial contribution
towards the Edge Road.
The application is premature as the Edge Road has
not yet been approved and delivery of the Edge
Road is dependent on from other application sites
and Chalgrove strategic development.
Providing only one access into the development from
the Edge Road will cause congestion.
Additional traffic from the development will further
exacerbate the pinch point on the B4009 at Shirburn,
in close proximity to listed structures.
There has been insufficient consultation with
Shirburn Parish Meeting.

South Oxfordshire
District of CPRE

Objection (received in 2017 – no reply to 2021 consultation)
 Not an allocated site. It is premature and could
prejudice future housing plans.
 Proposal endangers separation between
settlements.
 Detrimental to heritage assets and compromises
views into and from the AONB.

South Oxfordshire
District of CPRE
(Rights of Way)

Comments
 Horse riders should not be excluded from Pyrton
Lane, which should be downgraded to a bridleway
 The new road junction should provide a safe
crossing for users of the Oxfordshire Way.

Page 48

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

Watlington
Neighbourhood Plan
Forum

Comments (received in 2017–no reply to 2021 consultation)
 The detail of the development of this site is essential
to delivering the infrastructure required to meet the
needs of the development proposals in the
Watlington Neighbourhood Development Plan.
 Site should provide sports facilities to meet the
needs of an increased population.
 Provision needs to be made for new and improved
rights of way.
 Land needs to be safeguarded for the possible
extension of ICC.
 Development should not compromise the setting of
sensitive areas around the site.
 Separation between Watlington and Pyrton should
be maintained and there should be no opportunity to
extend the development area in the future.
 The site is prominent from Watlington Hill and
landscaping essential to mitigate impact on
landscape.

Neighbour
Representations

5 received in response to the 2021 consultation raising the
following objections:
 Premature as Edge Road does not have permission.
 Contrary to PNP. The gap is significantly less then
required.
 Small village of Pyrton will be subsumed by
development – adverse effect on character.
 Detrimental impact on village destroying rural way of
life.
 Increased traffic and impact on highway safety.
 Adverse impact on air quality.
 Insufficient infrastructure to serve new development.
 Increased flood risk.
 Was rejected in 2016 and is still not acceptable.
 Previous issues raised by residents have not been
addressed.
 It was previously considered that there was no need
for an Edge Road.
 The school land has already been secured under the
WATC application.
 No proper consultation held with residents
109 received in response to earlier consultations generally in
objection to the development and raising concerns
predominantly about the conflict with PNP, the loss of
Pyrton’s identity and coalescence with Watlington, urban
sprawl, overdevelopment, loss of agricultural land, impact on
heritage assets, landscape impact, increased traffic and
adverse impact on highway safety, air pollution, flood risk,
noise and light pollution, lack of infrastructure, impact on
biodiversity, there is no need for housing in Pyrton, that the
development is premature and that the Edge Road may not
be finished.

Page 49

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

Some of these responses also commented on the potential
impact that the normal activities that are undertaken on the
allotments will have on the new residents of the
development.
One response raised the importance of archaeology on this
site.
Technical consultees:
Chilterns
Conservation Board

Comments
 The amended masterplan contains significant areas
of community land to the NE corner and establishes
a buffer.
 In the interests of protecting the setting of the AONB
and the views from publicly accessible land on the
escarpment consideration should be given to lighting
(to an exemplary standard), design coding (materials
will be highly relevant) and landscape management
(requires establishment of a long-term strategy).

Historic England

Do not wish to offer any comments
 Content for the application to be determined by the
LPA following their own specialist conservation
advice.

The Gardens Trust

Objection
 Significant adverse effect on Shirburn RPG by
bringing the built form of Watlington closer to the
edge of the RPG.
 Level of harm is at the higher end of less than
substantial harm.
 The rural setting of Watlington Park is threatened by
the development which would have a negative
urbanising effect, merging with the town.
No objection (received in 2016 – no reply to 2021
consultation)
 There is an inability of the existing waste water
infrastructure to accommodate the needs of the
application. A ‘Grampian style’ condition is therefore
required to approve on-site and off-site drainage
works.

Thames Water
Development Control

Thames Valley Police
(TVP) Crime
Prevention Design
Officer

Comments
 The Design and Access statement does not
adequately address crime and disorder.
Recommend that this is addressed through an
addendum.
 Encourage engagement with TVP for all forthcoming
applications.
 Provided guidance to safeguard the development
and future residents from crime and antisocial
behaviour.

Page 50

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

Object
Oxfordshire Clinical
Commissioning Group
 Primary care funding is required as a direct result of
(OCCG)
the population growth arising from this development.
Oxfordshire County
Council (OCC)

Transport
No objection
 Subject to financial contributions towards highway
infrastructure, provision of Edge Road and
pedestrian / cycle improvements.
 Subject to conditions securing a Construction Traffic
Management Plan, a Green Travel Plan, details and
implementation of access, car parking and cycle
parking.
Lead Local Flood Authority
No objection
 Subject to a condition to secure a suitable surface
water drainage scheme
Archaeology
No objection
 Subject to conditions to secure a programme of
archaeological investigation.
Education
No objection
 Subject to a legal agreement to secure financial
contributions towards schools and land necessary for
the potential expansion of Icknield Community
College.

Conservation Officer

No objection
 Subject to conditions to ensure that a clear lighting
strategy is secured to avoid light pollution to nearby
heritage assets.
 The layout will need to provide sufficient space for
landscaping and a detailed planting scheme that
enables suitable species to be planted will offer
some visual mitigation.

Landscape Officer

Comments on recently submitted parameter plans:
 The opportunity to plant alongside Pyrton Lane
appears to have been lost with the transfer of land
for the school playing field. A planted edge should
instead be created within the site, between the Edge
Road and the development.
 The density of the development should reduce
towards the rural edge.
 Minimum widths of structural planting belts or
corridor widths for tree planting along streets should
be shown.
Previous comments on the wider impact of the scheme
raised Concern with respect to the impact on the setting of

Page 51

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

the AONB. The importance of lighting and roof materials
was also raised.
Forestry Officer

No objection
 No in principle concerns with the housing
development but would need to ensure that the
access protects trees opposite the site at Shirburn
RPG.
 The design of the junction will be crucial and will
need very careful consideration.
Comments raised concern about the potential impact that
the Edge Road will have on trees and the need for full
surveys to establish impact on trees.

Countryside Officer

No objection
 Subject to conditions to secure a Construction
Environmental Management Plan for Biodiversity and
a Biodiversity Enhancement Plan.

Urban Design Officer

Comments
 The Case Officer will provide feedback on urban
design.
 Detailed design issues will be dealt with at reserved
matters stage.

Housing Development
Officer

No objection
 Subject to a S106 to secure affordable housing to the
council’s standards.

Drainage Officer

No objection
 Subject to a condition to secure a surface water
drainage scheme.

Air Quality Officer

No objection
 Subject to a condition to secure best practice
principles to reduce the developments contribution to
poor air quality.
 Commented that the Edge Road will be essential to
provide long term air quality mitigation for Watlington
Town Centre and reduce pollution concentrations
within the Air Quality Management Area.

Contaminated Land
Officer

No objection
 Subject to a condition to secure a phased risk
assessment.

Environmental
Protection Officer

No objection
 Subject to conditions to protect future residents from
noise from the road and that provision is made for
the control of noise and dust during development.

Page 52

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

Waste Management
Officer

3.0
3.1

No objection
 General guidance provided on storage and collection
of waste.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
There is no relevant planning history on the application site. However, there are
applications on the surrounding sites that are relevant in so far as they relate to the
provision and delivery of the Edge Road. The plan below is OCC’s Suggested
Alignment Drawing from their Options Assessment Report of March 2021:

In summary:
Site A is allocated for housing in the Watlington Neighbourhood Development Plan
(WNDP) and was granted full planning permission for 183 homes in 2020 following an
appeal (P17/S3231/O). Delivery on this site is well progressed.
Sites B and C are allocated for housing in the WNDP and were considered by
Councillors at a Planning Committee meeting in January 2021 (P19/S1927/O and
P19/S1928/O). Following a resolution to grant the legal agreements accompanying
these applications were completed and outline planning permission granted in
January 2022. Applications for reserved matters on these sites are expected
imminently.
PYR2 is the application site.
PYR1 is allocated for housing in the Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan (PNP). This site
received outline permission for 37 retirement apartments, a care home and 4 staff
accommodation units in 2019 following a resolution to grant from the Planning
Committee (P18/S0002/O). Reserved matters consent was granted in 2020

Page 53

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

(P19/S2380/RM) again following a resolution to grant from the Planning Committee.
Development on this site is well underway.
3.2

It is noted that sites A, B and C deliver the sections of the Edge Road that are
necessary to deliver the housing on these sites. The legal agreements that are linked
to these planning permissions secure land to be transferred to OCC to provide the
links between the sites, including the roundabout between sites A and B. The legal
agreement attached to the permission on PYR1 also secured land for OCC to deliver
the roundabout at the junction with the B40089 Shirburn Road.

4.0
4.1

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
The council issued a Screening Opinion for this proposal under reference
P16/S3794/SCR in October 2017. This confirmed that an Environmental Impact
Assessment is not required. All issues are of local significance only and can be
examined through the normal planning process.

5.0
5.1

POLICY & GUIDANCE
Development Plan Policies
In the case of South Oxfordshire, the development plan consists of the South
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035, which was adopted on 10 December 2020, and any
relevant Neighbourhood Development Plans (NDPs). Both Pyrton and Watlington have
NDPs and these therefore also form part of the development plan.
South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2035
The SOLP 2035 includes policy TRANS3, which specifies land safeguarded for
strategic transport schemes, including land for a bypass for Watlington. The
safeguarded route is shown on the map below:

Other relevant policies are:
STRAT2 - South Oxfordshire Housing and Employment Requirements
STRAT5 - Residential Densities
H1 - Delivering New Homes
H11 - Housing Mix
H9 - Affordable Housing
INF1 - Infrastructure Provision
INF3 - Telecommunications Technology

Page 54

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

INF4 - Water Resources
TRANS1B - Supporting Strategic Transport Investment
TRANS2 - Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility
TRANS4 - Transport Assessments, Transport Statements and Travel Plans
TRANS5 - Consideration of Development Proposals
ENV1 - Landscape and Countryside
ENV2 - Biodiversity - Designated sites, Priority Habitats and Species
ENV3 - Biodiversity
ENV5 - Green Infrastructure in New Developments
ENV6 - Historic Environment
ENV7 - Listed Buildings
ENV8 - Conservation Areas
ENV9 - Archaeology and Scheduled Monuments
ENV10 - Historic Battlefields, Registered Park and Gardens and Historic Landscapes
ENV12 - Pollution - Impact of Development on Human Health etc.
DES1 - Delivering High Quality Development
DES2 - Enhancing Local Character
DES3 - Design and Access Statements
DES4 - Masterplans for Allocated Sites and Major Development
DES5 - Outdoor Amenity Space
DES6 - Residential Amenity
DES7 - Efficient Use of Resources
DES8 - Promoting Sustainable Design
DES9 – Renewable and Low Carbon Energy
DES10 - Carbon Reduction
EP1 - Air Quality
EP3 - Waste collection and Recycling
EP4 - Flood Risk
CF5 - Open Space, Sport and Recreation in New Residential Development
Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan (PNP) 2019 – 2034
The application site has a site-specific policy in the PNP. Policy BNE4 identifies the
site as a ‘local gap’ as shown on the plan below taken from the PNP.

Page 55

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

Other relevant PNP policies are:
BNE1 – Historic Environment
BNE2 – Landscape character
BNE5 – Flood risk and drainage
BNE6 – Footpaths and bridleways
C2 – Development contributions
H2 – Types of new homes
D1 – Detailed design criteria
Watlington Neighbourhood Development Plan (WNDP) 2017 – 2033
The WNDP allocates three housing sites in an arc north and west of the town taking
account of the likely route of the Edge Road. The map below is taken from the WNDP
and shows the allocated housing sites (A, B and C) and an indicative route for the edge
road:

Other relevant policies are:
P1 – Protect and enhance the character and the historic setting of the town
P2 – Transport
P3 – Conserve and enhance the natural environment
P8 – Physical and social infrastructure
5.2

Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG) (November 2016)
Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document (April 2016)
Chilterns AONB Management Plan 2019-2024
The Chilterns Buildings Design Guide

5.3

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning Practice Guidance
(PPG)

5.4

Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been considered in the processing
of the application and the preparation of this report.
Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application, the council has regard to its equalities
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.
Page 56

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

6.0
6.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The relevant planning considerations in the determination of this application are:


The principle of the development



Matters of detail / technical issues:
- traffic impact and highway safety,
- air quality,
- landscape and character,
- trees and ecology,
- heritage,
- neighbour amenity and amenity of future residents,
- environmental matters (flooding, drainage and contamination),
- carbon reduction and environmental sustainability,
- affordable housing and housing mix.



Infrastructure requirements:
- infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement,
- contributions pooled under the Community Infrastructure Levy.

The principle of the development
6.2

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. This is outlined at para 12 of the NPPF:
“Where a planning application conflicts with an up-to-date development plan
(including any neighbourhood plans that form part of the development plan),
permission should not usually be granted. Local planning authorities may take
decisions that depart from an up-to-date development plan, but only if material
considerations in a particular case indicate that the plan should not be followed.”

6.3

The site is not within the built-up area of a settlement and is not a site specifically
allocated for housing. The application site is therefore not a location where the
principle of new housing is supported by the housing policies in the SOLP 2035. The
proposals therefore conflict with an up-to-date development plan and as such, should
not usually be granted.

6.4

Furthermore, the site is identified under policy BNE4 of the PNP as a ‘local gap.’ This
policy seeks to prevent coalescence between the separate settlements of Pyrton and
Watlington to protect their distinctive individual characters and settings. The proposed
development of up to 100 dwellings on this ‘local gap’ will harm the open character of
the gap and reduce the rural buffer between Pyrton and Watlington. The proposal is
therefore in conflict with policy BNE4 of the PNP. This conflict provides a further
reason why the proposed development is contrary to an up-to-date development plan
and as such, should not usually be granted.

6.5

Although the proposal is contrary to the development plan, I consider that there are
material considerations in this case that indicate that the development plan should not
be followed. This is because the proposed development will play a significant role in
the delivery of the Edge Road. The Edge Road is an essential piece of infrastructure
that will provide long-term mitigation for growth locally. It will also secure much needed
relief to the already heavily congested Watlington town centre, which is designated as
an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA). The benefits of the Edge Road are therefore
substantial.
Page 57

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

6.6

The proposal will deliver a section of the Edge Road. It will also secure the necessary
land for OCC to provide the elements of the Edge Road that they will deliver to
complete the route. The developer will also be required to pay a financial contribution
to provide funding towards the stretches of the edge road that OCC will provide. These
matters can be secured through the provisions of a Section 106 legal agreement.

6.7

As the delivery of the Edge Road is the reason why the application is recommended to
be determined otherwise than in accordance with the development plan, I consider it
reasonable and necessary that the permission is restricted by a Grampian condition to
ensure that the proposed development is coordinated with OCC’s project to deliver the
sections of the Edge Road that do not yet have planning permission. This condition will
provide certainty that the development will not be implemented unless OCC have
received planning permission for the remaining sections of the Edge Road.
Matters of detail / technical issues

6.8

6.9

Traffic impact and highway safety
Policy TRANS3 of the SOLP 2035 identifies several transport infrastructure
improvements required to support growth and this includes a bypass for Watlington.
Land for a bypass is safeguarded in the Local Plan to support its delivery. Although
this application does not apply for the bypass (or “Edge Road”) its route through the site
is shown on the plans and the route is different from the route safeguarded in the Local
Plan.
The change to the route of the Edge Road through the application site is a result of
engagement between OCC and key stakeholders. The route shown on the application
plans creates a greater separation between the Edge Road and the heritage assets to
the north. It will also allow a green gap to be retained between the built development
on the edge of Watlington and the village of Pyrton.

6.10 Although the extent of this gap is not what was envisaged in the PNP, it will ensure that
some level of visual and physical separation is retained between Watlington and
Pyrton. The route of the Edge Road that has evolved through discussions with key
stakeholders, and is shown on the application plans, is therefore an acceptable
alternative to the safeguarded route. OCCs current timetable to submit their planning
application for the sections of the Edge Road that they will deliver is late summer 2022
with implementation currently scheduled for 2023.
6.11 The Grampian condition to restrict development on this site until OCCs planning
application for the remaining sections of the Edge Road is approved means that there
is a level of certainty that this site will only be delivered in combination with the Edge
Road. The Edge Road will provide long-term mitigation for the additional traffic
movements associated with the development and the highways officer at OCC has no
objection to the application in terms of traffic impact.
6.12 The details of the arrangements to access the 100 homes proposed on the site are not
shown on the submitted plans. This is because the application is an outline application
with all matters reserved for future consideration, including access. Depending on the
timeframes that the different parties work to, the proposed access onto Pyrton Lane
may have been implemented by OCC ahead of the works on the application site.
6.13 The documents accompanying the application do show interim access arrangements
onto Pyrton Lane that, if necessary, can be provided prior to OCC delivering the Edge
Road junction. The highway officer at OCC has confirmed that these arrangements are

Page 58

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

acceptable in principle but will be subject to detailed submission at reserved matters
stage. The parameter plans show a single access from the Edge Road into the
housing site, and this will need to be reflected on the reserved matters submission.
6.14 The application site is relatively accessible. There is a Public Right of Way (PRoW)
that runs along the south-west boundary of the site. This PRoW leads to Pyrton Lane
to the west and extends around the side of ICC to join Love Lane to the south. On-site
and off-site works are required to improve this PRoW to provide an improved
pedestrian / cycle way from Pyrton Lane to Love Lane and this can be secured through
the provisions of the Section 106 legal agreement. The reserved matters submission
must secure appropriate provision for sustainable travel within the site.
6.15 Subject to the conditions recommended by the highways officer, and the completion of
a S106 legal agreement to secure the land for the Edge Road and the other transport
mitigation measures, I am satisfied that the proposed development accords with the
relevant transport policies in the development plan. It is noted that the wider proposals
for the Edge Road include closing part of Pyrton Lane, adjacent to Pyrton Manor, to
vehicular traffic. Changes to this section of Pyrton Lane will be captured in OCC’s
planning application for the remaining sections of the Edge Road.
Air quality
6.16 The traffic pressures on Watlington town centre that cause congestion also have a
negative impact on air quality. The air pollution problem in Watlington is based on
congestion levels in an area of narrow streets and relatively high sided buildings
creating a ‘street canyon’ effect with pollutants unable to disperse effectively.
Watlington Town Centre is an AQMA as the levels of pollutants in the air have reached
those identified by the government as harmful to health and are in breach of what is
called the ‘national air quality objectives.’
6.17 The council’s air quality officer is supportive of the Edge Road as it is a real opportunity
to enhance and improve local air quality. The proposal would directly deliver part of the
Edge Road, provide land for the Edge Road, and contribute to off-site sections through
a financial contribution. The development would therefore play an essential part in
delivering the Edge Road and improving air quality in the centre of Watlington.
6.18 The proposals would also incorporate air quality mitigation measures including electric
vehicle charging points, sustainable travel packs and cycle storage. These measures
can be secured via a condition. The proposal therefore complies with the relevant
policies in the development plan.
Landscape and character
6.19 Whilst the site lies outside of the Chilterns AONB, it is within its setting. Section 85 of
the Countryside and Rights of Way Act requires regard to be paid to the purposes of
conserving and enhancing AONBs. The terminologies are slightly different but policy
ENV1 of the SOLP 2035, policy BNE2 of the PNP and para.176 of the NPPF seek
broadly similar objectives.
6.20 The town of Watlington and its relationship with the surrounding rural areas (including
Pyrton) is visible in the panoramic views from Watlington Hill, which is within the AONB.
These views are impressive and much public benefit is derived from this open access
National Trust site. Development on the application site should therefore be treated
with great care as it has the potential to erode and harm the setting of the AONB.
6.21 When reviewing the most recently updated parameter plans, the council’s landscape
officer raised concern with respect to the impact on the setting of the ANOB. As a

Page 59

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

result of these concerns, the applicant has provided a further amendment to the
parameter plans to show the built form up to two storeys and a maximum of 9m in
height (reduced from 2.5 storeys and 11.5m previously). In my opinion the reduced
scale of development is more appropriate on this sensitive rural edge.
6.22 Landscaping will play an important part in helping to mitigate the impact of the
proposed development on the setting of the AONB. The density of the development on
this site will be low, which is necessary given its sensitive surroundings, and will allow
sufficient space for a robust landscaping scheme.
6.23 The reserved matters layout should incorporate streets that are wide enough to
accommodate trees. The detailed landscaping scheme should include a mix of full
canopied, tall growing long-lived native species that will grow above the roof line and
help soften and assimilate the development in the long term. The landscaping adjacent
to the recreation area should also be strengthened and a planted edge should be
created within the site, between the Edge Road and the housing.
6.24 The choice of roofing and building materials will also be very important in limiting the
effect of the proposed development in elevated views from the AONB. Materials should
be of a soft natural appearance and, given the proximity to and visibility from the AONB,
reference should be made to the Chilterns Buildings Design Guide. Harsh, brightly
coloured and shiny materials will exacerbate the effects on views.
6.25 Given that the site is within an intrinsically dark sky location, the lighting strategy should
seek to achieve an exemplary design standard in accordance with the Chilterns AONB
Management Plan. To safeguard the dark night skies of the AONB, lighting should only
be used where and when needed and should be the minimum required. Lighting
details can be secured via a condition.
6.26 Together, the layout of the development, the level of landscaping, choice of materials
and details of lighting will all help to mitigate the overall impact of the development on
the setting of the AONB. To ensure that the council has control over any future
alterations to the homes that may impact on the character of the AONB, I consider it
necessary to remove permitted development rights for any alterations or extension to
the roofs of the new homes. With these measures in place, I am satisfied that the
proposed development will conserve the special qualities of the adjoining AONB, in
accordance with the relevant development plan policies.
6.27 The detailed appearance, layout and scale of the development will all be considered at
reserved matters stage. These matters will need to comply with the submitted
parameter plans, which restrict the location of the built form and its height. A reserved
matters application should comply with the guidance in the council’s Design Guide and
the relevant design policies in the development plan. It is recommended that the
developer continues to work with PPC to develop a detailed scheme that is appropriate
to the character of the area and reflects local distinctiveness.
Trees and ecology
6.28 None of the trees within this site are protected by a tree preservation order. The
creation of an access onto Pyrton Lane will require the removal of a small number of
low value trees and a section of hedgerow, none of which are of sufficient quality to be
considered a constraint to the development.
6.29 There are trees beyond the site boundary that that are protected as they are within
Pyrton CA and Shirburn CA / RPG. These trees, to the north-east and north-west of
the site (on the opposite side of Pyrton Lane), have a high amenity value and are

Page 60

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

important features given the historical context in which they are located. Any damage
to these trees would not be supported.
6.30 A reserved matters scheme for the access onto Pyrton Lane opposite Shirburn CA /
RPG to the north-east of the site will need to ensure that any widening or improvement
works to the highway take place predominately within the application site. The junction
of the Edge Road to the north-west (opposite Pyrton CA) will be determined through
OCC’s planning application for the remaining sections of the Edge Road and the
reserved matters application on WATC.
6.31 The council’s forestry officer has highlighted that a reserved matters application will
need to incorporate significant space for tree planting to help assimilate the
development into its setting. For any new tree planting within hard surface areas tree
pit designs must be able to provide the trees with access to suitable volumes of soil that
is in an oxygenated, hydrated and un-compacted form (25cu.m for each tree). A tree
planting scheme will need to be developed in unison with drainage, service routes,
highway layouts, vison splays and lighting layouts to avoid conflicts that would prevent
the trees from being implemented or becoming established in the future.
6.32 The council’s countryside officer has confirmed that the site is not subject to any
ecological designations and the proposals are unlikely to lead to any significant impacts
on off-site designated sites. The main habitats on the site are not suitable for
supporting any significant populations of protected species. Given the low value of the
main habitats on the site, and the number of homes proposed, the site will be able to
provide a net gain in biodiversity.
6.33 Subject to the conditions outlined by the council’s forestry officer and countryside
officer, I am satisfied that up to 100 homes can be accommodated on this site in a
manner that accords with the relevant development plan polices. The details of the
access will be crucial to ensure that there will be no adverse impact on the trees that
form the boundary to Shirburn CA / RPG.
Heritage
6.34 Although there are no designated heritage assets on the site, the site is adjacent to
Shirburn CA / RPG and Pyrton CA. These designated areas also contain several listed
buildings including the Grade I Shirburn Castle and II* Pyrton Manor. These assets
have a relationship with the application site in as much as the area forms part of their
wider setting, contributing to their significance and the experience of them.
6.35 In considering whether to grant planning permission, the statutory test in section 66 (1)
of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires the
decision maker to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the setting of
listed buildings. In relation to conservation areas, section 72 (1) of the Act requires
special attention to be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character
and appearance of that area.
6.36 The architecture of Pyrton Manor is designed to look to the south-east, across the
application site. The main range is a cell deep, meaning that all the rooms benefit from
views across the open parkland towards the Chilterns AONB and from first and second
floor levels the hills are very visible above and between the mature tree line along the
Estates current eastern boundary.
6.37 Under previous iterations of the proposal, the council’s conservation officer raised
concern that there is likely to be some visual alteration to the wider setting of Pyrton
Manor from built form and in particular from light pollution at darker times of day and

Page 61

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

night-time, when the existing undeveloped landscape to the Chilterns will be broken by
street lighting and houses.
6.38 Following the submission of the most recent parameter plans, the council’s
conservation officer has confirmed that she has no objection to the proposal. These
parameter plans show the Edge Road pulled away from Pyrton Manor with space for
landscaping in the intervening gap. Although this application does not apply for the
majority of the Edge Road through the site, there is a strong link between the proposed
housing and the delivery of the Edge Road, and it is therefore important that the wider
scheme is developed to limit the impact on the surrounding heritage assets.
6.39 The updated parameter plans include the addition of a 15m deep landscape strip along
the edge of the Pyrton Buffer and this is welcome as it will provide an opportunity to
incorporate significant intervening landscaping to help screen the development from
Pyrton Manor. It is disappointing that this landscape buffer is not continued along the
land to be transferred to the school. To compensate for this, and to provide a further
layer of landscaping between the Edge Road and Pyrton Manor, it is recommended
that the proposals for the Edge Road incorporate tree planting.
6.40 In relation to the impact on the setting of Shirburn CA / RPG and the associated listed
buildings, the council’s conservation officers’ main concerns relate to the potential
impact on trees adjacent to the access to the site. As indicated by the council’s forestry
officer, the design of this junction is critical to ensure that the trees are protected.
6.41 The council’s conservation officer considers that overall, the proposal will result in less
than substantial harm to the significance of the surrounding heritage assets. As
outlined in paragraph 199 of the NPPF, irrespective of whether the harm amounts to
less than substantial harm, great weight should be given to an asset’s conservation and
less than substantial harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the
proposal.
6.42 In this case, the proposal will deliver housing, including affordable housing, and this has
significant public benefits. The proposed development will also play an important part
in the delivery of the Edge Road, which will provide traffic mitigation for growth locally
and have positive impacts on Watlington town centre in terms of congestion and air
quality. The reduction in traffic in Watlington town centre will also have further benefits
in terms of improving the quality of the public realm. In my opinion, these public
benefits are substantial and outweigh the less than substantial harm to the setting of
the surrounding heritage assets.
6.43 Subject to mitigation, including a robust landscaping strategy, I consider that up to 100
homes can be accommodated on this site in a manner that would accord with the
relevant heritage policies in the development plan. The details of the development
submitted at reserved matters stage will need to be appropriately sensitive in terms of
design and particularly the materials used. The level of street lighting will also need to
be carefully considered and this can be secured through a condition.
6.44 The application site is also in an area of archaeological interest. Subject to planning
conditions for an Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation and a programme of
archaeological investigation, the proposal would be in accordance with the relevant
development plan policies that seek to identify, record, analyse and archive historic
assets before they are lost.

Page 62

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

Neighbour amenity and amenity of future residents
6.45 Given the distance to neighbouring properties, the proposal would not result in any
adverse impacts on neighbouring amenity in terms of a loss of light, overlooking or an
overbearing impact. Some of the neighbour representations received comment on the
potential for activities on the existing allotments to the south-west of the site to impact
on future residents of the development. It is usual for allotments to be located close to
housing and there is housing to the other side of the allotments.
6.46 The council’s environmental protection officer has commented about the potential for
noise from the Edge Road to impact on future residents. He has requested an acoustic
assessment of road traffic and, if necessary, mitigation measures to protect the
dwellings from the external noise environment. This can be secured via a condition.
6.47 In terms of the amenity of future residents, this will be assessed at reserved matters
stage when the details of the layout can be considered. The proposals will need to
comply with relevant standards in relation to separation distances and garden sizes and
these are outlined in the SODG.
Environmental matters (flooding, drainage and contamination)
6.48 The application site is within Flood Zone 1 (least probability of flooding). The council’s
drainage engineer has considered the submitted Flood Risk Assessment and
accompanying information. He has raised no objection to the development subject to
conditions to secure appropriate surface and foul water drainage schemes.
6.49 Following initial investigations, Thames Water has identified an inability of the existing
foul water network infrastructure to accommodate the needs of the development.
Thames Water have therefore requested a condition requiring on-site and off-site
drainage works to be approved. This also includes the requirement that no discharge
of foul or surface water from the site shall be accepted into the public system until the
drainage works referred to in the strategy have been completed. These matters can be
secured through appropriately worded conditions.
6.50 The council’s contaminated land officer has considered the submitted Desk Study
which makes recommendations for intrusive ground investigations to assess areas of
potential contamination associated with farm buildings and an adjacent industrial use.
Conditions are required to ensure that any land contamination is addressed as part of
any development.
Carbon reduction and environmental sustainability
6.51 Policies DES8 and DES9 encourage the use of environmental sustainability measures
and renewable energy at all scales. Furthermore, Policy DES10 requires a 40%
reduction in carbon emissions over a code 2013 Building Regulations base case. As
the application is in outline, a fabric first approach to environmental sustainability can
be secured through a planning condition for an energy statement and associated
measures.

Page 63

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

Affordable housing and housing mix
6.52 Policy H9 of the SOLP 2035 requires developments to deliver affordable housing to
meet the needs of the district. The proposal will provide 40 percent of the new homes
as affordable homes and based on a scheme of 100 dwellings, the following tenure mix
would be required to comply policy H9:
Tenure mix
Affordable rent
Social rent
Home ownership

Percentage

Number of units

40%
35%
25%

16
14
10

As the application is in outline with a description of “up to 100 dwellings” this is subject
to change if the reserved matters show a lower number of homes.
6.53 In relation to the size of the affordable homes, the council’s housing development
officer has set out a mix of unit sizes that would best meet the needs of the district.
This is set out below:
Unit size

Affordable rent

Social rent

Home ownership

I bed / 2 person flat
2 bed / 4 person flat /
maisonette
2 bed / 4 person house
3 bed / 5-person house
3 bed / 6 person house

8
8

-

-

-

6
5
3

6
4
-

Total

16

14

10

As with the tenure mix, if the reserved matters propose less than 100 new homes then
the unit sizes will be altered accordingly. The delivery of the affordable housing will be
secured under a section 106 legal agreement.
6.54 The reserved matters should show that the affordable homes are mixed with the market
dwellings and distributed evenly across the site in clusters of no more than 15 homes.
The affordable housing should be designed to be indistinguishable in appearance from
the market housing.
6.55 In terms of market housing, as the application is in outline, the mix is not yet known.
An appropriate mix to meet the needs of the district can be secured under the reserved
matters through a condition requiring the mix to be informed by the most up-to-date
housing needs assessment.
Infrastructure requirements
Infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement
6.56 Where necessary to mitigate the impact of a development, on-site and off-site
infrastructure can be secured through a legal agreement under Section 106 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). In this case, both SODC and
OCC will be party to the agreement as the proposed development impacts on functions
that each council operates / is responsible for.

Page 64

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

6.57 SODC:
The S106 legal agreement will secure the on-site affordable housing in accordance with
the requirements of the council’s housing development officer. The open space within
the development area will also be secured through the S106 and this will include a play
space with a minimum of six pieces of equipment. The S106 will secure the long-term
management and maintenance of the open space by a Management Company.
6.58 The S106 will also contain provisions to enable the transfer of some of the land to the
north of the site, beyond the Edge Road, to PPC. This land, referred to as the ‘Pyrton
Buffer,’ provides a gap between Pyrton and Watlington. PPC have expressed an
interest in taking on the ownership and management of this land to ensure that it
remains open in perpetuity. The S106 will therefore include a requirement for this land
to be offered to PPC with a sum of £168,000 to contribute towards the long-term
management and maintenance of the land. The landscape mitigation for the
development includes planting around the boundaries of the Pyrton Buffer and so this
will need to be carried out by the developer ahead of the transfer of the land to PPC.
6.59 In accordance with the council’s S106 Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning
Document, the following index linked financial contributions would be required towards
on-site infrastructure:
-

Provision of recycling / refuse bins - £186 per dwelling
Street naming and numbering - £229 per 10 dwellings
Public art - £306 per dwelling
Administration and monitoring fee - £4,296

6.60 OCC:
In relation to education, there is insufficient capacity to accommodate the expected
increase in demand from housing growth in the area, including this application, for early
years education and secondary education. The following contributions are therefore
required to expand capacity and to mitigate the impact of this development:
-

Early years education - £113,268
Secondary education - £597,816

It is noted that the application is outline and therefore the above level of contributions
would be subject to amendment, should the final unit mix result in an increase in pupil
generation.
6.61 The current site area of ICC is under the recommended size and additional playing field
area is therefore required. Land to accommodate the expansion of ICC is shown on
the submitted plans and this will need to be secured through the provisions of the S106
agreement. The applicant has agreed to transfer 2.2ha of land to OCC free of charge.
As such, this proposal will deliver an acceptable solution to accommodate the identified
needs for expanding the secondary school, if needed.
6.62 In the longer term, if the strategic development at Chalgrove Airfield progresses, the
intention is to relocate ICC to the Chalgrove Airfield site. In this scenario, the land on
the application site will not be required for the expansion of ICC. The S106 will include
provisions that if the land is not required by OCC to expand ICC, then the applicant will
offer the land to PPC. If OCC take on the school land and decide later that they do not
require it, the S106 will also cover this scenario, requiring OCC to offer the land to PPC.
6.63 The school land will also have a restriction that it will only be used “as a school playing
field and ancillary uses for a school playing field and temporary uses associated with

Page 65

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

the school or for recreation as part of an area of Public Open Space.” In combination
with the provisions to transfer the land to PPC if no longer required for the school
expansion, this will ensure that the land remains open so at least part of the gap
between Pyrton and Watlington is retained.
6.64 With regards to highways, OCC require the following contributions / obligations to
mitigate the impact of the development:
Contributions
- Funding towards cost of Edge Road delivered by OCC - £7,400 per dwelling
- Public transport services - £1,000 per dwelling
- Public transport infrastructure - £19,852
- Travel plan monitoring - £1,200
- Administration and monitoring fee - TBC
Obligations
- Provision of Edge Road to specification for section of spine road serving the
development.
- Access to and dedication of land necessary for OCC to construct part of the Edge
Road and associated infrastructure, school drop off loop with footway to the school,
drainage etc, within the site, including temporary use of land for works compound.
- Pedestrian/cycle improvements forming an approved route from Love Lane to
Pyrton Lane.
6.65 It is noted that the land for the relief road connection is of sufficient size to provide
some flexibility for the design of the junction onto Pyrton Lane. Because of this, there is
likely to be some surplus land left over once the Edge Road is constructed that will
need to be landscaped. Subject to this land not being required for drainage or visibility
splays, there may be potential for this to be offered to PPC to incorporate into the
Pyrton Buffer. This matter can be considered further during the drafting of the S106.
6.66 I consider that all of these contributions / obligations accord with policy INF1 of the
SOLP 2035 which requires new development to be supported by appropriate on and
off-site infrastructure and services. They accord with the relevant tests in the NPPF as
they are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, are directly
related to the development and are fair and reasonably related in scale and kind to the
development.
Contributions pooled under the Community Infrastructure Levy
6.67 The council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) in 2016. This enables
money to be collected from certain types of development to be pooled together with
other developments to fund a wide range of infrastructure to support growth, including
schools, transport, community, leisure, and health facilities. The development is CIL
liable at a rate of £150 per sq.m (index linked from 2016 and as of January 2022
£181.09 per sq.m), although relief can be claimed for the affordable housing.
6.68 It is noted that OCCG has objected to the proposal as primary care funding is required
as a direct result of the population growth arising from this development. The council’s
CIL Spending Strategy apportions 20 percent of CIL to community health care. OCCG
are eligible to apply for this funding to deliver projects to support growth.
6.69 Under the CIL Regulations, as PPC have a Neighbourhood Plan, they will receive 25
percent of the CIL collected from this development. The neighbourhood proportion of
the levy can be spent on a wider range of things than the rest of the levy, provided that
it meets the requirement to ‘support the development of the area’. The wider definition

Page 66

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

means that the neighbourhood portion can be spent on things other than infrastructure
provided it is concerned with addressing the demands that development places on the
parish’s area.
Other matters
6.70 In accordance with policy H11 of the SOLP 2035, a percentage of dwellings should be
designed to meet the Building Regulations Part M requirement of accessible and
adaptable dwellings and wheelchair accessible dwellings. There is also a requirement
in the SOLP for some of the dwellings to meet Nationally Described Space Standards.
These matters can be secured through conditions.
6.71 The approval of this site would make a small but important contribution to the council’s
supply of housing land. The NPPF recognises that small and medium sized sites can
make an important contribution to meeting the housing requirement of an area and are
often built-out relatively quickly.
7.0
7.1

CONCLUSION
The proposed development for up to 100 homes with associated infrastructure is
contrary to the development plan. The proposal does not accord with the housing
policies and conflicts with a Neighbourhood Plan ‘local gap’ policy. However, in this
case, there are material considerations that indicate that the application should be
determined otherwise than in accordance with the development plan.

7.2

The proposed development will play a significant role in the delivery of the Watlington
Edge Road. The Edge Road is an essential piece of infrastructure that will provide
long-term mitigation for growth locally. It will also secure much needed relief to the
already heavily congested Watlington town centre, which is designated as an Air
Quality Management Area. The reduction in traffic in Watlington town centre will also
improve the quality of the public realm. The benefits of the Edge Road are therefore
substantial.

7.3

The proposal would directly deliver part of the Edge Road, provide land for the Edge
Road, and contribute to off-site sections through a financial contribution. The proposed
development is therefore an essential component in the delivery of this important
infrastructure project.

7.4

The parameter plans submitted with the application demonstrate that up to 100 homes
can be accommodated on this site. Because of the sensitivity of the surrounding
landscape and heritage assets, the details of the development at reserved matters
stage will need careful consideration and a robust landscaping scheme will be required
to assimilate the development into its surroundings.

7.5

When considered against the development plan as a whole, the proposal represents a
sustainable form of development and there valid reasons to grant outline planning
permission.

8.0
8.1

RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that authority to grant outline planning permission is
delegated to the Head of Planning subject to:
i)

The prior completion of a Section 106 agreement to secure the
affordable housing, financial contributions and other obligations
stated above, and

ii)

The following conditions:

Page 67

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

Standard
1. Reserved matters of appearance, landscaping, layout, scale and access to
be submitted
2. Timeframe for submission of reserved matters - within three years
3. Commencement – not later than two years following approval of last
reserved matters
4. Development to be in accordance with approved plans
To be submitted with reserved matters
5. Plans showing no more than 100 dwellings within the 3.25 ha built form
area of the parameter plan
6. Market mix designed to meet housing needs
7. The following details:
- an energy statement (including SAP calculations demonstrating how
the development will achieve at least a 40% reduction in carbon
emissions compared with code 2013 Building Regulations and details
of how this will be monitored)
- a schedule of external materials
- a lighting plan
- boundary treatments
- details of all street furniture
- existing and proposed ground levels
- maintenance schedule and long-term management plan for soft
landscaping
- a plan showing drainage, service routes, highway layouts, vison
splays and lighting alongside the landscaping
- waste and recycling facilities
- details of roads, accesses, footpaths and services
- vehicle and cycle parking facilities
8. Biodiversity Enhancement Plan to be approved concurrent with reserved
matters
Pre-commencement
9. Phasing plan detailing phasing of Edge Road and housing to be submitted
for approval
10. Details of off-site highway works to be submitted for approval
11. Construction Traffic Management Plan to be submitted for approval
12. Green Travel Plan to be submitted for approval
13. Environmental Management Plan for Biodiversity to be submitted for
approval
14. Tree and hedge protection to be submitted for approval
15. Archaeological written scheme of investigation to be submitted for
approval
16. Staged programme of archaeological evaluation and mitigation to be
carried out
17. Surface water drainage scheme to be submitted for approval
18. Foul water drainage scheme to be submitted for approval (including both
on-site and off-site works)
19. Phased contaminated land risk assessment to be submitted for approval
20. Noise assessment for Edge Road and any necessary mitigation to be
submitted for approval

Page 68

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

Prior to first occupation
21. Access to be formed in accordance with specifications
22. Contaminated land remediation strategy and validation report to be
submitted for approval
23. Implementation of energy efficiency measures and Verification Report to
be submitted for approval
24. Air quality mitigation measures (including electric vehicle charging) to be
submitted for approval
25. Measures to provide superfast broadband connectivity to be submitted for
approval
26. Details of play areas and timetable for implementation to be submitted for
approval
Compliance
27. No development shall commence until the OCC planning application for
the remaining section of the Edge Road is permitted
28. Restriction of permitted development rights for any roof alterations
29. Hours of construction
30. Accessibility and space standards
- At least 15% of market housing to meet Part M (4) Category 2
- At least 5% of affordable housing to meet Part M (4) Category 3
- All affordable housing and 1 and 2 bed market housing to meet
Nationally Described Space Standards

Author:
Emma Bowerman
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email:
planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 69

This page is intentionally left blank

P16/S2576/O
Agenda Item 9

Appendix A

Page 71

Key
Site Boundary
14.14Ha

Appendix B

Access & Movement
Relief Road Corridor & School
Drop off
Pyrton Lane Access Area

Illustrative Site Access

pt
h)

Illustrative Primary Movement
Corridor
de

Existing Footpath Link

um

15

m

et

re
s

Public Right of Way

(m

in

im

Illustrative Proposed Footpath Link
Illustrative Pedestrian/Cycle
Connections

Land Use
Potential Future School
Expansion Land
Development Area

Land Uses include Public Open Space / Streets /
Drainage Areas / Front Gardens / Pedestrian Links
- 30% of land within this area to be public open
spaces, drainage areas, pedestrian links

Built Form Area

Illustrative Proposed Play Space
Location

Land Use

(approximat

Pyrton Buffer, Open Space
Landscape Mitigation
(minimum 15m depth)

Public Open Space adjacent to PYR1
(approximate 25m depth)

Existing, Retained Trees & Hedgerows
Except for Access & Movement requirements

0

Page 72

Copyright Pegasus Planning Group Ltd. Crown copyright. All rights reserved. Ordnance Survey Copyright Licence number 100042093. Promap Licence number 100020449. Emapsite Licence number 0100031673 Standard OS licence rights conditions apply.
Pegasus accepts no liability for any use of this document other than for its original purpose, or by the original client, or following Pegasus’ express agreement to such use. T 01285 641717 www.pegasuspg.co.uk

e 25 metre

s depth)

Up to 2 Storeys, 9m

Planning | Design | Environment | Economics | Heritage
East Midlands
www.pegasusgroup.co.uk

50

100 m
PGEM Notes:

PYR2, Watlington, South Oxfordshire - Parameter Plan

I Drawn by: JF / KC I Approved by: JF I Date: 18/01/22 I Scale: 1:2000 @ A2 I DRG: P18-1807_005PYR Sheet No: 01 Rev: E I Client: Providence Land I

Projects/P18-1001 - 200
Pyrton Lane/04 All Incom
16.48.47.png
Group

Processed By: James F

Key
Site Boundary
Residential Development
Circa 3.52Ha

Watlington Relief Road

Residential Site Access

Street & Lanes

Shared Private Drive

WOODLAND
AREA

n

La

ne

Cycle Connections

Py

rto

Pyrton Lane for Walking and
Cycling Only

rto
n

B4

Py

Potential Pedestrian
Connections at Site Boundary

00
9

PYRTON BUFFER BEFORE
LAND TRANSFER

POND

La

ne

Play Space
Purple - LEAP. Pink - Trim Trail

Illustrative Drainage Basin and
Swales
Existing Trees and Hedgerows

PRO

POS

ENTRANCE
GREEN

ED

REL

IEF

ROA

D

ROAD
CROSSING

Potential Landscape Strategy

Pyrton Community Green - Community Feedback
Sta

tio

TRIM
TRAIL

nR

oad

CENTRAL
GREEN

00
B4

PEDESTRIAN
GATEWAY INTO
SCHOOL

9

SCHOOL
DROP OFF

LEAP

WATLINGTON
RECREATION GROUND

Sh

irb

urn

Ro

ad

ALLOTMENT
GARDENS

0

Page 73

Copyright Pegasus Planning Group Ltd. Crown copyright. All rights reserved. Ordnance Survey Copyright Licence number 100042093. Promap Licence number 100020449. Emapsite Licence number 0100031673 Standard OS licence rights conditions apply.
Pegasus accepts no liability for any use of this document other than for its original purpose, or by the original client, or following Pegasus’ express agreement to such use. T 01285 641717 www.pegasuspg.co.uk

ROAD
CROSSING

Planning | Design | Environment | Economics | Heritage
East Midlands
www.pegasusgroup.co.uk

50

100 m
PGEM Notes:

PYR2, Watlington, South Oxfordshire - Illustrative Masterplan

I Drawn by: JF / KC I Approved by: JF I Date: 21/10/21 I Scale: 1:2000 @ A2 I DRG: P18-1807_004PYR Sheet No: 01 Rev: A I Client: Providence Land I

Projects/P18-1001 - 200
Pyrton Lane/04 All Incom
16.48.47.png
Group

Processed By: James F

Key
Site Boundary
14.14Ha

OCC Land for Relief Road and School Drop Off
1.02Ha

Developer Retained
7.03Ha

Includes:
Land for Relief Road Connection
0.31Ha

Pyrton Buffer
3.89Ha

Includes:
Developer Mitigation Land
1.49Ha

School Expansion Site
2.20Ha

0

Page 74

Copyright Pegasus Planning Group Ltd. Crown copyright. All rights reserved. Ordnance Survey Copyright Licence number 100042093. Promap Licence number 100020449. Emapsite Licence number 0100031673 Standard OS licence rights conditions apply.
Pegasus accepts no liability for any use of this document other than for its original purpose, or by the original client, or following Pegasus’ express agreement to such use. T 01285 641717 www.pegasuspg.co.uk

Based on drawing:
P18-1807 001H-01 - PYR2 - Illustrative Masterplan

Planning | Design | Environment | Economics | Heritage
East Midlands
www.pegasusgroup.co.uk

50

100 m
PGEM Notes:

PYR2, Watlington, South Oxfordshire - Land Use Provision

I Drawn by: JF / KC I Approved by: JF I Date: 29/10/21 I Scale: 1:2000 @ A2 I DRG: P18-1807_002PYR Sheet No: 01 Rev: F I Client: Providence Land I

Projects/P18-1001 - 200
Pyrton Lane/04 All Incom
16.48.47.png
Group

Processed By: James F

Key
Site Boundary
14.14Ha

Watlington Relief Road & School
Drop-off
1.02Ha

Street Infrastructure
0.84Ha

School Expansion Site
2.20Ha

Pyrton Buffer
3.88Ha

Development
3.52Ha

Public Open Space - General Amenity
1.29Ha (includes circa 0.40Ha of drainage)

Public Open Space - Feature Spaces
1.31Ha

Public Open Space - Entrance Green
0.08Ha

0

Page 75

Copyright Pegasus Planning Group Ltd. Crown copyright. All rights reserved. Ordnance Survey Copyright Licence number 100042093. Promap Licence number 100020449. Emapsite Licence number 0100031673 Standard OS licence rights conditions apply.
Pegasus accepts no liability for any use of this document other than for its original purpose, or by the original client, or following Pegasus’ express agreement to such use. T 01285 641717 www.pegasuspg.co.uk

Based on drawing:
P18-1807 001G-01 - PYR2 - Illustrative Masterplan

Planning | Design | Environment | Economics | Heritage
East Midlands
www.pegasusgroup.co.uk

50

100 m
PGEM Notes:

PYR2, Watlington, South Oxfordshire - Open Space Provision

I Drawn by: JF / KC I Approved by: JF I Date: 21/10/21 I Scale: 1:2000 @ A2 I DRG: P18-1807_003PYR Sheet No: 01 Rev: B I Client: Providence Land I

Projects/P18-1001 - 200
Pyrton Lane/04 All Incom
16.48.47.png
Group

Processed By: James F

P16/S2576/O
Land off Pyrton Lane Watlington
Outline application for the erection of up to 100 residential dwellings
including vehicular access, public open space, car parking, landscaping
and drainage. (As amended by drawings and additional information
received 20 September 2016, 27 October 2016, 24 August 2017 and
13 June 2018, 22 Jul 2021,17 November 2021 and 7 December 2021).
This response is submitted on behalf of Pyrton Parish Council.
It should be acknowledged that this Planning Application deviates from the policies
contained in the Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan, and does not strictly comply with its
terms. [See Policy BNE4: Development proposals concerning the PYR 2 site “should
ensure the retention of the open character of the local gap and should not harm this,
either individually or cumulatively.”]
Nevertheless, the application has been significantly amended in the wake of long
discussions between Providence Land, Pyrton and Watlington Parish Councils,
Oxfordshire County Council and SODC. Pyrton Parish Council welcomes these
changes. In the light of them and prompted by the adoption of SODC’s Local Plan
2035, after consultation with the Pyrton community the Parish Council is now
prepared to lay aside its overall objection to development on the PYR 2 site,
provided that the following conditions are met:
1. Housing on the site will be restricted to 3.52 hectares as delineated on the
Land Use Provision Plan submitted on 17 November 2021. The number of
houses on the site will be strictly capped at a maximum of 100 dwellings and
permitted development rights withheld or restricted. There will be no house
building on the Pyrton side of the Watlington Edge Road which crosses the
site, and all land there will be preserved as a “green gap” to prevent the
coalescence of Watlington and Pyrton and allow the application, at least in
part, to comply with the Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan.
2. OCC will be given an option to purchase for a token sum 2.2 hectares of this
land for the expansion of Icknield Community College. If the option is
exercised the land will be used for playing fields while ICC remains on the
existing Watlington site.
If the school subsequently relocates, or no longer needs the land, the
Freehold Title will be first offered by OCC without financial gain to Pyrton
Parish Council.
If OCC does not exercise the option, when the option lapses (or is no longer
deemed to be required) ownership of the land will also be passed to Pyrton
Parish Council.
Page 76

Use of this land will be restricted in perpetuity, and it shall not be used
otherwise than as a school playing field or as part of an area of Public Open
Space.
3. The remainder of the land on the Pyrton side of the Edge Road on the PYR 2
site will be passed to Pyrton Parish Council to provide a public green space
for the benefit of the local communities. The borders of this will be planted
with trees by the developer to provide Landscape Mitigation, as shown on the
Illustrative Masterplan 21 November 2021.
4. The land retained adjacent to PYR 1 for Relief Road Connection will also be
planted and then made over to Pyrton Parish Council for consolidation into the
larger public green space once the Relief Road has been built.
5. A “Grampian condition” will be imposed on the application to ensure that the
housing development is coordinated with the Watlington Edge Road scheme.
This will state that:
“No development shall commence until the Oxfordshire County Council
planning application for the remaining sections of the Edge Road is
permitted.” (See HS & P Watlington Letter to SODC 17 November 2021)
6. All other matters laid out in that letter from Howard Sharp & Partners of 17
November will also be incorporated into the planning agreement.
7. Entrance to the built-form area will be restricted to a single point of access
from the Watlington Edge Road as shown in the Parameter Plan.
8. Pyrton Lane will be closed to vehicular traffic. The Pyrton end of this (north of
the Relief Road) will become a cycle/bridle/foot path.
As part of a programme of improving pedestrian and cycle access around
Watlington and Pyrton, the existing footpath from Pyrton Lane to Love Lane
adjacent to ICC (footpath 325/6/10) should be upgraded to a hard-surface
shared cycleway/footpath (the exact route to be finalised at a later stage).
Additionally, in order to provide a through-route for walking and cycling from
Pyrton Lane to the playing field/recreation ground and the B4009,
both Pyrton and Watlington Parish Councils would like to see a new
hard-surface cycleway/bridleway/footpath from the junction of the existing
right of way with the spur to Love Lane through to the B4009 on a route to be
agreed, either within the existing playing field or the Watlington allotments and
recreation ground.
We note, with approval, the Illustrative Proposed Footpath Link on the
Parameter Plan.

Page 77

9. The requests made in Pyrton Parish Council’s “Interim Response” of August
2021 concerning visual and environmental mitigation as well as detailed
proposals for reducing light and noise pollution will be satisfactorily addressed
if and when Reserved Matters are brought forward.
It is the Parish Council’s view that the Edge Road through PYR2 should have
hedgerows (planted with a mix of native species) on both sides along its
length as well as the trees specified in national design guidance.
The Council would also like to see the new boundary trees proposed along
Pyrton Lane extended to cover the whole length of the road and border the
land earmarked for ICC expansion.
Subject to these conditions being formally incorporated into the planning agreement,
Pyrton Parish Council is prepared to lend its acceptance to the proposed application.

Page 78

Agenda Item 10
South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
PARISH
WARD MEMBER(S)
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

OFFICER

P21/S3834/FUL
FULL APPLICATION
14.9.2021
WHEATLEY
Alexandrine Kantor
Mr and Mrs M Slaymaker
14 Elm Close, Wheatley, OX33 1UW
Erection of a detached, 2 bedroom bungalow (As
amended by energy statement received 26 October
and parking plans received 01 November 2021 and
amplified by email received 8 December 2021).
Paul Bowers

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
This report sets out the officer’s recommendation that the application should be
granted planning permission having regard to the material planning considerations
and the development plan.

1.2

The application is referred to planning committee as the recommendation to grant
planning permission conflicts with the objection from the Wheatley parish council. In
addition, the application was also called into planning committee at the request of the
local ward member Councillor Kantor.

1.3

The application site comprises a linked detached single storey dwelling at the end of
the cul de sac forming Elm Close within the village of Wheatley.
Immediately to the south of the site is open countryside.
A plan identifying the location of the site can be found at Appendix 1.

1.4

The application seeks full planning permission from the council to erect a detached,
single storey dwelling comprising 2 bedrooms with associated garden and car parking
to the side with the existing property at 14 Elm Close.

1.5

Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached as Appendix
2 to this report. All the plans and representations can be viewed on the council’s
website www.southoxon.gov.uk under the planning application reference number.

2.0
2.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Wheatley Parish Council – Objects to the development for the following reasons;
- Over development of the site.
- Agreed with the highway authority’s initial concern.
- No details on contamination, tree protection or drainage.
Third Party Representations – No letters of objection received.
Drainage – No objection subject to a surface water drainage condition being added
requiring details for approval prior to the development commencing.
Forestry Officer – No objection subject to a tree protection condition being added.

1

Page 79

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

Highways Liaison Officer – No objection subject to a condition seeking to ensure the
parking and manoeuvring areas are retained as shown on the plans.
Contaminated Land – No objection subject to conditions which require details of
investigative works and remediation to take place prior to the commencement of
development.
Energy Assessor – No objection.
3.0
3.1

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
None.

4.0
4.1

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
N/A

5.0
5.1

POLICY & GUIDANCE
Development Plan Policies
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies:
DES1 - Delivering High Quality Development
DES2 - Enhancing Local Character
DES3 - Design and Access Statements
DES5 - Outdoor Amenity Space
DES6 - Residential Amenity
ENV1 - Landscape and Countryside
ENV11 - Pollution - Impact from existing and/ or Previous Land uses on new
Development and the Natural Environment (Potential receptors of Pollution)
EP4 - Flood Risk
H1 - Delivering New Homes
H4 - Housing in the Larger Villages
INF4 - Water Resources
STRAT1 - The Overall Strategy
TRANS5 - Consideration of Development Proposals

5.2

Neighbourhood Plan
Wheatley Neighbourhood Plan (WNP) Policies;
H1 – Design and character principles
H2 – Landscape character
H4 – Infill and self-build dwellings
P1 – Parking provision
EN1 - Biodiversity

5.3

Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.4

National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance

5.5

Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.
Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

2

Page 80

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

6.0
6.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires
applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local
planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far
as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.
Development which is not in accordance with an up-to-date development plan should
be refused unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
In the case of this application South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) and the
Wheatley Neighbourhood Plan (WNP) comprise the development plan and the policies
within it must be considered in relation to the material considerations relevant to this
proposal.

6.2

The main issues to consider in relation to this proposal are as follows;
-

6.3

The principle of the development in terms of housing policy.
Neighbour impact.
Impact on the character and appearance of the area.
Amenity space.
Parking and highway safety.
Carbon reduction.
Drainage.
Ecology.
Impact on trees.
Community Infrastructure Levy.

The principle of the development in terms of housing policy.
Policy STRAT1 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan sets out the overall strategy for
development in the district. The policy includes specific reference to focussing major
new development in Science Vale and Didcot Garden Town. In addition to protecting
and enhancing the countryside and particularly those areas within the two AONBs and
Oxford Green Belt by ensuring that outside of the towns and villages any change
relates to very specific needs such as those of the agricultural industry or
enhancement of the environment.

6.4

Policy H1 relates to delivering new homes. Paragraph H1 3 iii) states that development
will be permitted provided that the residential development is within the existing builtup areas of Towns and Larger Villages as defined in the settlement hierarchy (shown
in Appendix 7); provided that an important open space of public, environmental,
historical or ecological value is not lost, nor an important public view harmed

6.5

Policy H4 of the WNP allows for infill development within the village.

6.6

Wheatley is defined as one of the Larger villages in the district as set out in Appendix
1 of SOLP.
Considering the position of the site in relation to the existing buildings and surrounding
development, I am satisfied that the application site is contained within the built
confines of the settlement.

3

Page 81

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

6.7

The site does not comprise an important open space of public, environmental,
historical or ecological value and it will not harm an important public view.

6.8

I am satisfied that the development accords with Policy H1 of SOLP and H4 of WNP.
The principle of the erection of a dwelling in this location is acceptable in principle.

6.9

Neighbour impact.
Policy DES6 of SOLP relates to residential amenity and requires that development
proposals should demonstrate that they will not result in significant adverse impacts on
the amenity of neighbouring uses, when considering both individual and cumulative
impacts in relation to loss of privacy, day light and sunlight, dominance or visual
intrusion, noise or vibration, smell dust, heat, odour or other emissions, pollution and
external lighting.

6.10

The new building is single storey in height like the adjacent properties. It is unlikely to
create issues of overlooking as any views are likely to be blocked by boundary fencing
etc.
The dwelling will sit to the side of both numbers 14 and 12 Elm close. The relationship
is such that in my view the new building will not cause material loss of light or
overshadowing or become oppressive or overbearing to either property.
In your officers view the proposed development is not unneighbourly and accords with
Policy DES6 of SOLP.

6.11

Impact on the character and appearance of the area.
Policy DES1 of SOLP seeks to ensure that all new development is of a high-quality
design subject to a series of criteria.
Policy DES2 of SOLP requires that all new development must be designed to reflect
the positive features that make up the character of the local area and should both
physically and visually enhance and complement the surroundings.
Policy H1 of WNP supports development proposals, provided they complement,
enhance and reinforce the local distinctiveness of the village and goes on to say that
proposals must show clearly how the scale, mass, density, layout and design of the
site, building or extension fits in with the character of the immediate area and wider
context within the village.

6.12

The proposed building is single storey like the others in close proximity on Elm close.
The nearby properties are not identical in size or design and the addition of a smaller
bungalow set back from the street frontage ensures that it will not be intrusive or out of
keeping with the established character of the area.
In conjunction with a planning condition that requires details of the materials to be
used on the new building your officers are satisfied that the proposed development will
reflect the area is established character and surroundings and accord with Policies
DES1 and DES2 of SOLP and H1 of the WNP.

4

Page 82

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

6.13

Amenity space.
Policy DES5 of SOLP relates to outdoor amenity space and requires that a private
outdoor garden or amenity areas should be provided for all new dwellings. The
amount of land should be provided for amenity space will be determined by the size of
the dwelling.
The South Oxfordshire Design Guide sets out the minimum amount of private amenity
space (i.e. rear garden) based on the number bedrooms. For 1 bedroom units they
should be providing for 35 square metres, 50 square metres for two bedroom units and
for 3 bedroom units and above 100 square metres.
The inability to provide these minimum standards can be an indication that what is
being proposed is an overdevelopment of the site.

6.14

The proposed dwelling has 2 bedrooms and should therefore have no less than 50
square metres. The plans show that the new dwelling will achieve over 100 square
metres. In addition, the existing dwelling will retain in excess of 100 square metres.

6.15

The two properties have adequate garden areas and as discussed below also provide
for adequate parking provision. Given the space around the buildings in addition to
meeting these minimum standards your officers are satisfied that the proposal does
not result in an overdevelopment of the site and accords with Policy DES5 of SOLP.

6.16

Parking and highway safety.
With respect to highway safety matters the advice from Central Government set out in
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is as follows:
Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the
residual cumulative impacts of the development are severe.
The term severe is locally interpreted as situations, which have a high impact, likely to
result in loss of life, or a higher possibility of occurrence with a lower impact.
Policy TRANS5 seeks to ensure that development does not harm highway safety and
provides for sufficient parking and turning areas. It also requires that development
provides for facilities to support the take up of electric and/or low emission vehicles.
Policy P1 of WNP states that new development proposals should provide off road
parking to meet the County Council’s car parking standards.
A revised site plan has been submitted to clarify points raised within the previous
Highway Authority response.
Two parking spaces have been demonstrated for the proposed and for the existing
unit, which meets parking guidance.
Given the characteristics of the carriageway, vehicular traffic and speeds are
considered to be relatively low. The proposal is unlikely to have a significant adverse
impact on the highway network and accords with Policies TRANS5 and P1.

5

Page 83

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

6.17

Carbon reduction.
Policy DES10 of SOLP states that planning permission will only be granted for new
build residential development that achieves a 40% reduction in carbon emissions
compared with a code 2013 Building Regulations compliant base and that this
reduction is to be secured through renewable energy and other low carbon
technologies.
The policy also requires that an energy statement will be submitted to demonstrate
compliance with this policy.

6.18

An energy statement including SAP calculations and monitoring afterwards has been
submitted and considered by the council’s appointed assessor.
In conjunction with the proposed planning condition which seeks to ensure the
measures have been carried out, the application is considered compliant with Policy
DES10 of SOLP.

6.19

Drainage.
Policy INF4 requires that all development proposals must demonstrate that there is or
will be adequate water supply, surface water, foul drainage and sewerage treatment
capacity to serve the whole development.

6.20

The council’s Drainage Engineer has considered the proposal, the submitted
information and the site circumstances and has concluded that in relation to both
surface water and foul water drainage the development will be acceptable and accord
with Policy INF4 providing that a condition requiring details relating to surface water is
attached to the planning permission.

6.21

Ecology.
Policy ENV3 of SOLP requires that development should not result in a net loss of
biodiversity and should result in a net gain. This is also reflected in WNP Policy EN1.

6.22

This proposal results in the loss of some garden land. In ecological terms the impact is
not likely to be significant. However, a condition is proposed to ensure the provision of
a bird box on the new dwelling providing the net gain required by Policy ENV.3

6.23

Impact on trees.
Policy ENV1 of SOLP aims to protects South Oxfordshire’s landscape, countryside
and rural areas against harmful development. Development will only be permitted
where it protects and, where possible enhances, features that contribute to the nature
and quality of South Oxfordshire’s landscapes, in particular trees (including individual
trees, groups of trees and woodlands), hedgerows and field boundaries

6.24

There is an oak tree located to the East of the proposed dwelling. It is not the subject
of a tree preservation order.
The proposed building is located at an appropriate distance from the tree. However,
the ground within the root protection area (RPA) of this tree is currently much higher
than the proposed foundation level and therefore a retaining structure such as wooden
sleepers, similar to those already used to retain the levels behind the existing dwelling,

6

Page 84

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

will be required to be installed to the East of the dwelling, to ensure that the levels in
the RPA of this tree are retained as existing. This is achievable and the applicants
have confirmed that they will undertake this. This is also secured through a condition
requiring it to be installed and thereafter retained.
6.25

In addition, any drainage, such as a soakaway for the building will have to be
constructed in the drive, to ensure the RPA of the oak is protected. Details relating to
drainage and tree protection are proposed as part of this recommendation. Therefore,
in conjunction with these conditions the proposal accords with Policy ENV1 of SOLP in
my view.

6.26

Community Infrastructure Levy.
The development is CIL liable to the amount of £11, 7770.91.

7.0
7.1

CONCLUSION
The development provides for a single storey, two-bedroom property within one of the
larger villages in the district and in a sustainable location. It provides for adequate
levels of amenity space and parking both for the new dwelling and the existing. The
juxtaposition of the new dwelling to the rear gardens of adjoining properties will create
an impact on amenity but this is limited due to the single storey nature and height of the
proposed building to the extent that it does not create material planning harm.
Overall, the proposal accords with the development in conjunction with the attached
conditions.

8.0
8.1

RECOMMENDATION
That Planning Permission is granted subject to the following conditions;
Standard Conditions 1 : Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission
2 : Approved plans
Pre-commencement conditions 3 : Schedule of Materials
4 : Tree Protection (General)
5 : Surface Water Drainage
6 : Contaminated Land - Linked Conditions (1)
7 : Contaminated Land - Linked Conditions (2)
Prior to occupation conditions –
8 : Parking & Manoeuvring Areas Retained
9 : Electric Vehicles Charging Point (implementation)
10 : Unsuspected Contaminated Land Condition
11 : Energy Statement Verification
12 : Ecology – Bird Box
13 : Tree protection – retaining structure

Author:
Mr. P Bowers
E-mail :
planning@southoxon.gov.uk
Contact No: 01235 422600

7

Page 85

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1

P21/S3834/FUL
Agenda Item 10

Page 87

Appendix 2

Page 88

Dimensioned site plan

SIP 002

Page 89

PP 001

Page 90

Page 91

--�..- �r1�pt:ts��L:-,k--�
\(4�·

p

GW�

e!,cf(,.
�

I

(}Uf>� fw.\l�

\4��
�

0

I.

NM�

l.�l'f)

-----:,(>

--�-...._._.,�,._,__,__, _._,-t..•--LL
1

IUf\NvCr-+ i¼
�.A--'2.¼�

- � N� ��t.kLD\f\J.

1-'U't>.

PP 002

Page 92

Agenda Item 11
South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
PARISH
WARD MEMBER
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

OFFICER

P21/S2332/FUL
FULL APPLICATION
19.5.2021
KIDMORE END
Peter Dragonetti
W H Brakspear and Sons Ltd
The Reformation, Horsepond Road, Gallowstree
Common, RG4 9BP
Change of use and extension of former Public
House to provide Veterinary Surgery. Demolition of
outbuilding and erection of 1 x 3-bed and 1 x 4-bed
detached houses (proposed dwellings reduced from
three to two and layout and designs adjusted
accordingly as shown on amended plans received
27th September 2021 and energy statement
received 5th October 2021 and first floor side
window from Plot 2 removed and external areas
around Plot 2 corrected and patio reduced as shown
on amended plans received 2nd November 2021)
Paul Lucas

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
This report sets out the justification for officers’ recommendation to grant planning
permission having regard to the development plan and any other material planning
considerations. The application is referred to the planning committee due to a
difference between officers’ recommendation and the views of Kidmore End Parish
Council.

1.2

The application site is shown at Appendix A. It is located within the built-up area of
Gallowstree Common and comprises a parcel of land of 0.28 hectares in area. The
site contains a disused part two-storey, part single storey public house and ancillary
buildings. It is located on the northern side of Horsepond Road, which is the main
road through the village. There is a large area of hardstanding at the front of the site,
which had been serving as the pub car park, accessed from Horsepond Road. There
are areas of undeveloped space on all four sides of the pub building. The building has
an external finish of white-painted brickwork and a mixture of slate and plain clay roof
tiles. There are some mature trees around the northern site boundary. The site
adjoins four residential plots. Three of these comprise dwellings that are positioned
close to the site boundaries; Fairlea, Weydown and Amber Cottage. The fourth
property, Orchard Cottage, is situated on a large plot and is set well back from the site
boundary. The site and the settlement lie within the Chilterns AONB. There is a slight
rise in the site levels from west to east across the site. The land falls away more
steeply beyond the western site boundary. The Council’s Conservation Officer
considers that The Reformation qualifies as a Non-Designated Heritage Asset.

1.3

The application seeks full planning permission for the extension and change of use of
the existing building from a public house to a veterinary surgery. The application also
seeks full planning permission for the subdivision of the plot and the erection of two
two-storey dwellings, one on either side of the existing building, as shown on the
current plans and other documents submitted in support of the application.

Page 93

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

1.4

The number of dwellings proposed was reduced from three to two in response to
officers’ concerns about the density and scale of the proposed residential element of
the development. The current plans can be found at Appendix B. Other documents
can be viewed on the Council’s website.

2.0
2.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Kidmore End Parish Council - The Council is aware of local support for the
repurposing of the former public house as a veterinary surgery and is sympathetic to
that proposal. However, the Council is concerned that the development of parts of the
site for residential purposes is a significant component of the application. The Council
is, like local residents, opposed to such development, because
* Gallowstree Common is another village in the South Oxfordshire Local Plan, and not
expected to absorb further significant increases in housing;
* the proposed housing development does not conform to policy H16 of that Local Plan,
as the land is not infill or brownfield;
* the site is in the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, and falls foul of policy
DP2 in the Chilterns Conservation Board Management Plan 2019-2024.
In addition, the Council observes that this site is not included in the Kidmore End
Neighbourhood Development Plan. The Local Character policies in that Plan,
particularly LC1 and Appendix D3, would militate against the proposed housing
development. For these reasons, the Council OBJECTS to the application.
CAMRA (Campaign for Real Ale) - The Reformation has been a much-loved pub in
the Chilterns for many years and the centre of village life in Gallowstree Common until
very recently. Apart from the Cricket Club, there are no community facilities in the
village - not even a church, so the village pub is a vital community asset. A veterinary
surgery can hardly be regarded as a satisfactory substitute for a village pub, with its
ability to bring together all parts of the village community. From the responses so far to
the planning application, it appears that most of the clientele for the new practice would
come from outside the village. There is, in any case, a well-established veterinary
practice in Sonning Common, a much more sustainable location for such a facility.
Whilst the economic viability report is of a much higher standard than we are
used to seeing in applications for change of use of a pub, it should be
remembered that it was commissioned by the applicant with a view to showing
that the pub would not be viable.
The proposed housing is planned to be built on the land that used to comprise
the garden of the pub. It will remove two areas of green space and the open
aspect of this part of Horsepond Road. Additionally, the houses are in a very
unsustainable location, with no local facilities available in the village and no bus
service. This will increase car-dependence.
Economic Development - Based on the comprehensive nature of the research
presented in the submitted Viability Assessment report, Economic Development believe
that suitable evidence has been provided to support the conclusion that the pub is
economically unviable. The report recommends that as the site is located less than a
mile from a large village (Sonning Common) and less than six miles from two large
towns (Henley and Reading) that alternative community uses (shop or post office, as
well as “bolt on” uses such as a Cinema or Digital Hub) would not be suited to the rural
location. In the absence of an adopted neighbourhood plan that details desired
community facilities for residents and, given the proximity to appropriate services in the
surrounding area, Economic Development do not object to the application on this basis.
Countryside Officer (South and Vale) – No objection subject to a mitigation
compliance condition

Page 94

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

Drainage - (South and Vale) – No objection subject to a surface water drainage precommencement condition
Forestry Officer (South and Vale) – No objection subject to general tree protection
and landscaping conditions
Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) – No objection subject to
implementation and retention of parking condition
Contaminated Land Officer – No objection
SGN Plant Protection Team – Advice provided
Environmental Protection Team – No objection subject to hours of construction
condition
Chilterns Conservation Board – Objection to original plans:
 CCB regrets the loss of this community facility and accepts that the policy
protection afforded by the SODC Local Plan CF1 'Safeguarding Community
Facilities' must be given considerable weight in any determination. We are
aware that there has been a local campaign to protect and reinstate this use.
The proposed use as a veterinary hospital use would fall within CF1 as an
exception against the test that 'the replacement of an existing facility equally
convenient to the local community it serves and with equivalent or improved
facilities’.
 The proposed housing is not necessary as a requirement of policy CF1.
Assessment here requires weight to be given to the development of 'windfalls'
within the smaller settlements in the plan and includes the infilling of
development within an existing frontage. This site does not easily fit within the
concept of infilling and we would argue the applicant's agent is incorrect to rely
on an infilling justification under Policy H16 (9.07 of the planning supporting
statement).
 The former Reformation PH (which closed in late 2018), in our judgment,
satisfies the tests for a non-designated heritage asset.
 CCB would support amendments to the frontage, and we promote deletion of
the eastern dwelling. A more holistic approach to this site would countenance
the reinstatement of the pub and the veterinary use to occupy a part of the site,
with the potential for one dwelling to promote an 'enabling case' to secure the
long-term viability of a use and location that is central to the fabric of this
community.
No comments received on amended plans
Energy Assessor - Complies with DES10, no objection
Third Parties – original submission incorporating three dwellings: 46 representations of
objection and concern and 31 representations of support
- revised submission incorporating two dwellings: three respondents repeated their
representations of objection and one reaffirming support
A summary of the representations is as follows:
 Public house viability was undermined by removal of conservatory and
subdivision of plot – six applications to list public house as an Asset of
Community Value were rejected by SODC
 Loss of public house not compensated for by change of use to veterinary
surgery

Page 95

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022























Should instead be changed into a shop/café/meeting place/training centre with
an outdoor community space on the frontage
There are other vets practices locally in and close to Sonning Common – those
who have written in support of the vets do not live in Gallowstree Common
Not an allocated housing site
Does not meet definition of infill in the Development Plan due to the land on
either side being greenfield/open space rather than brownfield/previously
developed land and not part of a built-up frontage and closely surrounded by
buildings
Exceeds the expected 5-10% growth for a ‘smaller village’, let alone an ‘other
village’ for the period 2011 – 2035 when taken cumulatively with 14 other
dwellings that have been built/granted planning permission in the village
High density of development would be out of keeping with the locality
The loss of important open space on either side of the public house resulting in
harm to the setting of this historic building in the village core within the Chilterns
AONB
Increase in amount of formalised frontage parking and hardsurfacing would
result in urbanisation, harmful to local character
Insufficient landscaping
Insufficient off-street parking, resulting in on-street parking and conditions
prejudicial to highway and pedestrian safety
Increase in daytime traffic – traffic calming should be introduced, paid for by the
applicant/developer
Loss of light/outlook/privacy to Amber Cottage, Fairlea, Weydown
Rear paving of Plot 2 resulting in loss of boundary hedge
Flooding, sewerage and water supply issues exacerbated
Concern about impact of external lighting
Criticism of proposed heating method relying on gas-fired boilers
Concern about amalgamation with any future development on the plot to the
rear
Concern about land ownership and future boundary maintenance
Accept that public house is no longer viable and consider a local business to be
an appropriate use of the building and would benefit many villagers
Support this vet as providing an independent service from other local vet
practices

The representations can be viewed in full on the Council’s website.
3.0
3.1

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
Kidmore End Parish has nominated the premises to be listed as an Asset of Community
Value, however, the nominations have all been unsuccessful, most recently in March
2021.

3.2

Numerous applications spanning the period 1953 to 2010 concerning alterations and
extensions to the public house.

4.0
4.1

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
Whilst located in a sensitive area, the proposal is not of a scale that would require an
Environmental Statement.

Page 96

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

5.0
5.1

POLICY & GUIDANCE
Development Plan Policies
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies:
CF1 - Safeguarding Community Facilities
DES1 - Delivering High Quality Development
DES2 - Enhancing Local Character
DES5 - Outdoor Amenity Space
DES6 - Residential Amenity
DES7 - Efficient Use of Resources
DES8 - Promoting Sustainable Design
DES10 - Carbon Reduction
EMP10 - Development in Rural Areas
EMP3 - Retention of employment land
ENV1 - Landscape and Countryside
ENV2 - Biodiversity - Designated sites, Priority Habitats and Species
ENV3 - Biodiversity
ENV6 - Historic Environment
ENV12 - Pollution - Impact of Development on Human Health, the Natural
Environment and/or Local Amenity (Potential Sources of Pollution)
EP3 - Waste collection and Recycling
EP4 - Flood Risk
H1 - Delivering New Homes
H11 - Housing Mix
H16 - Backland and Infill Development and Redevelopment
INF4 - Water Resources
STRAT1 - The Overall Strategy
STRAT5 - Residential Densities
TRANS5 - Consideration of Development Proposals

5.2

Kidmore End Neighbourhood Development Plan
The publicity period on the draft plan concluded on 15 September 2021. The draft plan
documents and comments received during the publicity period have now been
submitted for independent examination.
Andrew Ashcroft has been appointment by the district council to carry out the
examination. The examiner’s role is to make recommendations on the draft plan, and
ultimately if the plan should proceed to referendum. The examiner has produced
an Examination Arrangement note.
The examiner issued a clarification note on 11 October 2021. The response from
Kidmore End Parish Council and the response from South Oxfordshire District
Council to the examiner’s clarification note have now been issued.

5.3

Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016) – Section 7 Plots & Buildings
South Oxfordshire Landscape Assessment – Character Area 10
Chilterns Buildings Design Guide – Chapter 3
Chilterns AONB Management Plan 2019-2024

Page 97

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

5.4

National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance (NPPF)

5.5

Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.
Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

6.0
6.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires
applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The
development plan currently comprises the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035
(SOLP 2035). The Kidmore End Neighbourhood Development Plan (KENDP) is
under examination and therefore carries limited weight at this stage. The relevant
planning considerations are the following:
 Loss of an essential community facility
 Compliance with the Council’s Housing Distribution Strategy
 Harm to Non-Designated Heritage Asset
 Visual Impact including village setting within Chilterns AONB
 Residential Amenity Impact
 Access and Parking
 Other material planning considerations

6.2

Loss of Essential Community Facility
The SOLP 2035 Policy CF1 includes public houses within the definition of essential
community facilities and services. Criterion 1 of Policy CF1 explains that proposals that
result in the loss of an essential community facility or service, through change of use or
redevelopment, will not be permitted unless at least one of the three criteria below are
met:
i) it would lead to the significant improvement of an existing facility or the replacement
of an existing facility equally convenient to the local community it serves and with
equivalent or improved facilities;
ii) it has been determined that the community facility is no longer needed; or
iii) in the case of commercial services, it is not economically viable.
Criterion 2 states that appropriate, detailed and robust evidence will be required to
satisfy the above criteria. The Council will require the independent assessment of this
evidence.

Page 98

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

6.3

Supporting documentation for the application includes a “Viability Assessment” report
completed by John Joseph Keane of Thomas E. Teague. The Council’s Economic
Development Team have considered this report against the Community Facilities
Viability Assessment leaflet relating to the following: “What is the extent of community
facility in local area?” Based on the comprehensive nature of the research presented in
the submitted Viability Assessment report, Economic Development believe that suitable
evidence has been provided to support the conclusion that the pub is economically
unviable in accordance with Policy CF1 criterion 1 iii).

6.4

The SOLP Policy EMP10 Criterion iv) states that the Council will promote the retention
and development of local services and community facilities in villages, such as local
shops, meeting places, sports venues, cultural buildings, public houses and places of
worship. As the site is located less than a mile from a large village (Sonning Common)
and less than six miles from two large towns (Henley and Reading), the report
recommends that alternative community uses (shop or post office, as well as “bolt on”
uses such as a Cinema or Digital Hub) would not be suited to the rural location. In the
absence of an adopted neighbourhood plan that details desired community facilities for
residents and, given the proximity to appropriate services in the surrounding area,
Economic Development raise no objection to the proposal when assessed against
Policy EMP10.

6.5

When assessed against the SOLP 2035 Policy EMP3, Economic Development are
satisfied that the proposed development would comply with this policy. This is because
a lack of serious market interest in the site has been demonstrated, and that a mixeduse development incorporating employment use in the form of a veterinary practice has
been proposed. A veterinary business is likely to be a complimentary service
appropriate to the rural location and may offer support to agricultural businesses
operating locally. It is also anticipated that the business could offer high quality
employment opportunities in future that would help to meet objectives outlined in the
Council’s Corporate Plan.

6.6

In the light of the above assessment, officers consider that whilst the proposal would
result in the loss of an essential community facility, it has been demonstrated that the
continued use as a public house is unviable and alternative community uses would not
be suitable to this location. The replacement of a public house with a veterinary
business would provide an alternative employment use. As such, the proposed
development would accord with the above policies and would also address Chilterns
AONB Management Plan Policies SP4 and SP5.

6.7

Housing Distribution Strategy
SOLP 2035 Policy STRAT1 sets out the overall strategy for the District. It seeks to
focus most major new development at the growth point of Didcot with Henley, Thame
and Wallingford also being a focus for development and regeneration. The SOLP 2035
Policy H16 states that within smaller villages and other villages, development should be
limited to infill and the redevelopment of previously developed land or buildings.
Appendix 7 of the SOLP 2035 contains the Council’s Settlement Hierarchy classifies
Gallowstree Common as an ‘other settlement’.

Page 99

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

6.8

Policy H16 Criterion 2 states that “infill development is defined as the filling of a small
gap in an otherwise continuous built-up frontage or on other sites within settlements
where the site is closely surrounded by buildings” and that “the scale of infill should be
appropriate to its location.” Many third parties consider that the proposal would not fall
within this definition. This is because they regard the undeveloped land on either side of
the public house to be greenfield rather than previously developed land/brownfield land.
However, the definition does not differentiate between greenfield and brownfield land.
As infilling always involves building in the space between buildings, if greenfield land
was excluded then very few infill schemes would have been permitted in the District.

6.9

Some third parties also consider that the site does not form part of a continuous
frontage. However, officers disagree with this assertion. Policy H16 does not exclude
non-residential buildings from belonging to frontages. The Reformation sits between a
line of dwellings formed by Fairlea, Syringa Cottage and Yew Tree Cottage to the
south-west and Amber Cottage and The Yews to the north-east. These frontages are
shown as “defined building lines” in brown on the following extract from Figure GC11 of
Appendix D2 of the draft KENDP:

6.10 Officers also disagree with some third parties that the site is not closely surrounded by
buildings. There are three residential plots (Fairlea, Amber Cottage and Weydown)
which adjoin three sections of the site, where the dwellings in question are located very
close to the site boundaries. Inspectors have opined in appeals that it is not necessary
to have 4 or even 3 sides occupied by development nor are adjacent buildings required
to be hard up against the boundary to comply with this limb of the infill definition.
6.11 A further common objection is that the village already exceeds the expected 5-10%
growth for a ‘smaller village’ for the period 2011 – 2035. This concerns housing
allocations in Neighbourhood Plans in smaller villages, as set out in the SOLP 2035
Policy H8 Criterion 2. “Those Neighbourhood Development Plans will need to
demonstrate that the level of growth they are planning for is commensurate to the
scale and character of their village, and this is expected to be around a 5% to 10%
increase in dwellings above the number of dwellings in the village in the 2011 census
(minus any completions since 1 April 2011)”.
6.12 The draft KENDP covers the main settlements within Kidmore End Parish, namely
Cane End, Chalkhouse Green, Gallowstree Common, Kidmore End, and Tokers Green.
As currently drafted, it seeks to make a housing allocation at ‘CFS8 Land on north side
of Mill Lane, Kidmore End’. However, this allocation would run alongside, not instead of,
other windfall development brought forward through infilling and redevelopment
proposals in the parish. The 5 to 10% figure is not intended to represent a cap on
cumulative infilling proposals.

Page 100

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

6.13 Based on the above assessment, officers consider that the proposed development
would fall within the definition of infilling set out in the SOLP 2035 Policy H16 and would
comply with the Council’s Housing Distribution Strategy.
6.14 Non-Designated Heritage Asset
The SOLP 2035 Policy ENV6 explains that proposals for new development should be
sensitively designed and should not cause harm to the historic environment. The
Chilterns Conservation Board (CCB) consider that The Reformation satisfies the tests
for a Non-Designated Heritage Asset (NDHA). In verbal discussions, the Council’s
Conservation Officer considers that The Reformation does qualify as a NDHA when
assessed against the SOLP 2035 ENV6 and the relevant paragraphs of the NPPF.
6.15 However, in the Conservation Officer’s expert opinion, the proposed extensions would
preserve the character and appearance of this NDHA. It is also their view that the
NDHA would not be compromised by the proposed residential infilling, following the
reduction in the number of dwellings from three to two and increased separation that
was secured through the amended plans. In the light of this assessment, officers
consider that the status of The Reformation would be maintained as a historical focal
point in the village in compliance with the above policy and national planning guidance.
6.16 Visual Impact
The SOLP 2035 Policy DES1 seeks to ensure that all new development is of a highquality design subject to a series of criteria. The SOLP 2035 Policy DES2 states that all
new development must be designed to reflect the positive features that make up the
character of the local area and should both physically and visually enhance and
complement the surroundings. The SOLP 2035 Policy ENV1 aims to provide the
highest level of protection to designated landscapes, such as the Chilterns AONB.
Section 87 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 (CROW Act) sets out the
duty to conserve and enhance the natural beauty of an AONB.
6.17 The SOLP Policy STRAT5 Criterion 2 explains that amongst other things that the
density of a development should be informed by the need to achieve high quality
design that respects local character and local circumstances and site constraints,
including the need to protect or enhance the local environment, Areas of Outstanding
Natural Beauty, heritage assets, and important landscapes.
6.18 Although the Chilterns AONB washes over the settlement, the site is clearly within the
built-up confines of the village. Officers consider that the extension to the existing
building at single storey level to the rear would represent a subservient addition to the
premises that would have no significant impact on its surroundings. The draft KENDP
identifies the site within an area around The Hamlet where the overall density is 9.9
dwellings per hectare. The resultant density of the proposed development with three
buildings on would be 10.7 buildings per hectare. This would be very close to the
prevailing density of established development in the locality. Officers also note that the
building to plot ratios of Plot 1 and Plot 2 would broadly reflect the plot coverage of the
adjoining dwellings Fairlea and Amber Cottage, respectively.
6.19 Many third parties value the open space on either side of The Reformation and
consider it should be protected from any development. It should be noted that this land
differs from public open space, as it would only have been accessible to patrons of the
public house. The draft KENDP recognises that part of the pub garden was lost when
the land to either side of the pub was partitioned and sold off. Only the front part of the
site is identified as an important open space, as shown on the following extract from
Figure GC16 of Appendix D2 of the draft KENDP:

Page 101

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

6.20 The proposed dwellings would be located outside of the area identified as important
space. Although the proposal would provide driveways and parking spaces on this
space, it should be noted that at present the front part of the site comprises about 500
square metres of gravel hardsurfacing and the resultant amount of hardsurfacing would
be reduced to around 430 square metres, with around 150 square metres of this
identified as ‘grasscrete’ parking spaces. The proposed site plan indicates the planting
of three trees and a beech hedge along the frontage boundary. The Council’s Tree
Officer is satisfied that there would be scope for a comprehensive planting scheme
across the frontage of the site, needed to soften the visual appearance of the
development within the Chilterns AONB landscape, which could be secured through a
planning condition.
6.21 The appearance of buildings in the vicinity are mostly detached and semi-detached and
of no one predominant design. Dwellings have emerged organically over different
centuries and typically comprise a mixture of exposed or painted brick on external walls
and slates or clay tiles on roofs. Officers consider that the proposed dwellings would
continue the organic growth of built form in the settlement through bespoke designs in
an informal alignment, different to The Reformation and Fairlea and Amber Cottage that
nonetheless respects the building lines on either side of the site. Although The
Reformation is a partly two storey building, it has a low ridge height of approximately
6.5 metres. The street scene elevations show how the proposed dwellings with ridge
heights of 7 metres and 7.25 metres would be set into the ground so that their ridge
heights would be of a similar level to The Reformation, with the higher ridge of Plot 2
being reflective of the slight rise in the ground levels from west to east.
6.22 Plot 1 would be positioned between The Reformation and Fairlea, marginally behind
the front building lines at a distance of 25 metres from the road frontage with an
appropriate gap of 5 to 6 metres on either side. This means that public views of The
Reformation in the approach from the west would remain largely uninterrupted.
Although the proposed position of Plot 2 would be in front of The Reformation and
Amber Cottage, it would be set back from the road frontage by around 15 metres,
similar to Fairlea. Officers are aware that Mornington Cottage and Oakley Barn are two
storey dwellings that are positioned much closer to the road frontage, at about 5 and 7
metres, respectively. In the approach from the east, views of the site are dominated by
the forward position of Mornington Cottage and this would continue to be the case if the
development were to proceed. Further to the west, public views of The Reformation are
partially screened due to the frontage hedging in front of Mornington Cottage and the
access to Amber Cottage and the position of an outbuilding on the site. The forward
position of Plot 2 in relation to The Reformation would only be evident when directly
opposite the site.

Page 102

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

6.23 Draft KENDP Policy LCI states that “the general character of housing is of a cottage
style, one or two storeys with pitched eaves, set back from the road with front and back
gardens, with little or no backfill” and “Additionally this Policy seeks to maintain
the linear character of the settlements within the KENDP area, in essence maintaining
the sense of village lanes of road facing dwellings with little or no backfill.” Although
Policy LCI carries limited weight at this stage, officers consider that the proposed
development would be broadly compliant with the aims and objectives of this policy. In
particular, the proposed dwellings would include the following elements referred to in
Appendix D2 of the KENDP:
 Frontage rather than backland development
 Front and rear gardens
 Detached properties
 Wide frontage regular floor plans with projecting gables
 Gable roofs
 Dormers cutting through the eaves
 Within typical height range
6.24 Officers recognise that there is some local concern about the overuse of setts as an
urban form of hardsurfacing. It would be possible to address this through securing a
form of hardsurfacing more appropriate to the village location through the
recommended landscaping/materials conditions. Officers would also be able to use the
suggested materials condition to secure appropriate detailing, such as timber window
frames.
6.25 The Chilterns Conservation Board Management Plan (CCBMP) is a material
consideration. Kidmore End Parish Councils are concerned that the application would
conflict with CCBMP Policy DP2:

Page 103

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

6.26 Officers consider that the above assessment demonstrates that the proposed
development would address the visual-based criterion to the extent that the character
and appearance of this part of the Chilterns AONB would be conserved, and the
introduction of new soft landscaping would provide some visual enhancement to meet
the duty set out in the CROW Act. The proposed mixed use would not result in any
harm to tranquillity given the previous use of the site and its location within a built-up
area. The inclusion of any external lighting could be controlled through the
recommended condition requiring details to be agreed to secure elements such as low
level, downlighting and switch-off timers in accordance with the SOLP 2035 Policy
ENV12.
6.27 In the light of the above assessment, officers consider that the proposed development
would be in accordance with the above policies and guidance.
6.28 Residential Amenity Impact
The SOLP 2035 Policy DES6 relates to residential amenity and requires that
development proposals should demonstrate that they will not result in significant
adverse impacts on the amenity of neighbouring uses, when considering both individual
and cumulative impacts in relation to loss of privacy, daylight and sunlight, dominance
or visual intrusion, noise or vibration, smell dust, heat, odour or other emissions,
pollution, and external lighting.
6.29 Plot 1 would be positioned in line with the building line of Fairlea, so that it would not
project in front or behind the neighbouring property. There would also be a gap of over
5.5 metres between the side elevation and the boundary. The rear of Plot 1 would be
about 17 to 19 metres from the boundary with Weydown. This would accord with the
minimum garden depth of 10 metres in Section 7 of the SODG 2016. There would be
no facing first floor windows within 25 metres of the rear-facing bedroom windows of
Plot 1 and there is some established foliage on the boundary. Consequently, officers
consider that Plot 1 would have an acceptable relationship with adjoining properties in
relation to light, outlook and privacy.
6.30 Plot 2 would be positioned in front of The Reformation and behind the rear building line
of Amber Cottage. There are south-west facing windows at ground and first floor level
at Amber Cottage, from which Plot 2 would be 9 to 10 metres away. These habitable
rooms also have windows on the rear and front elevations, respectively, from which Plot
2 would not be visible. Consequently, the impact of Plot 2 on the light and outlook from
these rooms would be acceptable. There are no first floor windows in the side elevation
of Plot 2, which would maintain privacy to the neighbour’s side-facing windows. The
two-storey gable of Plot 2 would be positioned at least 4 metres from the boundary with
Amber Cottage. The single storey element would be about 3.5 metres from the
boundary with a flat roof. The plans were amended to move the proposed patio areas
away from the boundary hedge, to allow for its retention. The first-floor rear windows of
Plot 2 would directly face the main part of the rear garden of Amber Cottage, which is
offset to the north. These windows would be closer to the smaller outdoor space close
to the rear of Amber Cottage, but any views towards those areas would be at an
oblique angle. Officers consider that any overlooking of the rear outdoor amenity space
of Amber Cottage would not be significant and would be typical of many residential
situations.

Page 104

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

6.31 The single storey extension to the rear of The Reformation would have no discernible
impact on the light, outlook or privacy of Plot 1. The extension would project 9.2 metres
beyond the rear of the single storey rear element of Plot 2. However, the impact on the
rear aspect and garden of Plot 2 would be offset by the single storey scale of the
extension, with an eaves height of 2 metres, positioned 1.65 metres from the boundary.
The ridge of the hipped roof would be a little over 4 metres high but would be
positioned almost 4 metres from the boundary. Officers consider that the extension
would not detract significantly from the light, outlook and privacy of the rear aspect of
Plot 2.
6.32 Officers consulted with the Council’s Environmental Health Officer. They raised no
objection to the compatibility of the veterinary use with the existing and proposed
residential uses in relation to noise or smells. Veterinary practices are often located
amongst residential properties.
6.33 There would be no discernible direct impact on the residential amenity of any other
nearby residential occupiers, given the distances involved. Both Plots 1 and 2 would
provide over 100 square metres of private outdoor amenity space for the future
occupiers, in line with the recommended minimum standard for 3 and 4-bedroom
dwellings, as set out in Section 7 of the SODG 2016 and thereby in accordance with
the provisions of the SOLP 2035 Policy DES5. The size of the houses would comply
with the Nationally Described Space Standards, as required by the SOLP 2035 Policy
H11.
6.34 Access and Parking
The SOLP 2035 Policy TRANS5 seeks to ensure that development would not be
prejudicial to highway and pedestrian safety. Some third parties have raised concerns
about a perceived lack of parking and an increase in daytime traffic accessing the site.
The OCC Highway Liaison Officer (HLO) has commented that the existing access
arrangements are to be retained and given the vehicular movements associated with
the previous use and the proposed these are considered acceptable. Visibility splays
onto Horsepond Road are considered to be acceptable and likely to meet
guidance for a 30mph carriageway. The carriageway fronting the site is sufficient in
width to allow for two-way traffic movements. The parking provision for the site in terms
of the residential use of the site meets guidance. Whilst only two parking spaces have
been demonstrated for the proposed four-bedroom dwelling there is considered
sufficient space within the curtilage of this property for additional parking without
overspill onto the Highway. The parking allocation for the Veterinary Centre is 12
spaces with a total of five full time staff resulting in seven spaces for users of the
facility, which is considered acceptable. Whilst opportunities for sustainable modes of
transport and local facilities are limited, in the HLO’s expert opinion, the scale of the
proposed development is considered modest, and the proposal is unlikely to have a
significant adverse impact on the highway network. On this basis, there would be no
justification for requiring the applicant to fund the provision of road calming measures
on Horsepond Road. As such, the proposal would accord with the above policy.
6.35 Other Material Planning Considerations
The Reformation ceased trading as a public house in late 2018. Kidmore End Parish
Council have nominated the premises to be listed as an Asset of Community Value on
six occasions. However, the nominations have all been unsuccessful, because it has
not been demonstrated that the use of the building and/or land has incorporated nonancillary uses to its principal use as a public house, which furthered the social wellbeing
or social interests of the local community or would be likely to include such uses in the
next five years. This is a separate process to the assessment that has taken place
under Policy CF1.

Page 105

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

6.36 The SOLP 2035 Policy H11 explains that in order to meet the needs of current and
future households, the mix of housing should have regard to the Council’s latest
evidence, monitoring and delivery and Neighbourhood Development Plan evidence
where applicable for the relevant area. The current evidence (the Oxfordshire SHMA
2014) found a shortfall in smaller units and recommended for most units to be 2 and 3
bedrooms. The proposal would provide a 3-bedroom unit and so would be in
accordance with the spirit of this aspect of the policy.
6.37 The SOLP 2035 Policies DES8 & DES10 seek to ensure that all new development
minimises the carbon and energy impacts of their design and construction and should
be designed to improve resilience to the anticipated effects of climate change. The
Energy Statement submitted in support of the application for the dwellings has been
vetted and a verification planning condition would be imposed to require
implementation details and a planning condition to secure EV charge points is also
recommended in accordance with the SOLP 2035 Policy TRANS5 ix). The change of
use of The Reformation incorporates an extension, however, the ability to improve upon
the carbon and energy performance of the building without harming its status as a
NDHA is likely to be restricted. In any event, this element of the proposal would have to
be carried out to meet Part L of the Building Regulations.
6.38 Matters related to drainage, tree and hedge protection and biodiversity could be dealt
with through the imposition of pre-commencement and implementation planning
conditions. Exceptionally, a condition removing permitted development rights for
various forms of householder development is considered necessary to allow the
Council to exercise control over any future additions to the new dwellings that might
otherwise result in visual harm and/or loss of residential amenity. A planning condition
is also necessary to ensure that the dwellings are not constructed above slab level until
the veterinary use has commenced. This is to prevent the residential element from
being implemented without the commercial element. The Council’s Environmental
Health Officer has recommended an hours of construction condition. However, any
issues with construction noise at unsociable hours for development of this scale are
usually dealt with under statutory nuisance provisions through the Environment
Protection Act 1990 and therefore such a condition would be unreasonable.
6.39 Planning permission runs with the land and so therefore the future owners of the three
planning units would be responsible for continued compliance with the terms of any
planning permission granted. Future boundary maintenance is a private matter between
any relevant parties. It is an accepted planning principle that each planning application
must be assessed on its individual merits and therefore officers cannot give any weight
to any future development proposals on other land outside of the application site.
6.40 Community Infrastructure Levy
The residential element of the application is CIL liable at a rate of £150 per square
metre (index linked), 15% of which would go to Kidmore End Parish Council in the
absence of a made neighbourhood plan.
6.41 Pre-commencement Conditions
Tree Protection
Surface Water Drainage

Page 106

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 February 2022

7.0
7.1

CONCLUSION
The application proposal would comply with the relevant Development Plan Policies
and it is considered that, subject to the recommended conditions, the proposed
development would be acceptable in principle in relation to safeguarding community
facilities and compliance with the Council’s Housing Distribution Strategy. The proposal
would safeguard a non-designated heritage asset, would conserve and enhance this
part of the village within the Chilterns AONB and would not harm the residential amenity
of adjoining residents. The development would not result in conditions prejudicial to
highway and pedestrian safety, would provide acceptable living conditions for future
occupiers of the proposed dwellings and an appropriate market housing mix.

8.0
8.1

RECOMMENDATION
Grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions:
1 : Commencement of development within three years
2 : Development in accordance with the approved plans
3 : No change in levels
4 : Schedule of Materials to be agreed
5 : Obscure glazing to upper floor bathroom windows
6 : Withdrawal of Permitted Development rights for extensions, outbuildings, and
hardsurfacing
7 : Energy Statement Verification
8 : Parking & Manoeuvring Areas Retained
9 : Tree Protection details to be agreed
10 : Landscaping (including hardsurfacing and boundary treatment) to be agreed
11 : Wildlife Protection (mitigation as approved)
12 : Surface Water Drainage details to be agreed
13 : External Lighting details to be agreed
14 : Electric charging points to be provided
15 : Veterinary use occupied before dwellings above slab level

Author: Paul Lucas
Email: Planning@southoxon.gov.uk
Tel: 01235 422600

Page 107

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A

Reference: P21/S2332/FUL
Printed on 02/06/2021 14:50:19
for BCP

P21/S2332/FUL
Agenda Item 11

This map is reproduced from Ordance Survey material with the
permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her
Majesty's Stationery Office Crown copyright. Unauthorised
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings
South Oxfordshire District Council / 100018668 / 2021

Page 109

Appendix B

Revision

Date

Copyright Reserved

Do Not Scale
Except For Planning

All Dimensions To Be Checked On Site

Project

The Reformation PH
Horsepond Road
Gallowstree Common RG4 9BP
Drawing

O S Location Plan

Page 110

Wythe Holland Limited
Chartered Architects
Phone +44 (01780) 757876

10 Emlyn's Street
Stamford, Lincolnshire
PE9 1QP

www.wytheholland.co.uk
Date

Scale

20.08.21 1:1250

johnt@wytheholland.co.uk
Job No

2037

Drawing No

20

50.45+

1.8m close boarded fence

grass

grass

50.45+
+50.30

grass
refuse
50.67+

paving

50.67+

grass

+50.82

grass

+50.93

1.8m close boarded fence

50.65+

paving
+50.30
+50.30

grass
50.75+

refuse

paving
+50.55
+50.55

+50.30
FFL: 50.45
+50.30

1

50.52+

4 Bed
+50.67

shrubs

grass

paving
gravel driveway

grass

setts
new
tree
grasscrete
parking

shrubs

grass

1.2m timber post & rail fence

50.10+

+50.67

paving

grasscrete
parking
new
tree

setts

paving

refuse

shrubs
shrubs
1.2m timber post & rail fence

+50.30

+50.55

+50.55

50.65+
+50.55

FFL: 50.70
+50.50

3 Bed

2
new
tree

+50.37

grass

grasscrete
parking

grass
+50.40

+49.55

+50.28

grass

beech hedge

gate

+49.92

gate
setts

refuse
collection

grass
shrubs

+49.97

pavement

tarmac

verge

gravel driveway

beech hedge
pavement
verge

existing crossover

Revision

Date

Copyright Reserved

Do Not Scale
Except For Planning

All Dimensions To Be Checked On Site

Project

The Reformation PH
Horsepond Road
Gallowstree Common RG4 9BP
Drawing

Block Plan

Page 111

Wythe Holland Limited
Chartered Architects
Phone +44 (01780) 757876

10 Emlyn's Street
Stamford, Lincolnshire
PE9 1QP

www.wytheholland.co.uk
Date

Scale

01.11.21 1:500

johnt@wytheholland.co.uk
Job No

2037

Drawing No

21 B

kitchen
bar store
toliet

toliets

bedroom

bar

shower

bedroom

landing

seating

seating

seating

Ground Floor Plan

sitting room

bedroom

First Floor Plan
Revision

Date

Copyright Reserved

Do Not Scale
Except For Planning

All Dimensions To Be Checked On Site

Project

The Reformation PH
Horsepond Road
Gallowstree Common RG4 9BP
Drawing

Public House - Existing Plans

Page 112

Wythe Holland Limited
Chartered Architects
Phone +44 (01780) 757876

10 Emlyn's Street
Stamford, Lincolnshire
PE9 1QP

www.wytheholland.co.uk
Date

Scale

17.03.21 1:100

johnt@wytheholland.co.uk
Job No

2037

Drawing No

13

existing south-west elevation

existing south-east elevation

existing north-east elevation

existing north-west elevation

Out-Building to be demolished

corrugated roof
Revision

timber boarded walls

Date

Copyright Reserved

Do Not Scale
Except For Planning

All Dimensions To Be Checked On Site

Project

The Reformation PH
Horsepond Road
Gallowstree Common RG4 9BP
Drawing

north elevation

west elevation

south elevation

east elevation

Public House - Exsiting Elevations
& Out-building to be demolished

Page 113

Wythe Holland Limited
Chartered Architects
Phone +44 (01780) 757876

10 Emlyn's Street
Stamford, Lincolnshire
PE9 1QP

www.wytheholland.co.uk
Date

Scale

30.03.21 1:100

johnt@wytheholland.co.uk
Job No

2037

Drawing No

14

grass

50.45+
+50.30

grass
refuse
50.67+

paving

50.67+

grass

Boiler

+50.82

grass

+50.93

50.65+

Dog
Recovery

Theatre

Consultation

Nurses
Office

1.8m close boarded fence

50.45+

1.8m close boarded fence

grass

paving
+50.30
+50.30

Bereavement
Room

Dental

grass

Preperation

Desk

50.75+

Dispensary

Toilet

Laundry

refuse

Reception

Imagining
Suite

+50.30

paving
+50.55
+50.55

Consultation

FFL: 50.45
50.52+

+50.30

1

4 Bed
+50.67

shrubs

grass

paving
gravel driveway

grass

setts
new
tree
grasscrete
parking

shrubs

grass

1.2m timber post & rail fence

50.10+

+50.67

paving

grasscrete
parking
new
tree

setts

paving

refuse

shrubs
shrubs
1.2m timber post & rail fence

+50.30

+50.55

+50.55

50.65+
+50.55

FFL: 50.70
+50.50

3 Bed

2
new
tree

+50.37

grass

grasscrete
parking

grass
+50.40

+49.55

Revision

+50.28

Date

Copyright Reserved

Do Not Scale
Except For Planning

All Dimensions To Be Checked On Site

Project

grass

gate

gate

The Reformation PH
Horsepond Road
Gallowstree Common RG4 9BP

gravel driveway
Drawing

beech hedge

+49.92

setts

refuse
collection

beech hedge

shrubs

Page 114

+49.97

pavement

tarmac

verge

Site Plan - Ground Floor

grass

pavement
verge

Wythe Holland Limited
Chartered Architects
Phone +44 (01780) 757876

10 Emlyn's Street
Stamford, Lincolnshire
PE9 1QP

www.wytheholland.co.uk

existing crossover

Date

Scale

01.11.21 1:200

johnt@wytheholland.co.uk
Job No

2037

Drawing No

22 B

50.45+

1.8m close boarded fence

grass

grass

50.45+
+50.30

grass
refuse
50.67+

paving

50.67+

grass

+50.82

grass

+50.93

1.8m close boarded fence

50.65+

paving
+50.30
+50.30

grass
50.75+

Tele Consultant

Wc

Office

refuse

paving
+50.55
+50.55

+50.30
FFL: 50.45
50.52+

+50.30

1

Staff Room

Cat Recovery

4 Bed
+50.67

shrubs

grass

paving
gravel driveway

grass

+50.67

setts
new
tree
grasscrete
parking

shrubs

grass

1.2m timber post & rail fence

50.10+

paving

grasscrete
parking
new
tree

setts

paving

refuse

shrubs
shrubs
1.2m timber post & rail fence

+50.30

+50.55

+50.55

50.65+
+50.55

FFL: 50.70
+50.50
Revision

2

Date

Copyright Reserved

3 Bed

Do Not Scale
Except For Planning

All Dimensions To Be Checked On Site

Project

The Reformation PH
Horsepond Road
Gallowstree Common RG4 9BP

new
tree

+50.37
Drawing

Site Plan - First Floor
and Strip elevation

grass

Page 115

grasscrete
parking

grass
+50.40

+49.55
+50.28

Wythe Holland Limited
Chartered Architects
Phone +44 (01780) 757876

grass

gate

gate

gravel driveway

10 Emlyn's Street
Stamford, Lincolnshire
PE9 1QP

www.wytheholland.co.uk
Date

Scale

01.11.21 1:200

johnt@wytheholland.co.uk
Job No

2037

Drawing No

23 C

1.8m cl
paving

grass

refuse

4 Bed

1

paving
gravel driveway

Revision

Date

Copyright Reserved

Do Not Scale
Except For Planning

All Dimensions To Be Checked On Site

Project

The Reformation PH
Horsepond Road
Gallowstree Common RG4 9BP
Drawing

Plot 1
Floor Plans

Page 116

shrubs

grass

timber post & rail fence

shrubs

grass

Wythe Holland Limited
Chartered Architects
Phone +44 (01780) 757876

10 Emlyn's Street
Stamford, Lincolnshire
PE9 1QP

www.wytheholland.co.uk
Date

Scale

20.08.21 1:100

johnt@wytheholland.co.uk
Job No

2037

Drawing No

24

1.8m close boar

paving
+50.55
+50.55

paving

shrubs
shrubs
1.2m timber post & rail fence

refuse

+50.55

+50.55

50.65+
+50.55

FFL: 50.70

First Floor Plan

+50.50

2

3 Bed

new
tree

+50.37

Revision

Date

Copyright Reserved

Do Not Scale
Except For Planning

All Dimensions To Be Checked On Site

Project

The Reformation PH
Horsepond Road
Gallowstree Common RG4 9BP

grass
Drawing

grass

Plot 2
Floor Plans

Page 117

+50.40
+50.28

Wythe Holland Limited
Chartered Architects
Phone +44 (01780) 757876

10 Emlyn's Street
Stamford, Lincolnshire
PE9 1QP

www.wytheholland.co.uk
Date

Scale

01.11.21 1:100

gate

gravel driveway

johnt@wytheholland.co.uk
Job No

2037

Drawing No

28 B

Revision

Date

Copyright Reserved

Do Not Scale
Except For Planning

All Dimensions To Be Checked On Site

Project

The Reformation PH
Horsepond Road
Gallowstree Common RG4 9BP
Drawing

Plot 1
Elevations

Page 118

Wythe Holland Limited
Chartered Architects
Phone +44 (01780) 757876

10 Emlyn's Street
Stamford, Lincolnshire
PE9 1QP

www.wytheholland.co.uk
Date

Scale

31.08.21 1:100

johnt@wytheholland.co.uk
Job No

2037

Drawing No

25 A

Revision

Date

Copyright Reserved

Do Not Scale
Except For Planning

All Dimensions To Be Checked On Site

Project

The Reformation PH
Horsepond Road
Gallowstree Common RG4 9BP
Drawing

Plot 2
Elevations

Page 119

Wythe Holland Limited
Chartered Architects
Phone +44 (01780) 757876

10 Emlyn's Street
Stamford, Lincolnshire
PE9 1QP

www.wytheholland.co.uk
Date

Scale

31.08.21 1:100

johnt@wytheholland.co.uk
Job No

2037

Drawing No

29 A

1.8m clos

paving
grass

Dog
Recovery

Theatre

Consultation

Nurses
Office

Bereavement
Room

Dental
Preperation

refuse

1.8m close boarded fence

Boiler

Desk
Dispensary

Toilet

Laundry

Reception

Imagining
Suite

Tele Consultant

Wc

Office

Consultation

Staff Room

Cat Recovery

grasscrete
parking

grasscrete
parking

hrubs
shrubs
timber post & rail fence

setts
new
tree

shrubs

Page 120

ber post & rail fence

shrubs

paving

Revision

Date

Copyright Reserved

Do Not Scale
Except For Planning

All Dimensions To Be Checked On Site

Project

The Reformation PH
Horsepond Road
Gallowstree Common RG4 9BP
Drawing

Vet Surgery
Floor Plans

Wythe Holland Limited
Chartered Architects
Phone +44 (01780) 757876

10 Emlyn's Street
Stamford, Lincolnshire
PE9 1QP

www.wytheholland.co.uk
Date

Scale

20.08.21 1:100

johnt@wytheholland.co.uk
Job No

2037

Drawing No

26

existing slate roof

existing plain tile roof
existing slate roof

existing painted brick walls

existing painted bricks

existing painted bricks

proposed south-west elevation

proposed south-east elevation

existing slate roof

existing plain tile roof

extend plain tile roof

existing brick wall

new brick wall to match existing

proposed north-east elevation

new plain tile roof to match existing

new brick wall to match existing

proposed north-west elevation

Revision

Date

Copyright Reserved

Do Not Scale
Except For Planning

All Dimensions To Be Checked On Site

Project

The Reformation PH
Horsepond Road
Gallowstree Common RG4 9BP
Drawing

Vet Surgery
Elevations

Page 121

Wythe Holland Limited
Chartered Architects
Phone +44 (01780) 757876

10 Emlyn's Street
Stamford, Lincolnshire
PE9 1QP

www.wytheholland.co.uk
Date

Scale

31.08.21 1:100

johnt@wytheholland.co.uk
Job No

2037

Drawing No

27 A

G5

G5

d
oar
se b .8
Clo e h=1
c
fen

Chicken wir
e fence h=
1.1

ttag
lev
el

in

te
cre
Con

P

Rid

RW

ge

ve
es le

vel
vel

Eav

Dra

P

RW

in

Dra

s

s
Gra

Rid

n
atio

vel

es le
Eav

P

RW

e
eR

'Th

C

ce

C

te

ge

Rid

l
leve

llis
Tre

L
IC C 3
50.4

es

Eav

und
gro
gh

ing

Pav

Pav

L
IC C 2
50.4

ete
ncr

Co

Gra

ss

g
Rid

ing

vel

e le

el
lev

dr

ail

fen

ce

h=

1.3

Bramble &
goat willow, ht 1-2m.

G2

l
leve

Gas r
te
me

Rou

an

ss
Gra

C

ing

p
ch la
Lar h=1.8
ce
fen

rete
onc

st

g
ildin

tbu

Ou

Pav

e

t
cre
on

c
Con

e

lev
el

Po

Elder & bramble, ht 1-3m.

re
onc

fen

rete

L
IC C 9
50.3
spit
Ces

.8
h=1

Cherry stump, ht 0.25m.
d
oar
se b .1
Clo e h=1
c
fen

rag

te

l
leve

ge

' PH

form

Gate

Ea
ves

e
ncr

te
cre
Con

ss

Gra

H3

in

lev
el

Ga

Co

Gate

es le

P

RW

Gate

Eav

rch

IC

La

L
IC C 5
50.9

SVP
l

in

Dra
ge le

h=
ce

Dra
IC

T7

fen
lap

d

e
Sh

ing

Pav

P

RW

p
ch la
Lar h=1.8
ce
fen

1.8

5

IC

3

She

Rid

Gate

50.4
CL

d

er
Boil
m
roo

P
RW

el

Co
ge

ing

Pav
p
ch la
Lar h=1.8
ce
fen

lev

ber

Rid

g

cin
fen
llis
Tre h=1.8

G4

ge

Ea
v es

G6

Rid

Rid
ge

ss
Gra

Hazel stump, ht 0.5m.

'Am

L

IC C

p
ch la
Lar h=1.8
ce
fen

Ov

Gate

d
She

1
50.6

n
row
erg

e'

H3

p
ch la
Lar h=1.8
ce
fen

lev
el

n
Gree e
hous

el
lev
ves
Ea

ss

Gra

P

g

s
ve

in
Pav

Ea

el
dg

Ri

t
Pos

el
lev

l

e
ev

g

in
Pav

v
Pa

Gra

ss

Mixed shrubs & ivy clad wall, ht 1-2m.
Pav

ing

d
k an
Bric wall
flint

H1

t
Pos
gle

Shin

t
Pos

ing

2

t
Pos

ng
ycli
Rec tainer
con

t

Pos

Grit

H12
el

ev
el

dg
Ri

lev

es

te

lea

el

Ga

'

ir
'Fa

ain

d ch
t an
Pos h=0.6

G8
gle

Shin

v
Ea

l

=1.

25

Pub

eh

Gas r
te
me

rd

a
Boll

ss
Gra

l

e
ev

5
1.8
h=

el

ce

dg

Ri

fen

f
ket
Pic

ap
hl

rc
La

y
Pla tus
ara
app

enc

C

DP

e
lev

6
=0.

s
Po
MH

d
t an

in h
cha

CL

5

Ga

G9

e
ag

r

P

t
icke

ce h
fen

ath
otp

c fo
ma
Tar
ss
Gra

H10

el

ev

sl
ve
Ea

ND
EPO
RS AD
O
H RO

=1.2

el

ev
el
dg
Ri

Sta
y

all

kw

Bric

Mixed shrubs, ht 2.5m.

th
otpa

fo
mac

Tar

ss
Gra

P

EP/T

th

otpa

ac fo
Tarm

T11

EP/T

P

m
atu 0m
el D
.0
Lev e = 50
valu

com

Tele

sign

ss

Gra

Driv
e

RW

lter

She

box

.
h=1
nce
t fe h=2
e
k
Pic ging
Hed

Page 122

.50

50

Larch lap
fence h=1.8

multibole
h=14

.50

Line

of m
ainly

Holl

y tre

es a

50.73

ve h

=14

Drain

50.68

50.56

Concrete

50.66

50.66
50.59

50.69

50.55

Paving

50.52

50
.9
0

50.52

Grass
50.65

50.47

ra

Vegetation

Eaves level 52.82
RWP
50.50
50.48

1
h=

50.51

e

50.51

.3

Post

c
en
il f

Outbuilding

Post

50.33

d
an
st
Po
6
.6

Post

50.53

50

50.29

Post

Post

Vegetation

Ridge level 54.53

50.54
50.35

50.64
50.50

51.73(on wall)
50.49

4
.3

53

50.39

50.47

50.37

tio

ta

50.43

ge

Ve

51.51(on wall)

e

36

5.

ag

l5

ve

le

l
ve
le

50.39

3
La

50.73

03

7.
l5

ve

e

ar

G

50.35

le

dg

n
.37

5

50.12

49.89

50.13

Revision

50.38

Shingle

50.06
Picket fence h=1.25

49.58

50.28

Laurel

T

Gas
meter

h=3

50.10

50.07

Stay

E

49.24
49.20

1
T

49.49
E

Tarmac footpath
T

E

Post and chain h=0.6

T

Post and chain
h=0.6

T

Wythe Holland Limited

E

T

10 Emlyn's Street
Stamford, Lincolnshire
PE9 1QP

www.wytheholland.co.uk

50.29
E

h=

Topographic Survey

Chartered Architects
Phone +44 (01780) 757876

50.41

50.31

50.04

49.97
49.85

49.68

H

Grit box

T

Page 123

MH CL
49.85

49.82

Picket fence h=1.25

n
gi
ed

Recycling
container

50.22
49.53

Drawing
g

5

49.98

All Dimensions To Be Checked On Site

The Reformation PH
Horsepond Road
Gallowstree
Common RG4 9BP
2

50.40

Shingle

9

Bollard

50.03(on wall)

50.34

Do Not Scale
Except For Planning

Project

3
0.

49.92

Date

Copyright Reserved

E

49.75

E

50.22

T

49.45

50

Gate

.8
ce h=1

ge

E

s
ve

1

.7

50.32

50.51

E

lap fen

Play
apparatus

Grass

48.87

Ea

50

50.54

50.59

Shrubs

Grass

T

Larch

49.63

50.15

49.96

49.55

Brick wall

Ri

50.67

4

Paving

50.58

50.16

level
Ridge
52.11

Tarmac footpath

3
h=

50.67

E

49.85

50.64

Grass

50.30

50.19

50.62

Concrete

50.76

50.71

49.95

Concrete

Grass

ng

50.17

Shelter

50.47

50.25

50.68
50.67

T

Shrubs

Paving

50.71

Paving

50.65

50.73

RWP

50.63

i
dg
he

Gas
meter

50.6
8

d

50.24

50.18

50.04
Laurel and Hazel
ave h=4

49.81(on wall)

50.71

Eaves level
52.90
Eaves level 55.62

50.65

e

50.80

50.52

50.55

Brick and
flint wall

dg

'The Reformation' PH
Ridge level 54.85

50.48

50.28

Ri

Larch lap
fence h=1.8

ixe
M

50.37

Eave

rubs ave h=2.5

5

2

50.31

Paving

50.32

9
l 52.6
s leve

Yew h=2.5

50.82

h=

50.71

50.82

.0
51

50.33

50.33

50.31

50.61

50.19

8
l 50.7

50.78

Hazel
multibole
h=5

50.94

50.82

50.43

Grass

50.11

Gara

Gate

Trellis fencing
h=1.8

50.65

50.70
Concrete
50.46

Paving

1.1

5A

Hazel
multibole
h=4

Shed

Ridge level 57.24

a'

Grass

Ridge level 54.47

50.64
50.76

h=

50

.84

6

50.89

Rough ground

'Fairle

leve
aves

Eaves level 52.25 RWP

RWP

fen
ce

Overgrown

Drain

3

49.60

IC CL
50.95

SVP

wir
e

.02

.52
vel 52
4.39
level 5

50.72

50.82

50.92

50.91

Paving

50.76
Drain

ken

51

50.52
50.39

50.35

50.68

Boiler
room

h=

3

Ch
ic

7
.8

le
Eaves

3.90
level 5

IC CL
50.43

IC CL
50.42

8A

50.64

Trellis fence h=1.8

Cesspit

Close board
fence h=1.1

50.68

Concrete

Concrete

Eaves level 53.15

Gate

50.38
50.35
e
Concret

RWP

Larch lap
fence h=1.8

50.85

IC

IC

50.58

50.51

50.78

50
.81

50

Ridge

50.30

IC CL
50.39

50.13

0.22
level 5
DPC

50.67

RWP

Drain
50.71

50.56

50.48

Gate

50.43

50.25

Ridge

RWP

Grass

xe
dh
ed
gin
g

in
g

50.57

50.45

Mi

50.80

50.67

50.67
50.44

4

ur

Larch lap
fence h=1.8

.8

Gate

50.49

7

Paving

Concrete

Cherry
d=0.30
h=9

Larch lap
fence h=1.8

50

dg

50.69
Grass

he

50.60

50.58

7

50.7

Green
house

el

IC CL 50.61

50.54

50.57

50.39

50.48

Holly
d=0.50
h=15

5B

50
.9
2

IC CL 50.43

50.79

50.57

50.56

8

Gate

50.53

50.62

Hazel
multibole
h=8

50.57

Holly
d=0.40
h=15

50.69
Tree
canopy

50.66

50.77

Holm Oak
d=0.60
h=12

8B

Shed

ce h=1.85
Larch lap fen

Shed

50.54

Holly
d=0.30
h=15

Holly
multibole
h=15

5

50.79

7
0.4

50.83

50.66

50.73

50.60

50.72

50.55

Paving

50

50.96

h=9

E
EP/TP

Tarmac footpath
E
Pub sign
Grass

50.36

2

Date

50.36

E

50.26

E

Scale

17.03.21 1:200

johnt@wytheholland.co.uk
Job No

2037

Drawing No

12

This page is intentionally left blank

